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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2

(Mark One)
g

0 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to__

Commission File Number 0-14785

GSE Systems, Inc
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its @

Delaware 52-186800¢&
(State of incorporation) (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

1332 Londontown Blvd., Suite 200, Sykesville MI 21784
(Address of principal executive office (Zip Code)

Registrant's telephone number, including area c¢d&0) 97-7800
SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(b) DHE ACT:

Title of each clas Name of each exchange on which regist
Common Stock, $.01 par val NYSE MKT

SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(g) OFE ACT: NONE
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%cdb#turities Act. YeBl No [J

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ord)®(f the Act. Yedd No (]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ¢ filed all reports required to be filed by SeetiB or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange A
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for suadrteh period that the registrant was required l® guch reports), and (2) has been subject to
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yedlo [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant hdmsrstted electronically and posted on its corpoi&teb site, if any, every Interactive D
File required to be submitted and posted purswaRuie 405 of Regulation ${8 232.405 of this chapter) during the precedi@gnonths (or for sut
shorter period that the registrant was requiresbtamit and post such files). YesNo [

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquéitérs pursuant to Item 405 of RegulationKSis not contained herein, and will not
contained, to the best of registrant's knowledgelefinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part 11l of this Form K@r
any amendment to this Form 10-K. [ ]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer or a smaller report
company. See the definitions of "large accelerdiled', "accelerated filer" and "smaller reportimpmpany"” in Rule 128- of the Exchange Ac
(Check one):

Large accelerated file[ Accelerated filer( Non-accelerated file’ Smaller reporting compar(|
(Do not check if a smaller reportit
company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in rule 12(b)-2 of theltange Act). Yedd No (]

The aggregate market value of Common Stock helddnyaffiliates of the Registrant was $28,901,284 oreJ8®, 2014, the last business da
the Registrant's most recently completed secoudlfiguarter, based on the closing price of suctksta that date of $1.66.

The number of shares outstanding of the registr&@dmmon Stock as of March 18, 2015 was 17,88758588es.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's Proxy Statement fer 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filadspant to Regulation 14A under
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, aceporated by reference into Part 111
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STAT EMENTS.

This report and the documents incorporated by eefsg herein contain "forwatdeking” statements within the meaning of Secti@A »f the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the SeearExchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exgbakct”) that are based on managem
assumptions, expectations and projections aboungthe industry within which we operate, thatéhdeen made pursuant to the Private Sect
Litigation Reform Act of 1995 which reflect our eeqtations regarding our future growth, resultsmerations, performance and business prospec
opportunities. Wherever possible, words such atcipate”, "believe", "continue”, "estimate”, "ertd", "may", "plan”, "potential”, "predict", "exps
"should", "will" and similar expressions, or thega¢ive of these terms or other comparable term@pldvave been used to identify these forward-
looking statements. These forwdabking statements may also use different phra3émse statements regarding our expectations tefleccurrer
beliefs and are based on information currently lab& to us. Accordingly, these statements byrthature are subject to risks and uncertair
including those listed under Item 1A Risk Factavkjch could cause our actual growth, results, parémce and business prospects and opportu
to differ from those expressed in, or implied bdygede statements. We may not actually achieve lthes pintentions or expectations disclosed ir
forward-looking statements and you should not plangue reliance on our forwaldeking statements. Actual results or events caiifigr materially
from the plans, intentions and expectations distdads the forwardeoking statements we make. Except as otherwisginest|by federal securities la
we are not obligated to update or revise thesedmviooking statements to reflect new events aucirstances. We caution you that a varie!
factors, including but not limited to the factorssdribed below under Item 1A Risk Factors and glewing, could cause our business conditions
results to differ materially from what is containedorward-looking statements:

- changes in the rate of economic growth in the UWn8tates and other maj
international economies;
- changes in investment by the nuclear and fossitrteutility industry, the chemical and petrochealiindustries and the U.S. milital
- changes in the financial condition of our custom
- changes in regulatory environme
- changes in project design or schedu
- contract cancellation:
- changes in our estimates of costs to complete @m
- changes in trade, monetary and fiscal policies dvaide;
- currency fluctuations
- war and/or terrorist attacks on facilities eithemed or where equipment or services are or mayéded,;
- outcomes of future litigatior
- protection and validity of our trademarks and ofihézllectual property rights
- increasing competition by foreign and domestic canigs;
- compliance with our debt covenan
- recoverability of claims against our customers atfers; anc
- changes in estimates used in our critical accogrgaiicies.

Other factors and assumptions not identified abweee also involved in the formation of these forvloking statements and the failure
such other assumptions to be realized, as weltteer dactors, may also cause actual results terdiffaterially from those projected. Most of tt
factors are difficult to predict accurately and gemerally beyond our control. You should consitierareas of risk described above in connectidh
any forward-looking statements that may be madasyyou should not place undue reliance on anydoiooking statements. New factors eme
from time to time, and it is not possible for ugptedict which factors will arise.

We undertake no obligation to publicly update aoywiardiooking statements, whether as a result of newrinébion, future events
otherwise. You are advised, however, to consuftadditional disclosures we make in proxy statesieqarterly reports on Form ID-and currer
reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC.

Company Information Available on the Internet

Our Internet address is www.gses.com . We makiadla free of charge through our Internet site ammual reports on Form 3Q-quarterly
reports on Form 10-Q; current reports on Fori; &nd any amendment to those reports filed oriéined pursuant to the Exchange Act as sot
reasonably practicable after such material is maatally filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.

GSE Systems, Inc. ("GSE Systems", "GSE", the "Caompd'we", "us" or "our"), a NYSE MKT company tradj under symbol GVP, is
team of dedicated people that help customers rheét performance improvement goals and reduce tigdir We do this by combining expertise
simulation, visualization, engineering, equipmepei@tions, and training to improve both plant anchan performance.

We execute projects globally with over 330 empleyeperating from offices in the U.S., China, Indiayeden and the United Kingdo
While the majority of revenue comes from the nuclaad fossil power generation markets, we alsoes¢ine oil and gas, refining, chemic
petrochemicals, industrial gas, manufacturing,dpantation and plant utilities markets.

GSE Systems was formed on March 30,1994 to caleteli the simulation and related businesses of 8Bribdogies
General Physics International Engineering & Simatatand EuroSim, each separately owned and opetatellanTech International Corporati
GP Strategies Corporation and Vattenfall AB, retipely.

On April 26, 2010, we completed the acquisition TAS Holdings Ltd ("TAS") and subsequently merged STAnto our UK subsidiar
GSE Systems Ltd. Our UK operations, located ircl8tm-OnTees, England provides engineering consulting,ipalty in electrical system desic
instrumentation and controls engineering and autemangineering. The majority of our UK customare in the petroleum refining, oil and ¢
chemical and petrochemical industries.

On January 4, 2011, we acquired EnVision Systemgs, ("EnVision"). The EnVision product line cortsiof interactive computdrase!
tutorials and related simulation models primardy the petrochemical and oil & gas refining indiestr The EnVision products provide a foundatic
process fundamentals and plant operations andagtien. We have more than 750 installations of Eivi product in over 28 countries, and
approximately 130 clients include Shell Oil CompaB#? Products North America ("BP"), Total and Cluaur

On November 14, 2014, we acquired Hyperspring, L€ Alabama limited liability company. Hyperspriigga staff augmentation comps
that hires personnel to fulfill staff positions anshortterm basis for energy industry customers, primaniiclear power customers. Hypersp
personnel provide training, operations and maimieaasupport including: generic fundamentals exéBISES), accreditation training visit (AT
preparation, senior reactor operator (SRO) cestifim, procedure development, work management, irigdgbeling, outage executic
planning/scheduling, corrective action, sa#lsessments and equipment reliability. Customectude TVA, Entergy, PSEG Nuclear LLC ¢
NRG Energy Inc

In conjunction with the Hyperspring acquisitiongt@ompany acquired a 50% ownership stake in IQtlj LLC, a Delaware limited liabilit
company. IntelliQlik is developing a software fdaun for online learning and learning managemenmttf® energy market. A former Membel
Hyperspring also has a 50% ownership stake inlilQtex.

On December 31, 2014 the Company merged EnVisitim @EE Power Systems, Inc. and changed the nar@SBEfPower Systems, Inc.
GSE Performance Solutions, Inc. The change re&fleat growing focus on providing solutions to impgedHuman and Plant Performance Lifecycles.

For years we have described ourselves as a simnledmpany, providing mainly simulation solutionsmhprove designs, deésk projects an
train operators. Our acquisition of HyperspringCLand investment in IntelliQlik, LLC in Novembe®24 are helping to accelerate our transformi
into a Performance Improvement Company. We impgaat performance with a combination of simulatiengineering and plant services that
clients improve their plant's profitability, prodiwity and safety, and assist in decommissionirg pkants at the end of their life cycle. We impa
human performance by providing technologies andiges that systematically help clients in recrgtaind selecting the right person for the job
training that individual throughout their careesrfr entry-level to expert.

As of December 31, 2014, GSE Systems was the paoempany of:

GSE Performance Solutions, Inc. (formerly GSE PdBystems, Inc.), a Delaware corporation
GSE Power Systems, AB, a Swedish corporation;

GSE Engineering Systems (Beijing) Co. Ltd., a Ce@kmited liability company;

GSE Systems, Ltd., a Scottish limited liability quemy;

EnVision Systems (India) Pvt. Ltd., an Indian liedtliability company; and

Hyperspring, LLC, an Alabama limited liability cormpy.

* & 6 & o o

The Company has a 50% interest in IntelliQlik, LLz2CDelaware limited liability company and a 50%eneist in
General Simulation Engineering RUS LLC, a Russlased joint-stock company.




Operating Segments

With the acquisition of Hyperspring, we now opergteough two reportable business segments. Weoaganized by operating grot
primarily based upon the services performed by epgobp. Each operating group consists of businegs which are focused on providing spet
products and services to certain classes of custoorewithin targeted markets. Marketing and comitations, accounting, finance, legal, hui
resources, information systems and other admitigtragervices are organized at the corporate leBeisiness development and sales resource
aligned with operating groups to support existingtomer accounts and new customer developmentiv@ubusiness segments are:

Performance Improvement Solutic

As evidenced through the change in the company rafroar U.S. operating company to GSE Performaratet®ns, Inc., our Performan
Improvement Solutions business segment encompatisefsthe solutioneriented technologies and services traditionallyoamted with GSE whic
focus on both our client's people and their plartd operations. This segment includes various laiion, training and engineering products
services delivered across the breadth of indusiveeserve. Our simulation solutions include platfe ranging from (1) the nospecific plant systen
of our EnVision product line used to teach fundatakeprocesses to newly hired employees, to (2)ocngilantspecific simulators used to train pl
operators, to (3) engineeriggade simulation solutions used to help clientsfyeand validate control systems prior to new planhstruction ¢
modification of existing plants, to (4) engineergde simulation solutions used for human factagireeering. Training applications include turn
and custom training services and 3D visualizati@ining products to make training more effecti@ur engineering services include plant de:
automation and control systems design, functioafdtg and compliance analysis, and engineeringutaions.

Staff Augmentatio

Staff Augmentation services provide specializedlifance solutions primarily to the nuclear industriyhese employees work at our clie
facilities under client direction. Examples offégugmentation positions include instructors, @uahere writers, work management specialists, plas;
outage execution specialists, corrective action seitlassessment specialists, and training material dpges. This business is managed throug|
Hyperspring LLC subsidiary. The business modelhaggment focus, margins and other factors cleapamate this business line from the rest o
GSE product and service portfolio. Hyperspring besn providing these services since 2005.

Financial information about our business segments geographic operations and revenue are providedote 16 of the accompanyi
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Products, Services, Strategy

We believe the most serious future challenge fattiegindustries we serve is not their access ton@ogy, their access to markets, nor 1
access to operating capital. Instead the challenijbe their access to a trained and efficientkiorce. This challenge manifests itself due tthtibe
knowledge that will be lost as a large percentdgbeexperienced workforce reaches retirementimdgee next ten years and the replacement of
experienced workers by a new generation who hdterelint learning styles and work expectations.

This belief is supported by the following trendsreported in the U.S. Department of Energy's Natidnergy Technology Laboratory 2(
report entittedcEmerging Workforce Trends in the U.S. Energy andifdi Industries: A Call to Action

About 1/3 of the U.S. energy industry workforceesmprised of "baby boomers" (those born betweer® 3wl 1964), and they are poise
retire in great numbers by the end of this dec

There are too few younger workers in the pipelmeeplace them, and many of the younger workels tlae necessary science, technol
engineering and math skills needed for many enjerdgsy,

There is a critical need to capture the knowledgexperienced employees before they lei

Exacerbating this workforce trend is the continugmmestic and global population increases which eohtinue to increase the ove
demand for energy. As the U.S.' current educatisystem is not able to provide the needed traimerkers in adequate numbers, the onus is o
energy industry itself to address its training reeatiboth entry levels and more senior levels.ofplete lifecycle of training, from a worker's e
into the energy industry through to the achievenoémixpert knowledge and skills, is now requiredtfee energy industry more than ever.

Business leaders are recognizing the problem aedchtallenge ahead. A study published in Harvardirass Review (May 28, 20!
revealed that Boards of Directors identified Talel@nagement as their number one concern. Those s&etutives rated their companies very pc
on key elements of talent management includingetitrg, hiring, assessing and developing top talent

As companies are always under pressure to impraauptivity, reduce costs and improve operatinggime, energy industry companies h
been working to create leaner, more competent agtons that can rapidly respond to a changingrenment. Increasing pressures to impi
profitability have resulted in flatter organizatanstructures within companies with less middle agement to exercise control. According to
International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) articlg, Systematic Approach to Human Performance Imprewein Nuclear Power Plants: Traini
Solutions, companies understand and value the potentiatibatibn that every employee can make to their aNesuccess. As a result, compa
have been emphasizing the quality of their humafopeance processes and the building of excelldntational processes for their employees.
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Entry2Expert Performance Cycle

To assist our clients in creating woidthss internal training and performance improvenpeagrams, we are building the E2E (Entry2Ex
Performance Solution, a set of integrated and blalproducts and services which provide a strudtyseogram from employee selection
onboarding through continuous skills improvementdgrperienced employees. GSE can now provideitfie training solution for the right step
each employee's career.

The major elements of the E2E Performance Soluticiude:

Employee Screening and Selection Leveraging the use of simulation and providingezts in employee assessments, we help clientse
their candidates for employment possess both teahaptitude as well as personality traits suidlie specific job function:

Training Needs Assessments We help clients define their specific trainingels by analyzing the job functions and processesiftc tc
their plant. This is the first step in creatingteuctured training program that will provide catent and predictable resul

Training Program Development: Following the ADDIE (Analyze, Design, Develop, plement, and Evaluate) model for training prog
management, we can structure the entire trainingram for the client, including training media amddes, such as self-paced.earning
instructo-led classroom, -depth simulation, and serious gami

Self-Paced Training Tutorials: We have a full complement oflesarning material. The products include basic pougint and compone
fundamentals that are applicable across a varietgdustries, as well as comprehensive trainingtf@ oil and gas and refining marke
Using a blended learning approach, students légrroverall purpose of plant systems, the majorpgant, how the equipment is oper:
and controlled. This methodology ensures the stisdenow the basics before entering a pkpeeific training program. We have delive
over 500 such tutorial programs in multiple langegworldwide

Instructor-Led Training : We provide classroom and simulator instructassadjunct staff or to teach turnkey training progsausini
training materials that either we or the client éaleveloped. Turnkey courses include ANSI Fundaaterfmath and sciences), Gen
Fundamentals (nuclear plant components, systerdsieactor theory), Senior Reactor Operator (SRO}ifléation, and Engineering Syste
Program course




Universal Training Simulators: These products complement the Sedfeed Training Tutorials by reinforcing what thedent learned in tt
tutorial by putting it into practice on the UnivatSSimulator. The simulation models are high fiehnd engineering correct, but represe
typical plant or typical process, versus the exaptication of a client's plant. We have delivemar 250 such simulation models to cli¢
consisting of major oil companies and educationstiifutions.

Part-Task Training Simulators: Like the Universal Simulators, we provide otherqus training solutions such as a generic nuclea
simulator, VPanel displays which replicate contadm hardware and simulator solutions specificndustry need, such as Severe Acci
models to train on and aid in the understandingvehts such as the Fukushima Daiichi accic

3D Visualization: Being able to visualize complex processes, daildel maintenance tasks significantly improves earsthnding ar
retention while reducing the learning process. pdavide 3D visualization solutions to help customésee" and understand the inte
workings complex systems such as nuclear reaatorspw to maintain complicated pieces of equipmeBlending the learning strategy
incorporating 3D visualization with high-fidelityealtime simulation models enables us to provide trerganindustry with better, faster, ¢
less costly training in an immersive environmetatt tis ideally suited for the next generation workén

Plant-Specific Operator Training Simulators: These simulators provide an exact replication efglant control room and plant operatic
They provide the highest level of realism and fragnand allow users to practice their own plapécific procedures. Clients can sa
practice startup, shutdown, normal operations, el & response to abnormal events we all hoperibegr have to experience in real |
We have delivered nearly 450 pl-specific simulators to clients in the nuclear poviessil power and process industries worldw

The goal of our E2E performance lifecycle offeriago ensure superior human achievement in therioas of:
Recruiting, screening, and selecting the right viande
Shortening the learning proce
Reduce human erro
Mitigate effects of retirement and turnoy
Improve workforce agility
Achieve and maintain certifications and complia
All of which improve our customers' bottom lin
The dramatic increase in energy demand wuaiilde over the next 30 years will require signifit@mounts of training for new employees and

require new plants using energy of all sourcedvi@usly, these new plants will need to be engieéemd designed prior to construction, and di
their high-fidelity our modeling tools are beingirasingly used to verify and validate control sgstand overall plant designs.
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Design2Decom Performance Cycle

Just like the Entry2Expert (E2E) process helps awprthe performance of our customers' people, Dagligcom (D2D) encompasses a rang
services and technologies aimed at improving ptemformance. From getting a client's systemlioa-faster, to operating safety, and support -
experienced staff throughout the lifecycle, servitelude:

Engineering Consultancy, Project Execution and Pragct Management: Whether in the feasibility, concept or detail desgjages of
plant or for plant modifications, we help clientssiyn and implement engineering projects acrosarakdisciplines

(0]

0]
0]
(0]

Instrumentation Engineerir
Control Systems Engineerit
Automation Design Engineerir

Electrical Design Engineerir

Virtual commissioning of plants. Our high-fidelity, simulatiorbased engineering solutions test design assumpdiotprovide feedba
throughout the design process 1

(0]

o O O o

Integrated systems design validat
Control strategy design validatic
Human factors engineering supp
Operating procedure validatic
Control system validatio

Safety and Compliance: Our engineering expert diesk operations through engineering assessmentsre@nddiation services to ens
safety and legislative compliance in the followargas

(0]

o O o o

Functional Safet'
Electrical Safet)
Hazardous Areas Safe
Arc Flash Safet)
Alarm Managemer




Specialized Plant Support: As our customers' experienced staffs retire, &de experts that can help with specialized pfaojects i
critical. Through the acquisition of Hypersprinvge also provide expert support either through staffmentation or turnkey projects for
following:

0 Procedure Developme

Training Material Upgrade and Developm
Work Managemer

Outage Executio

Planning and Schedulir

Corrective Actions

SelfAssessment

O O O O o o o

Equipment Reliability

Decommissioning: As plants reach the end of their useful lifecatemissioning and deconstruction is a critical mervparticularly in th
nuclear industry where contaminated material mashandled in safe and precise manners. Our engigesimulation and visualizatir
capabilities enable clients to plan for, train fand execute decommissioning while minimizing expeso hazardous materials and sa
money.

The goal of Design2Decom (D2D) is to help clien$imize plant performance and compliance in terfrth® following:

Finding design errors during engineering rathan construction allowing plant startup to occoorger saving countless maowurs
and dollars while simultaneously allowing reveneagration sooner

Ensuring plants are safely operated within the leggey requirements
Providing expert support for specialized projectd 8o augment an aging workfort
Limiting cost and hazards exposure through intefiigdecommissioning solutior
Our two overarching solution sets, Entry2ExpertEEand Design2Decom (D2D) bring together the ctiecof skills GSE has amassed over n

than 40 years from its traditional roots in custsimulation to the acquisition of the specializedjierering capabilities of TAS Holding, entry ¢
intermediate level training solutions via our En¥isacquisition, and now extensive training andhpkupport capabilities by acquiring Hyperspring.
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Customers and Locations

For more than 40 years, we have been developing-geseration, custom training simulation technologi&ince we built the fir
commercial full-scope nuclear power plant simulahot971, we have completed more than 1,100 irgiaiis in 50 countries and have built more full-
scope power plant simulators than all of our coritqat combined.

In 2014, approximately 52% of our revenue was gaeer from endisers outside the United States. A small reprasigatlist of ou
customers include: ABB Inc., Comision Federal tecicidad (Mexico), EDF Energy (United Kingdomgmerson Process Managem
Karnkraftsékerhet och Utbildning AB (Sweden), Kvedtks—SimulatoiGesellschaft GmbH (Germany), PSEG Nuclear,
Shangdong Nuclear Power Co. Ltd. (China), SiemeBs A Slovenské elektrarne, a.s. (Sloval
State Nuclear Power Automation System Engineeriogn@any (China), and Westinghouse Electric Co.

Hydrocarbon and chemical process customers inctudeerous large oil refineries and chemical plaothsas BP (worldwide), Statoil AS
(Norway), Chevron (USA), Emerson Process Managem®@atidi Basic Industries Corporation (Saudi Argbihell Oil Company (worldwide
Savannah River Nuclear Solutions, LLC (USA), T¢i¢lgium), and Bechtel Hanford National Laborat{SA).

The following Power Simulation customer has prodideore than 10% of the Company's consolidated e éor the indicated periods:

Years ended December ¢
2014 2013
Slovenské elektrarne, a 2.3% 24 .4%

Marketing and Sales

We market our products and services through a nmktefodirect sales staff, agents and representgtived strategic alliance partners. Market-
oriented business and customer account teams defthenplement specific campaigns to pursue oppiits.

We also launched a proactive public relations mogrissuing more nofinancial press releases aimed at product developara delivery
as well as our role in numerous industry trade shamd technical conferences. We are active agrosgrous social media platforms to buil
stronger presence across all media our clientsoufsied information about the company.

The Company's ability to support its muttieility, international and/or multinational clienis facilitated by its network of offices and stgic
partners in the U.S. and overseas. In additighéoffices located overseas, the Company's abdigonduct international business is enhanceds
multilingual and multicultural workforce. GSE hagategic relationships with system integrators agdnts representing its interests in the C
Republic, Bulgaria, Japan, Mexico, South KoreawBai, Ukraine and various locations in the Gulf G&2suntries of the Middle East.

Competition

The Power Simulation business encounters intenspetition. In the nuclear simulation market, GREnpetes directly with firms primari
from Canada, France and Russia, such as L-3 MARRS & subsidiary of [3Communications (Canada), CORYS T.E.S.S (Francel
Western Services Corporation (significant preséndgussia). In the fossil simulation market, thentpany competes with smaller companies ir
U.S. and overseas. In the process industries #ie competition comes from large DCS/Automation pamies such as Honeywell and Schnei
Competition for generalized engineering servicestigularly those served from our office in the U.kend to be very locally oriented.

Hyperspring services include training related paigand services as well as staff augmentatiortisnki The competition for training rela
services includes: GP Strategies, The WestwindigrBrofessional Training Technologies, and Westechnical Services. The competition for ¢
augmentation includes: Absolute Consulting, CBRIanet Forward, and The Westwind Group.
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Competitive Advantages

While there is competition in various industry réshthere are few companies in our space that @aioe the engineering, simulation .
training expertise we now have through the exeoutibour acquisition strategy. None of our trasigl competitors serve the broader perform
improvement market.

Unique Combination of TalentNobody in our market space brings together the istpation of simulation technology with t
engineering expertise, training expertise and Viza@gon expertise to provide the holistic peoptaglant performance improvem
solutions.

Reputation for Customer SatisfactioAs part of its ISOG3000 Quality Program Certification, GSE measurestamer satisfaction acrc
numerous factors such as @me Delivery, Problem Solving, and Customer Comioation. In each category measured we rout
exceed customer expectatic.

Industry Expertise. GSE is a leading innovator and developer of-tiea software with more than 40 years of experigpaalucing
high-fidelity, realtime simulators. As a result, the Company has iaedsubstantial applications expertise in the gnemnd industri
process industries. The Company employs a highlgated and experienced multinational workforcevar 300 employees, includi
approximately 180 engineers and scientists. Ofaln@ost 180 engineers, approximately 49% of theggneers and scientists hi
advanced science and technical degrees in fields as chemical, mechanical and electrical engingempplied mathematics ¢
computer sciences, while an additional 33% havdaenaegrees, and another 12% have doctorate deigrdesaforementioned field

Proprietary Software Tool. GSE has developed a library of proprietary safevtools including autoede generators and sys
models that substantially facilitate and expedi design, production and integration, testing modification of software and systen
These tools are used to automatically generatedhgputer code and systems models required for fgpéanctions commonly used
simulation applications, thereby enabling it ordtsstomers to develop high-fidelity, reaahe software quickly, accurately and at lo
costs. The Company has a substantial library otéasSpecific Simulation models and eLearning Moduleseal at the oil and gt
refining and specialty chemicals mark

Training Curricula. The Company has developed hundreds of detadedses and simulator exercise material or spetifiastria
applications including oil and gas refining, -oil production, nuclear and combined cycle gasit@lipower plant and desalinatic

In the area of training and training related praduklyperspring can now include: state of the 8rtgdaphics and simulation to enha
our offerings and differentiate us from our comigeti. The area of staff augmentation is mostlyuged on training and operatit
support. The senior management of Hyperspringstrasg active ties to the industries we serve wihilbbws us to interface with o
customers directly in the course of doing businessus having to periodically call on customersur @roximity allows us a significa
competitive advantage in that we can immediatefgrafolutions and therefore bypass lengthy bid gsees
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Intellectual Property.

The Company depends upon its intellectual propeghts in its proprietary technology and informatioGSE maintains a portfolio
trademarks (both registered and unregistered), rigifg (both registered and unregistered), anch$ies. While such trademarks, copyrights
licenses as a group are of material importancéécCompany, it does not consider any one tradensagright, or license to be of such importe
that the loss or expiration thereof would mateyiaffect the Company. The Company relies upormakination of trade secrets, copyright,
trademark law, contractual arrangements and teahmeans to protect its intellectual property rghtGSE distributes its software products u
software license agreements that grant customarexactusive licenses for the use of its productsictvtare nontransferable. Use of the licel
software is restricted to designated computergatified sites, unless the customer obtains alisk@se of its use of the software. Software
hardware security measures are also employed temprenauthorized use of the Company's software tta@ licensed software is subject to terms
conditions prohibiting unauthorized reproductiortioé software.

The Company does not own any patents. The Combaligves that all of the Company's trademarks @afte those that use the phr
"GSE Systems") are valid and will have an unlimiteotation as long as they are adequately proteatedsufficiently used. The Company's licel
are perpetual in nature and will have an unlimitedation as long as they are adequately protectddize parties adhere to the material terms
conditions.

GSE has six registered U.S. trademarks: GSE Sg®ediTOPMERET®, RELAP5-HD®, D/3®, SABL® and SimEx&c Some of thes
trademarks have also been registered in foreigmtdes. The Company also claims trademark riglotsBRUS™, ESmart™, GAARDST
GCONTROL+™ GFLOW+™, GLOGIC+™, GPower+™, EnterpriBata Management, Java Application and DeveloprR@ernironment (JADE)™
OpenSim™, PEGASUS Plant Surveillance and DiagnB8gstem™, PSAAD™, RACS™, Sens Base™, SIMON™, SimSuite Power™niite
Pro™, SmartTutor™, THOR™, VPanel ™, Vista PIN™, aticeme I/S™,

In addition, the Company maintains federal stajutmpyright protection with respect to its softwgm@grams and products, has regist
copyrights for some of the documentation and maniedhted to these programs, and maintains tradetggrotection on its software products.

Despite these protections, the Company cannot feetkat it has protected or will be able to proi&tntellectual property adequately, 1
the unauthorized disclosure or use of its intellattproperty will be prevented, that others have oo will not develop similar technolo
independently, or, to the extent it owns any patémthe future, that others have not or will netdble to design around those patents. Furthey,
the laws of certain countries in which the Compsupybducts are sold do not protect its productsiatediectual property rights to the same extel
the laws of the United States.

Industries Served.
The following chart illustrates the approximateqasttage of the Company's 2014 and 2013 consolidatesue by industries served:

Years ended December ¢

2014 2013
Nuclear power industr 57% 65%
Fossil fuel power industr 22% 16%
Process industr 14% 16%
Training and education indust 1% 3%
Other 6% 0%
Total 100% 100%

Contract Backlog.
The Company does not reflect an order in backldd iifas received a contract that specifies #ens and milestone delivery dates or ¢
payment terms. As of December 31, 2014, the Cowgipaaggregate contract backlog totaled approximebdB.4 million of which approximate

$31.6 million or 65.3% is expected to be convetiedevenue by December 31, 2015. As of Decembg2@13, the Company's aggregate con
backlog totaled approximately $38.0 million.

Employees.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had 335 erepbgs compared to 235 employees at December B3, 20
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

The following are some of the factors that we hedieould cause our actual results to differ maltgriaom historical results and from t
results contemplated by the forwdobking statements contained in this report andeoghublic statements made by us. Additional risks
uncertainties not presently known to us, or thatcweently see as immaterial, may also harm ouimiess. Most of these risks are generally be
our control. If any of the risks or uncertaint@esscribed below, or any such additional risks amcettainties actually occurs, our business, resi
operations and financial condition could be matigriand adversely affected. The following inforriaet should be read in conjunction with Item 7 -
Management's Discussion and Analysis of FinanCmahdition and Results of Operations and the codatdd financial statements and related r
under Item 8 - Financial Statements and Supplemebata.

Our business is largely dependent on sales to theclear power industry. Any disruption in this industry would have a material adverse effe
upon our revenue.

In 2014, 57% of our revenue was from customergénuclear power industry (65% in 2013). We expecderive a significant portion of c
revenue from customers in the nuclear power inglustr the foreseeable future. Our ability to sypplclear power plant simulators and rel;
products and services is dependent on the contiopedation of nuclear power plants and, to a lesgtamt, on the construction of new nuclear pc
plants. A wide range of factors affect the contiduoperation and construction of nuclear power tplaimcluding the political and regulatc
environment, the availability and cost of altermatmeans of power generation, the occurrence ofduhuclear incidents, such as the one w
occurred at the Fukushima Daiichi nuclear plar20d1, and general economic conditions.

Our sales to foreign customers expose us to riskssociated with operating internationally.

Sales of products and services to end users outsdenited States accounted for approximately 52%e Company's consolidated reve
in 2014 and 67% of consolidated revenue in 2018ns€quently, our businesses are subject to a yaofetisks that are specific to internatio
operations, including the following:

export regulations that could erode profit marginsestrict exports

compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practidesand similar non-U.S. regulations;

the burden and cost of compliance with foreign lawesaties and technical standards and changésse regulations;
contract award and funding delays;

potential restrictions on transfers of funds;

potential difficulties in accounts receivable cotien;

currency fluctuations;

import and export duties and value added taxes;

transportation delays and interruptions;

difficulties involving strategic alliances and majirgy foreign sales agents or representatives;
uncertainties arising from foreign local busineszctices and cultural considerations; and
potential military conflicts and political risks.

L R JEE SR R R 2R N N JEE R 2R 2

While we have and will continue to adopt measuse®tiuce the potential impact of losses resultiogfthe risks of our foreign business,
cannot ensure that such measures will be adeqiie following foreign countries have provided mtian 10% of our consolidated revenue fol
indicated period:

Year Ended December &

2014 2013
United Kingdom 12% 14%
People's Republic of Chir 11% 10%
Slovak Republic 2% 24%
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Hyperspring's revenue, results of operations, andash flows may suffer upon the loss of a significarustomer.

We completed the acquisition of Hyperspring, LLC Mavember 14, 2014. See Note 3 to our Consolid&iedncial Statements. For
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the folpatiistomers accounted for in excess of 10% of kypimg's revenues:

Year Ended December &

2014 2013
Tennessee Valley Authori 62% 72%
PSEG Nuclear LL( 17% 7%
Entergy Corporatiol 11% 13%

Hyperspring's contract for staff augmentation ssrviwith Tennessee Valley Authority expires on Mag015 and such contract is expe
to be rebid. Hyperspring also has a contract WHEG Nuclear to provide training support which eepin December 2021. Hyperspring may lo
significant customer if any existing contract wéthich customer expires without being extended, redevenegotiated or is terminated by the cust
prior to expiration, to the extent such early teration is permitted by the contract. A number ofpEspring's other contracts with signific
customers are typically subject to expiration dgrach year and they may lose any of these costifase are unable to extend, renew or renegc
the contracts. The loss of any significant customauld adversely affect Hyperspring's revenue, ltesaf operations, and cash flows.

Our expense levels are based upon our expectatioas to future revenue, so we may be unable to adjuspending to compensate for a reven
shortfall. Accordingly, any revenue shortfall woutl likely have a disproportionate effect on our opeating results.

Our revenue was $37.9 million and $47.6 million fbe years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, teghec Our operating loss w
$6.9 million and $10.7 million, for the years end@dcember 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Ouratipg results have fluctuated in the past
may fluctuate significantly in the future as a flesfia variety of factors, including purchasingteans, timing of new products and enhancementss
and our competitors, and fluctuating global ecorooinditions. Since our expense levels are baspdri on our expectations as to future revenu
includes certain fixed costs, we may be unableljosa spending in a timely manner to compensatarfigrrevenue shortfall and such revenue shot
would likely have a disproportionate adverse eftecbur operating results.
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Our backlog is subject to reduction and cancellatio.

Backlog represents products or services that owtomers have committed by contract to purchase fusn Our backlog as
December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $48.4 million arf&g®&illion, respectively. Our backlog is subjexfluctuations and is not necessarily indice
of future backlog or sales. Moreover, cancellaioh purchase orders or reductions of the serviegsested in existing contracts could substan
and materially reduce our backlog and, consequefulyre revenues. Our failure to replace canceftegtduced backlog would have an adverse ¢
on our operating results.

We are a party to fixed price contracts and will eter into similar contracts in the future, which coud result in reduced profits or losses if w
are not able to accurately estimate or control cost

A significant portion of our revenue is attributaltb contracts entered into on a fixed price badisch allows us to benefit from cost savir
but we carry the burden of cost overruns. If mitidl estimates are incorrect, or if unanticipat@@dumstances arise, we could experience costans
which would result in reduced profits or even resulosses on these contracts. Our financial tamdis dependent upon our ability to maximize
earnings from our contracts. Lower earnings osdgscaused by cost overruns could have a negatpect on our financial results.

Under time and materials contracts, we are paidafoor at negotiated hourly billing rates and fertain expenses. Under costmbursabl
contracts, which are subject to a contract ceilingpount, we are reimbursed for allowable costs aid p fee, which may be fixed or performa
based. However, if costs exceed the contractgedr are not allowable under the provisions ofabetract or applicable regulations, we may nc
able to obtain reimbursement for all such costs.

Our inability to successfully estimate and managst< on each of these contract types may materalty adversely affect our financ
condition.

Our Simulation business is dependent on product irmvation and research and development, which costseaincurred prior to revenue for new
products and improvements.

We believe that our success will depend in large @a our ability to maintain and enhance our autrqgroduct line, develop new produ
maintain technological competitiveness and meetegpmanding range of customer needs. Our produceldpment activities are aimed at
development and expansion of our library of sofevarodeling tools, the improvement of our displagtegns and workstation technologies, anc
advancement and upgrading of our simulation teduyl The life cycles for software modeling tootgaphical user interfaces, and simula
technology are variable and largely determined dyppetitive pressures. Consequently, we will needadntinue to make significant investment
research and development to enhance and exparudoaipilities in these areas and to maintain ourpetitive advantage.

We use derivative instruments in the normal coursef our business which could result in financial loses that negatively impact our net income

We periodically enter into forward foreign exchangmntracts to manage market risks associated Wwéhfltictuations in foreign curren
exchange rates on foreigienominated trade receivables. We could recodimaacial losses as a result of volatility in thenket values of the
contracts or if a counterparty fails to perform.e\&ttempt to minimize credit exposure by limitir@uoterparties to internationally recognized finai
institutions.
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We issue performance, advance payment, and bid bosdn the normal course of our business which couldesult in financial losses tha
negatively impact our net income.

We are often required to issue performance bondsitacustomers as a normal part of our businesgitees. Our customers may have
ability to draw upon these performance bonds inethent we fail to cure a material breach of theti@m within 30 days of receiving notice from
customer regarding the nature of the breach. ABexfember 31, 2014, we had issued advance paymdmpexformance bonds on eleven cont
totaling $4.2 million, all of which have been castllateralized except one bond totaling $48,00@; lrgest of these performance bonds wa
$1.6 million. Although we expect no material breaches to occuhese contracts, if such a breach were to ocalimanfailed to cure such breach,
could incur a loss of up to $4.2 million.

We rely upon our intellectual property rights for the success of our business; however, the steps vavé taken to protect our intellectua
property may be inadequate.

Although we believe that factors such as the teldgical and creative skills of our personnel, newduct developments, frequent proc
enhancements and reliable product maintenancergeriant to establishing and maintaining a techgiold leadership position, our business deps
in part, on our intellectual property rights in qumoprietary technology and information. We refyon a combination of trade secret, copyright,
trademark law, contractual arrangements and teahnieans to protect our intellectual property ighWe enter into confidentiality agreements
our employees, consultants, joint venture andradkapartners, customers and other third partigsatteagranted access to our proprietary informg
and limit access to and distribution of our profaig information. There can be no assurance, hewdvat we have protected or will be able to pm
our proprietary technology and information adeqlyatihat the unauthorized disclosure or use of paprietary information will be prevented, t
others have not or will not develop similar tectogy or information independently, or, to the extest own any patents in the future, that others
not or will not be able to design around thosereipatents. Furthermore, the laws of certain atesin which our products are sold do not protec
products and intellectual property rights to theasaxtent as the laws of the United States.

The industries in which we operate are highly compgéive. This competition may prevent us from raisng prices at the same pace at which o
costs increase.

Our businesses operate in highly competitive emwrents with both domestic and foreign competitanany of whom have substantie
greater financial, marketing and other resourcas the do. The principal factors affecting competitinclude price, technological proficiency, ea
system configuration, product reliability, appliceis expertise, engineering support, local presamckfinancial stability. We believe competition
the simulation fields may further intensify in ttieture as a result of advances in technology, didestons and/or strategic alliances am
competitors, increased costs required to develop teehnology and the increasing importance of saféancontent in systems and products. As
business has a significant international compordanges in the value of the dollar could adveraéct our ability to compete internationally.
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We may encounter difficulties in effectively integating acquired businesses
As part of our business strategy, we have acquioadpanies with compatible or related products. &heesl any future acquisitions we m
will be accompanied by the risks commonly encowtén acquisitions of companies, which include, agiother things:
+ potential exposure to unknown liabilities of thejaiced companies;
+ higher than anticipated acquisition costs and esge

+ difficulty and expense of assimilating the openasicand personnel of the companies, especially &f abquired operations i
geographically distan

+ potential disruption of our ongoing business anediion of management time and attent

+ failure to maximize our financial and strategicigios by the successful incorporation of acquirechinology;
+ difficulties in adopting and maintaining unifornmastards, controls, procedures and policies;

+ loss of key employees and customers as a rescltasfges in management; and

+ possible dilution to our shareholders.

We may not be successful in overcoming these nsksy other problems encountered in connectioh aiity of our acquisitions.

A failure to attract and retain technical personnelcould reduce our revenue and our operational efféweness.

There is a continuing demand for qualified techihgeasonnel. We believe that our future growth andcess will depend upon our ability
attract, train and retain such personnel. Ourgieand development efforts depend on hiring araimiety qualified technical personnel. An inab
to attract or maintain a sufficient number of techhpersonnel could have a material adverse effeabur contract performance or on our abilit
capitalize on market opportunities.

The nuclear power industry, our largest customer goup, is associated with a number of hazards whictoald create significant liabilities.

Our business could expose us to third party claiiib respect to product, environmental and othenilar liabilities. Although we hay
sought protection from these potential liabilititsough a variety of legal and contractual provisicas well as through liability insurance,
effectiveness of such protections has not been faited. Certain of our products and servicesuaesl by the nuclear power industry primaril
operator training. Although our contracts for symbducts and services typically contain provisidesigned to protect us from potential liabili
associated with such use, there can be no assutatoge would not be materially adversely affedigdlaims or actions which may potentially arise.
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Cyber security incidents could disrupt business opations, result in the loss of critical and confidatial information, and adversely impact our
reputation and results of operations.

Global cyber security threats can range from urgioated individual attempts to gain unauthorizedeas to our information technology (
systems to sophisticated and targeted measuresnkasvadvanced persistent threats. While we empdaypeehensive measures to prevent, de
address and mitigate these threats (including acoastrols, data encryption, vulnerability assesgmecontinuous monitoring of our IT networks
systems and maintenance of backup and protectstersg), cyber security incidents, depending orr tiegure and scope, could potentially result ir
misappropriation, destruction, corruption or untatzlity of critical data and confidential or progtary information (our own or that of third pas]
and the disruption of business operations. Thenpialeconsequences of a material cyber securitident include reputational damage, litigation \
third parties, diminution in the value of our intregnt in research, development and engineering, iaotased cyber security protection
remediation costs, which in turn could adversefgcfour competitiveness and results of operations.

Third- party claims that we allegedly infringe the intelletual property rights of others may be costly to déend or settle and could damage ot
business.

We cannot be certain that our software and sendoesot infringe issued patents, copyrights, traalés or other intellectual property rig
of third parties. We may be subject to legal prodegs and claims from time to time, including claiwf alleged infringement of intellectual propt
rights of third parties by us or our licensees e&sning their use of our software products and irgeégn technologies and services. Third parties
bring claims of infringement against us. Because saftware is integrated with our customers' nekscaind business processes, as well as
software applications, third parties may bringmigiof infringement against us, as well as our custs and other software suppliers, if the caughe
alleged infringement cannot easily be determined.

Claims of alleged infringement may have a matesidberse effect on our business and may discouragentml customers from doi
business with us on acceptable terms, if at alfeBding against claims of infringement may be ticoesuming and may result in substantial cost:
diversion of resources, including our managemeattsntion to our business. Furthermore, a partyimgaln infringement claim could secur
judgment that requires us to pay substantial damag@idgment could also include an injunction tres court order that could prevent us from se
our software or require that we eegineer some or all of our products. Claims déllattual property infringement also might requiketo enter cost
royalty or license agreements. We may be unablebtain royalty or license agreements on terms dabépto us or at all. Our business, oper:
results and financial condition could be harmeadiicantly if any of these events occurred, and phiee of our common stock could be adver
affected. In addition, we have agreed, and magegr the future, to indemnify certain of our cusérs against claims that our software infringesn
the intellectual property rights of others. Althbugre carry general liability insurance, our currérgurance coverage may not apply to, and li
would not protect us from, liability that may beposed under any of the types of claims describegeab

We are subject to a wide variety of laws and regut#ns.

Our businesses are subject to regulation by U.erfée and state laws and foreign laws, regulatiand policies. Changes to laws
regulations may require us to modify our businesgdaiives if existing practices become more refgdgc subject to escalating costs or prohit
outright. Particular risks include regulatory risggsing from federal laws, such as laws regardixgort of sensitive technologies or techr
information. Our business and the industries irictvlwe operate are also at times being revieweid\wastigated by regulators, which could lea
enforcement actions, fines and penalties or thertiss of private litigation claims and damages.
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Our stockholder protection rights agreement and clasified Board of Directors could deter acquisitiorproposals and make it difficult for a
third party to acquire control of the Company, which could have a negative effect on the price of ol@ommon Stock.

We have a stockholder protection rights agreemedtaaclassified Board of Directors, which couldcdisrage potential acquisition propo:
and could delay or prevent a change in controlis Teterrent could adversely affect the price af Gammon Stock and make it difficult to affec
change in the composition of the Board of Directira change in management.

The price of our common stock is highly volatile ad could decline regardless of our operating perforrance.

The market price of our common stock could fluatuatresponse to, among other things:

+ changes in economic and general market conditions;

+ changes in the outlook and financial condition eftain of our significant customers and industiresvhich we have a concentration
business

¢ changes in financial estimates, treatment of oxrassets or liabilities or investment recommendatiby securities analysts following

business

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidanggerpretations or principles;

sales of common stock by our directors, officers significant stockholders;

our failure to achieve operating results consistétit securities analysts' projections; and

the operating and stock price performance of coitgoet

* o o o

These factors might adversely affect the tradirigepof our common stock and prevent you from sglipur common stock at or above
price at which you purchased it. In addition, écent periods, the stock market has experiencedfisant price and volume fluctuations. T
volatility has had a significant impact on the merkrice of securities issued by many companiedyuding ours and others in our industry. Tt
changes can occur without regard to the operatamfppnance of the affected companies. As a rethétprice of our common stock could fluctt
based upon factors that have little or nothingdavith our company, and these fluctuations couldemialy reduce our share price.

A sustained decline in the price of our common stécor weaker than forecasted operating results couldesult in write-downs of goodwill and
capitalized software.

In conjunction with business acquisitions, we recgoodwill at fair value and review its fair valder impairment annually as
November 30, or on an interim basis if impairmemi¢ators are present, such as a significant remuéh our market capitalization, significi
declines in operating performance or disruptionstie business that could reduce our future cash.flOn November 14, 2014, we recor
$5.6 million of goodwill related to our acquisiti@i Hyperspring, LLC. We can provide no assuratizg we will not have an impairment charg:
future periods as the result of changing conditiohs 2013, the Company incurred a goodwill impanh of $4.5 million. See Note 4 to «
Consolidated Financial Statements for informatiegarding our goodwill.

Certain computer software development costs ardatiapd in the accompanying consolidated balarteeets. Capitalization of compu
software development costs begins upon the edtaldist of technological feasibility. Capitalizati@eases and amortization of capitalized ¢
begins when the software product is commerciallgilable for general release to customers. Amditimaof capitalized computer softwi
development costs is included in cost of revenukiardetermined using the straidimte method over the remaining estimated econoifecoff the
product, typically three years. On an annual hasid more frequently as conditions indicate, wsess the recoverability of the unamortized soft
development costs by estimating the net undiscdurash flows expected to be generated by the §#fe @roduct. If the undiscounted cash flows
not sufficient to recover the unamortized softwewosts we will writedown the investment to its estimated fair valuesbasn the future undiscoun
cash flows. The excess of any unamortized compatitwvare costs over the related net realizableeve written down and charged to operations.

Based upon indicators of impairment in the secondrtgr of 2013, which included a substantial desgein the Company's mar
capitalization, we performed an interim goodwillgairment test as of June 30, 2013. In conjuncivih the goodwill impairment test, we analy.
the net realizable value of our capitalized sofevdevelopment costs and, based upon the resuhssainalysis, took a $2.2 million charge to eage
for a write-down of the capitalized software deyeslent costs. After the writdewn, we had $769,000 of capitalized software ramgion th
balance sheet at June 30, 2013. As of Decemb&034, we have $1.4 million of capitalized softwalevelopment costs recorded on the bal
sheet. See Note 8 to our Consolidated FinancééBtents for information regarding our capitalizeftware development costs.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS .

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES .

The Company is headquartered in a facility in Sykkes Maryland (approximately 43,000 square fed@f)e lease for this facility expires
June 30, 2023. The Company has subleased appiteynmz000 square feet of the facility.

In addition, the Company leases office space ddoadlgt in St. Marys, Georgia, Huntsville, Alabamayiadison, New Jerse

Cary, North Carolina and Tarrytown, New York andtemationally in Beijing, China, Chennai, India, Réping, Sweden and Stockton-On-
Tees, England. The Company leases these facilitigerms ending between 2015 and 2023.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS .

The Company and its subsidiaries are from timenb@ tinvolved in ordinary routine litigation incideh to the conduct of its business. °
Company and its subsidiaries are not a party td,inproperty is not the subject of, any matep@ahding legal proceedings that, in the opinio
management, are likely to have a material advdfset®n the Company's business, financial conditioresults of operations.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

The Company's common stock is listed on the NYSEN{ock Exchange, where it trades under the syt®dP". The following table se
forth, for the periods indicated, the high and kaie prices for the Company's common stock repdoyetie NYSE MKT Stock Exchange for each
quarterly period within the two most recent fisgahrs:

2014
Quarter High Low
First $ 19C $ 1.62
Second $ 181 $ 1.6
Third $ 1.7¢  $ 1.54
Fourth $ 1.68 $ 1.2C
2013
Quarter High Low
First $ 258 3 1.97
Second $ 20C $ 1.4¢
Third $ 1.8 $ 1.4C
Fourth $ 1.7 $ 1.54
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The following table sets forth the equity compeimsaplan information for the year ended December2®i 4:

Number of Securities t
be Issued Upon Exercise Number of Securities Remaining
Outstanding Options, Weighted Average Exercise Price of Available for Future Issuance Under Equity Compé&nsaaPlan:
Warrants and Rights Outstanding Options, Warrants and Ri (Excluding Securities Reflected in Column (a))
Plan categor (a) (b) (c)
Equity
compensati
plans
approved b
security
holders 2,708,27: $ 3.1z 1,147,96'
Equity
compensati
plans not
approved b
security
holders - $ -- --
Total 2,708,27. $ 3.1z 1,147,96'

There were approximately 910 holders of recordhef tcommon stock as of December 31, 2014. The Coynipas never declared or pai
cash dividend on its common stock. The Compangeatly intends to retain future earnings to finatiee growth and development of its business
therefore, does not anticipate paying any caslidids in the foreseeable future on its common stock

The Company believes factors such as quarterlyudiions in results of operations and announcenwnisw products by the Company ol
its competitors may cause the market price of thraronon stock to fluctuate, perhaps significantlp. addition, in recent years the stock marki
general, and the shares of technology companigsiiticular, have experienced extreme price fluabnat The Company's common stock has
experienced a relatively low trading volume, makinfyrther susceptible to extreme price fluctuatio These factors may adversely affect the m
price of the Company's common stock.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On March 21, 2011, the Board of Directors authatitee purchase of up to $3.0 million of the Compampmmon stock in accordance v
the safe harbor provisions of Rule 108-of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Durihg year ended December 31, 2013, the Comr
repurchased 494,424 shares at an aggregate c8t8fillion. The Company completed the share rdmse program in October 2013 and thu:
not repurchase shares during 2014.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the Company's cunudaibtal shareholder return since December 31, 20@fugh December 31, 2014 w
that of the NYSE MKT Composite Index and a peerugrandex. The Peer Group consists of companiesctsal on a line-dbusiness basis a
includes Aspen Technology, Inc.,3€ommunications Holdings and Honeywell InternaionThe graph assumes an initial investment of0$at
December 31, 2009 in the Company's common stockeant index. There were no dividends declareda@ py the Company during the five y
period. The Company has never paid a dividendt®rcammon stock. The indices areweighted daily, using the market capitalization tbe
previous tracking day. The comparisons shown éngtaph below are based upon historical data. sitek price performance shown in the g
below is not necessarily indicative of, or intendedforecast, the potential future performance lef Company's common stock. The graph

prepared for the Company by Research Data Groap, In

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN"®
Among GSE Systems, Inc., the NYSE MKT Composite Index,
and a Peer Group

$300

12/09 12/10 1211 12112 12113 12114

—&— GSE Systems, Inc. ---2---NYSE MKT Composite —o—-PeerGroup

*$100 invested on 12/31/09 in stock or index, including reinvestment ofdividends
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Year ended December =

200¢ 201C 2011 2012 201¢ 2014
GSE Systems, In 100.0¢ 66.0¢ 35.5¢ 39.4: 29.2( 29.01
NYSE MKT Composite 100.0¢ 129.5¢ 133.7¢ 140.81 150.7¢ 153.2¢
Peer Grouj 100.0¢ 125.21 130.6¢ 158.8¢ 233.0¢ 259.3]
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Historical consolidated results of operations aathfice sheet data presented below have been démvedhe historical financial stateme
of the Company. This information should be readannection with the Company's consolidated finalrgtiatements.

(in thousands, except per share data) Years ended December :

2014 (1) 2013 2012 2011 (2) 2010 (3)
Consolidated Statements of Operatic
Contract revenu $ 37,93 $ 47,56: $ 52,24¢ $ 51,12¢ $ 47,211
Cost of revenu 26,55! 34,98 34,50¢ 34,78 36,08:
Write-down of capitalized software development s¢4) = 2,17¢ = = =
Gross profit 11,37¢ 10,407 17,73] 16,34¢ 11,13:
Operating expense

Selling, general and administrati 17,57( 15,83¢ 14,86 12,67: 11,68:
Goodwill impairment loss (4 - 4,462 - - -
Depreciatior 54E 57C 562 497 57¢
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets 198 207 31¢ 94¢ 10z
Total operating expens 18,30¢ 21,07¢ 15,74( 14,117 12,36¢
Operating income (los! (6,929 (20,66%) 1,997 2,22¢ (1,239
Interest income, ne 14z 10t 162 131 19
Gain (loss) on derivative instruments, 20¢ 26E (121) (68) (919
Other income (expense), net 1 (67) (175) 72 83
Income (loss) before income tax (6,57¢€) (20,364 1,86: 2,36° (2,049
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 16€ 14€ 68¢ (43€) 20€
Net income (loss) $ (6,742 $ (10,51) $ 1,17, $ 2,801 $ (2,249
Basic income (loss) per common sh $ (0.3¢) $ (0.5¢) $ 0.0¢ $ 0.1t % (0.12)
Diluted income (loss) per common sh $ (0.3t) $ (0.5¢) $ 0.0¢€ 0.1t $ (0.12)

Weighted average common shares outstan:
-Basic 17,88¢ 18,15: 18,38 18,95: 18,97t
-Diluted 17,88¢ 18,15: 18,45¢ 19,12: 18,97t

As of December 31

201¢ 201¢ 201z 2011 201(C

Consolidated Balance Sheet d:
Working capital 11,45¢ $ 2599. $ 29,78: 30,24C % 30,04(
Total asset: 45,99¢ 48,827 62,56« 58,81t 53,61«
Long-term liabilities 38 78 1,45¢ 2,352 79¢
Stockholders' equit 23,74( 30,38’ 40,83( 38,78: 36,90¢

(1) - Hyperspring, LLC was acquired on November22i14. See Note 3 to Consolidated Financial Statésria Item 8.
(2) - EnVision Systems, Inc. was acquired in Japda2011.

(3) - TAS Holdings Ltd. was acquired in April 26)10.

(4) - See Note 4 and Note 8 in the Notes to Codatdd Financial Statements in Item 8.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS .

On November 14, 2014, (the "Closing Date") the Camyp through its operating subsidiary, GSE Powext8ys, Inc. ("GSE Power'
acquired Hyperspring, LLC ("Hyperspring") pursudgata Membership Interests Purchase Agreement (M@sec Agreement”) with the sellers
Hyperspring ("Sellers"). Hyperspring, headquaddreHuntsville, Alabama, specializes in trainingdalevelopment, plant operations support sen
and staff augmentation, primarily in the United t&anuclear industry. Hyperspring operates as allyowned subsidiary of GSE Power. -
purchase price allocation included customer rafatiip intangible assets valued at $779,000 whietbaing amortized over seven years.

GSE Power paid the Sellers an aggregate of $3lmmih cash at the closing date. Hyperspring ithie process of bidding on a renewal ¢
current contract with the Tennessee Valley AutlyofiT VA").If Hyperspring is successful in renewirige TVA contract for substantially the sg
scope as currently being provided and at an agrped profit margin on or before May 15, 2015, GSE pay the Hyperspring members an additic
$1.2 million. In addition, GSE Power may be regdj pursuant to the terms of the Purchase Agreert®mipay the Sellers up to an additiona
additional $7.2 million if Hyperspring attains c@rt EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, dejpt@n and amortization) targets for the thyess
period ending November 13, 2017. However, if Hgpeing is not successful in renewing the TVA coctisa GSE may still be required to pay
Sellers up to an additional $8.4 million if Hypefisyy attains certain EBITDA (earnings before ingréaxes, depreciation and amortization) targs
the threeyear period ending November 13, 2017. Whetheratrtine TVA contract is renewed the total cash paithe Hyperspring members n
total $11.4 million. The estimated fair value lbétpurchase price recorded by the Company totadédrillion.

With the acquisition of Hyperspring, the Companyedained that it now has two reportable busineggneats: Staff Augmentation whi
provides personnel to fulfill staff positions orslaortterm basis to energy industry customers and Pedoce Improvement Solutions which provi
simulation, engineering, and training solutions a@mivices to the nuclear and fossil fuel power stiduand to the chemical and petrochen
industries.

On November 14, 2014, GSE invested $250,000 in angh for a 50% interest in IntelliQlik, LLC. Int&dlik is developing a softwa
platform for online learning and learning managetrienthe energy market. GSE is obligated to dbote an additional $250,000 to IntelliQlik uf
the attainment of certain development milestonesSbptember 15, 2015. The Company determined beabttcome of IntelliQlik reaching t
milestones was probable and therefore evaluatedahingent consideration payment under ASC 45@1(te Note 17). The Company does not |
a controlling financial interest in IntelliQlik antherefore is accounting for its interest in In@lik as an equity investment. Equity gains anssk
incurred by IntelliQlik are recorded within the Remance Improvement Solutions segment accordirthgdCompany's 50% interest. See Note :
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementieim B for further discussion of our equity methodeistments.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

As further discussed in Note 2 to the consoliddiegincial statements, in preparing the Companyaritial statements, management m
several estimates and assumptions that affect tinep@ny's reported amounts of assets, liabilitegemues and expenses. Those accounting est
that have the most significant impact on the Comjzapperating results and place the most significlemands on management's judgmen
discussed below. For all of these policies, mameage: cautions that future events rarely develogtikas forecast, and the best estimates may &
adjustment.

Revenue Recognition on Long-Term ContracfBhe Company recognizes revenue through (1) fpéck contracts on the sale of uniqt
designed systems containing hardware, softwareotimer materials as well as (2) time and materialtreats primarily through staff augmenta
support and service agreements.

In accordance with U.S. generally accepted accogrgrinciples ("GAAP"), our Performance Improvem&ulutions segment accounts
revenue under fixed-price contracts using the peacge-ofeompletion method. This methodology recognizegmere and earnings as work progre
on the contract and is based on an estimate gktreue and earnings earned to date, less amaaatgized in prior periods. The Company bas:
estimate of the degree of completion of the contbgcreviewing the relationship of costs incurreddate to the expected total costs that wi
incurred on the project. Estimated contract egiare reviewed and revised periodically as thekvpoogresses, and the cumulative effect of
change in estimate is recognized in the periodhictivthe change is identified. Estimated lossescharged against earnings in the period suchd
are identified. The Company recognizes revenugsngrifrom contract claims either as income or asffset against a potential loss only when
amount of the claim can be estimated reliably aadization is probable and there is a legal basiseoclaim.

Uncertainties inherent in the performance of camgranclude labor availability and productivity, tedal costs, change order scope
pricing, software modification and customer acceptaissues. The reliability of these cost estisya@eritical to the Company's revenue recognitie
a significant change in the estimates can caus€timepany's revenue and related margins to chaggéisantly from the amounts estimated in
early stages of the project.

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pagemfeompletion method, it provides an accrual for eated future warranty co:
based on historical and projected claims experiefldee Company's long-term contracts generally ipl@dor a onerear warranty on parts, labor ¢
any bug fixes as it relates to software embeddéldarsystems.

The Company's system design contracts do not nbyrmpedvide for "post customer support service" (P@Sterms of software upgrad
software enhancements or telephone support. lerowm obtain PCS, the customers normally must @seha separate contract. Such
arrangements are generally for a geew period renewable annually and include custosnpport, unspecified software upgrades, and mzanis
releases. The Company recognizes revenue frora tlwegracts ratably over the life of the agreements

Revenue from the sale of software licenses whichataequire significant modifications or custontiaa for the Company's modeling to
are recognized when the license agreement is sighedicense fee is fixed and determinable, dejiveas occurred, and collection is consid
probable.

We evaluate our contracts for multiple deliverablesier ASC 60525 Revenue Recognition-Multiple Element Arrangemeiaind whe
appropriate, separate the contracts into separat® of accounting for revenue recognitiorContracts with multiple element arrangements tylfyi
include, but are not limited to, components suchraising, licenses, and PCS, as described aboubedded in the agreemenivhen a contra
contains multiple deliverables, the Company allesaevenue to each deliverable based on its relaglling price which is determined based o
vendor specific objective evidence ("VSOE") if dable, third party evidence ("TPE") if VSOE is rmtailable, or estimated selling price if neit
VSOE nor TPE is available.Amounts allocated to training and support servaaesbased on VSOE and revenue is deferred untehdces ha\
been performed. Amounts allocated to softwarenies are also based on VSOE. Revenue relatedtiwaseflicenses is recognized once the lic
has been delivered.

The Company recognizes revenue under time and iaateontracts primarily from staff augmentatiordasertain consulting agreemer
Revenue on time and material contracts is recodraseservices are rendered and performed. Untjgrical time-andmaterials billing arrangeme
customers are billed on a regularly scheduled pasish as biweekly or monthly. At the end of eachoanting period, revenue is estimated
accrued for services performed since the lashiiliycle. These unbilled amounts are billed thiefdhg month.
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I mpairment of Intangible Assets, including GootiwilVe review goodwill for impairment annually as ocbWwember 30 and whenever eve
or changes in circumstances indicate the carryaigevof an asset may not be recoverable. We teslvg at the reporting unit level. A reporting t
is an operating segment, or one level below anatipey segment, as defined by U.S. GAAP. After tbguisition of Hyperspring, LLC ("Hyperspring
on November 14, 2014, our reporting units areP@)formance Improvement Solutions and (ii) Staffyfentation. At December 31, 2014, the 1
$5.6 million balance of goodwill was representedHyperspring or our Staff Augmentation segment.

Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2011-08esting Goodwill for Impairment("ASU 201108") permits an entity to first ass
qualitative factors to determine whether it is mbkely than not that the fair value of a reportingit is less than its carrying amount as a bas
determining whether it is necessary to performtiyee step goodwill impairment test. Under ASU 20J8,-an entity is not required to perform step
of the goodwill impairment test for a reporting wifiit is more likely than not that its fair value greater than its carrying amount. For our at
goodwill impairment test, we performed a qualitatassessment as permitted by ASU 20&Ter the Staff Augmentation reporting unit. Basa the
reporting unit's positive revenue, order and graasgin results since the acquisition, we determited it was more likely than not that the fairuwex
of each of our reporting units exceeded their respe carrying values.

If it is determined as a result of the qualitatagsessment permitted by ASU 2008.-that it is more likely than not that the faalwe of :
reporting unit is less than its carrying amourtiva-step impairment test is required. In the first stee compare the fair value of each reporting to
its carrying value. If the fair value of the repogt unit exceeds the carrying value of the nettassgsigned to that unit, goodwill is not impaiesdi we
are not required to perform further testing. If derying value of the net assets assigned toeperting unit exceeds the fair value of the repg
unit, then we must perform the second step of tgairment test in order to determine the implieid ¥alue of the reporting unit's goodwill. T
implied fair value of goodwill is determined by @dhting the fair value of the reporting unit's @&ssend liabilities in a manner similar to a purd
price allocation, with any residual fair value aided to goodwill. If the carrying value of a refig unit's goodwill exceeds its implied fair vajuker
we record an impairment loss equal to the diffeeenc

Under the twostep impairment test, we determine the fair valueun reporting units using both an income approaicti a market approa
and weigh both approaches to determine the fairevaf each reporting unit. Under the income apgrpae perform a discounted cash flow ana
which incorporates management's cash flow projestimver a fiveyear period and a terminal value is calculated fiyylyang a capitalization rate
terminal year projections based on an estimateg-term growth rate. The fivgear projected cash flows and calculated terminhlesare discount:
using a weighted average cost of capital ("WACCHich takes into account the costs of debt and yqttie cost of equity is based on the rigke
interest rate, equity risk premium, industry argeséquity premiums and any additional market equ#ty premiums as deemed appropriate for
reporting unit. To arrive at a fair value for eagporting unit, the terminal value is discountedtby WACC and added to the present value ¢
estimated cash flows over the discrete fpear period. There are a number of other varialvlgish impact the projected cash flows, such as e
revenue growth and profitability levels, workingo@al requirements, capital expenditures and rdldipreciation and amortization. Under the m
approach, we perform a comparable public compayysis and apply revenue and earnings multiples ftbe identified set of companies to
reporting unit's actual and forecasted financiafqyenance to determine the fair value of each regpgmunit. We evaluate the reasonableness of tin
value calculations of our reporting units by redbng the total of the fair values of all of ourpgerting units to our total market capitalizatiomd
adjusting for an appropriate control premium. alddition, we make certain judgments in allocatihgred assets and liabilities to determine
carrying values for each of our reporting units.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit iglgmental in nature and involves the use of sigaift estimates and assumptions. T
estimates and assumptions include revenue growgls end operating margins used to calculate pegefitture cash flows, riskdjusted discou
rates, future economic and market conditions aneraenation of appropriate market comparables. \A&elour fair value estimates on assumptior
believe to be reasonable but that are unpredictaideinherently uncertain. Actual future resultsyrddfer from those estimates. In addition, we r
certain judgments and assumptions in allocatingeshassets and liabilities to determine the cagyialues for each of our reporting units. The tig
and frequency of our goodwill impairment tests hesed on an ongoing assessment of events and staees that would indicate a poss
impairment. We will continue to monitor our goodwahd intangible assets for impairment and condaichal tests when impairment indicators
present.
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Capitalization of Computer Software Developmentt€osin accordance with U.S. generally accepted adigiprinciples, the Compa
capitalizes computer software development costsried after technological feasibility has been lgihed, but prior to the release of the softy
product for sale to customers. Once the produavéslable to be sold, the Company amortizes tisscon a straight line method, over the estin
useful life of the product, which normally rangesm three to five years. As of December 31, 2ahé, Company has net capitalized softv
development costs of $1.4 million. On an annuaisyaand more frequently as conditions indicate, @ompany assesses the recovery o
unamortized software development costs by estigatie net undiscounted cash flows expected to Inergeed by the sale of the product. If
undiscounted cash flows are not sufficient to recdtie unamortized software costs the Companywyite-down the investment to its estimated
value based on future discounted cash flows. Noess of any unamortized computer software costs the related net realizable value is wri
down and charged to operations. Significant changehe sales projections could result in an impant with respect to the capitalized software
is reported on the Company's consolidated balameets

During the second quarter of 2013, the Companyriedua charge of $2.2 million related to the wdtawn of certain capitalized softw:
development costs based on the net realizable aalalysis performed in conjunction with our goodiwipairment test.

Valuation of Contingent Consideration for Busindgsjuisitions. Acquisitions may include contingent consideratjmmyments based
future financial measures of an acquired compadgntingent consideration is required to be recagphiat fair value as of the acquisition date.
estimate the fair value of these liabilities basedfinancial projections of the acquired compardas estimated probabilities of achievement.
believe our estimates and assumptions are reasgnabWever, there is significant judgment involvedt each reporting date, the conting
consideration obligation will be revalued to estietafair value and changes in fair value subseqtieettie acquisition will be reflected in income
expense in the consolidated statements of opesatéond could cause a material impact to our opeyaiisults. Changes in the fair value of contirt
consideration obligations may result from changediscount periods and rates, changes in the timimtamount of revenue and/or earnings estir
and changes in probability assumptions with resfeettte likelihood of achieving the various earn-oiiteria.

Deferred Income Tax Valuation AllowanceDeferred income taxes arise from temporary diffiees between the tax basis of asset:
liabilities and their reported amounts in the fio@h statements. Management makes a regular assessf the realizability of the Company's defe
tax assets. In making this assessment, managemesiders whether it is more likely than not thatne or all of the deferred tax assets will nc
realized. The ultimate realization of deferred &sets is dependent upon the generation of ftewedble income during the periods in which tt
temporary differences become deductible. Managecmrsiders the scheduled reversal of deferrediabiities and projected future taxable incc
of the Company in making this assessment. A vloatlowance is recorded to reduce the total deftincome tax asset to its realizable value. f
December 31, 2014, the Company's largest defearedgset of $6.8 million primarily relates to a Un8t operating loss carryforward of $19.1 mil
which expires in various amounts between 2020 @8#i2 The amount of U.S. loss carryforward which ba used by the Company each ye
limited due to changes in the Company's ownershijhvoccurred in 2003. Thus, a portion of the Canyjs loss carryforward may expire unutiliz
We believe that the Company will achieve profitatyberations in future years that will enable thenpany to recover the benefit of its net deferres
assets. However, other than a portion of the afdrted tax assets that are related to the Congpémian subsidiary, the recovery of the net def:
tax assets could not be substantiated by currentylable objective evidence. Accordingly, the @amy has established a $10.0 million value
allowance for its net deferred tax assets.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth the results of opierss for the periods presented expressed in tmuissaf dollars and as a percentag

contract revenue.

($ in thousands

Contract revenu
Cost of revenu
Write-down of capitalized software development sost

Gross profit
Operating expenst
Selling, general and administrati
Goodwill impairment los:
Depreciatior
Amortization of definite-lived intangible assets

Total operating expenses
Operating los:

Interest income, ne

Gain on derivative instruments, r

Other income (expense) , net

Loss before income tax
Provision for income taxe

Net loss

29

Years ended December 3.

2014 % 2013 %
37,93( 100.% $ 47 56 100.%
26,55 70.0% 34,08 73.5%

- 0.0% (2,174) 4.6%
11,37¢ 30.(% 10,40° 21.%%
17,57( 46.5% 15,83¢ 33.%%

- 0.C% 4,46: 9.4%

54t 1.4% 57C 1.2%
192 0.5% 207 0.4%
18,30¢ 48.5% 21,07 44.5%
(6,929 -18.5% (10,66%) -22.0%
142 0.4% 108 0.2%
20¢ 0.6% 26E 0.5%

1 0.0% (67) -0.1%

(6,576) -17.5% (10,36%) -21.€%
16€ 0.5% 14€ 0.%%
(6,742 -17.6€% $ (10,51) -22.1%




Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2014 Becember 31, 201%

Contract Revenue. Contract revenue for the year ended Decembe2(®4 totaled $37.9 million, which was 20.3% lowéarn the
$47.6 million of revenue for the year ended Decanie 2013.

(in thousands) Year ended December &
2014 2013
Contract Revenue
Performance Improvement Solutic $ 35,67 $ 47 ,56:
Staff Augmentation 2,25¢ -
Total Contract Revenue $ 3793( $ 47,56:

Performance Improvement Solutions revenue decrezs®86 from $47.6 million to $35.7 million for thyears ended December 31, 2013
2014, respectively. We recorded total Performdmygovement Solutions orders of $40.9 million ie fear ended December 31, 2014 as compa
$32.0 million in the year ended December 31, 20IBe decrease in revenue is primarily attributdbléhe completion of the $36.6 million full scc
simulator and digital control system order from\&oské elektrarne, a.s. ("SE") in April 2014. ke tyears ended December 31, 2014 and 201
Company recognized $770,000 and $11.6 million ofteet revenue, respectively, on this project usheg percentage-afempletion method, whic
accounted for 2.2% and 24.4% of the Company's Sitioul revenue, respectively. During the year erldedember 31, 2014, the Company's Swe
subsidiary had $2.1 million in revenue which wa37a5% decrease in revenue from the prior year. ddwease was due in part to the decree
orders from Japanese customers in the wake ofuikeshima Daiichi | Nuclear Power Plant disaste2®11 as well as the completion of a large fi
simulation project in 2013. The Company downsizgg@&wedish operations in 2014.

As discussed earlier, our Staff Augmentation businesegment was created due to the acquisition opelspring, LLC on
November 14, 2014. Revenue from the date of aitiguisto December 31, 2014 totaled $2.3 milliontaf§ Augmentation orders totaled $914,
during the same period.

At December 31, 2014, the Company's backlog wasA$#8lion: $41.7 million for the Performance Immement Solutions business segn
and $6.7 million for Staff Augmentation. Perforrsarimprovement Solutions backlog increased 9.7%h f88.0 million as of December 31, 2013.

Write-down of capitalized software development £osThe Company makes ongoing evaluations of thevexedility of its capitalize
software projects by comparing the unamortized arhdor each product to the estimated net realizallee of the product. I16uch evaluatior
indicate that the unamortized software developneests exceed the net realizable value, we writehaffamount by which the unamortized softv
development costs exceed net realizable valuethféoquarter ended June 30, 2013, we incurred agehair $2.2 million related to the writf of
certain capitalized software development costs.
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Gross Profit. Gross profit totaled $11.4 million for the yearded December 31, 2014 as compared to $10.4 milborthe year ende¢
December 31, 2013. As a percentage of revenuss gnofit increased from 21.9% for the year endeddiber 31, 2013 to 30.0% for the year e
December 31, 2014. Excluding the $2.2 million mash writedown of capitalized software development costscivlig discussed above, gross p
totaled $12.6 million and 26.5% as a percentagewnue for the year ended December 31, 2013.

(% in thousands Years ended December 3.
2014 % 2013 %
Gross Profit;
Performance Improvement Solutic $ 11,15¢ 31.5% $ 12,58: 26.5%
Staff Augmentatior 22C 9.8% - 0.C%
Write-down of capitalized software development ct - 0.C% (2,179 -4.€%
Consolidated Gross Profit 11,37¢ 30.(% 10,407 21.%%

Performance Improvement Solutions' gross profithdil.2 million or 31.3% of revenue for the year ehd®cember 31, 2014 decres
$1.4 million from $12.6 million or 26.5% of reveniém the year ended December 31, 2013. The $36l@mifull scope simulator and digital cont
system project for a Slovak utility which was coetpld in April 2014 made up 2.2% of the CompanytédP@ance Improvement Solutions revenu
2014 as compared to 24.4% in 2013. The signific@atease in revenue on the Slovakia contract awerall percentage of the Company's rev:
was the largest factor contributing to the increase¢he Company's overall gross margin because giogect had a gross profit lower than
Company's normal gross profits.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expense3elling, general and administrative ("SG&A") erpes totaled $17.6 million and $15.8 mill
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 204®ctgely. Fluctuations in the components of SG8#ending were as follows:

¢ Business development costs decreased from $6.émifor the year ended December 31, 2013 to $5l@miin the year ende
December 31, 2014. As part of the restructuringuwf Swedish subsidiary, our Swedish VP of Busirigegelopment was terminatec
early 2014. Included within the total businessedepment costs were our bidding and proposal cegigh are the costs of operati
personnel assisting with the preparation of contoposals. Bidding and proposal costs totaled #fillion for the year end:
December 31, 2014, a $353,000 decrease from theywar.

¢+ The Company's general and administrative expensaled $8.5 million and $7.9 million for the yearsded December 31, 2014 and 2
respectively. The increase of $0.6 million is panity attributable to the following

o The Company incurred restructuring costs for oue@sh operations of $611,000 in the year ended lbee 31, 2014

0 We incurred severance costs of $653,000 for our @p8rations in the year ended December 31, 2

0 The Company's facility costs increased $263,000tteryear ended December 31, 2014 compared toathe period la
year. In 2013, our Chinese subsidiary was locatexh office which they shared with our Chinesafaienture, GSEINIS
Simulation Technology Co., Ltd. In conjunction fwvthe dissolution of the joint venture agreemer0@3, we relocated tc
new office during the fourth quarter of 2013. Aseault, facility costs for the Chinese office w&tE70,000 higher in 201.

0o The Company incurred $265,000 in due diligencelagdl costs related to the Hyperspring, LLC acdjoisiin 2014.

0 The Company has reduced corporate administratisesdry $1.1 million in the year ended December2B14 as compar
to 2013 as a result of spending reductions in noogeareas including corporate salaries, audit andérvices, travel, a
problem resolution support for the Company's Or&¥ system. The GSE Board of Directors electaddioe their fees f
2014; fees paid in 2013 totaled $196,C

¢ Gross spending on software product developmentvéldpment”) expenses, for the twelve months endedebber 31, 2014 total
$3.8 million, as compared to $2.9 million for theetve months ended December 31, 2013. The Compapialized $0.6 million ar
$1.3 million for the twelve months ended DecemikerZ®14 and 2013, respectively. Net developmemnding increased fro
$1.6 million for the twelve months ended Decemtier2D13 to $3.2 million for the twelve months endatember 31, 201.

0 The Company's Activ-3D visualization team, which develops 3D technologyatll to our training programs, incur
$231,000 and $99,000 of costs related to this effluring the twelve months ended December 31, 28id 201:
respectively

o Development expense related to the EnVision prodinet totaled $676,000 and $364,000 for the twalvenths ende
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectiv

o Spending on simulation software product developntetaled $2.9 million for the twelve months endegcBmber 31, 201-
For the twelve months ended December 31, 2013, lal@vent expense totaled $2.4 million. The Compadgvelopmel
expenses were mainly related to EDM™, our confijoramanagement system, maintenance to our GPWR®JADE™
applications, and advance modeling software suébEAsAPE-HD® and PS/-HD™.
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Goodwill impairment loss. Based upon indicators of impairment in the secguakter of 2013, which included a substantial ease il
the Company's market capitalization following thenauncement of the Company's first quarter 2013iilegs and significantly lower th
projected revenue and profits as a result of agdam market conditions, the Company performednégrim impairment test as of June 30, 2(
The results of the ASC 350 Step 1 goodwill impaintnanalysis indicated that the estimated fair valil®ur reporting unit was less than
carrying value. The reporting unit was unfavoraihpacted by a combination of lower current andqoted cash flows. Because our repol
unit's fair value estimate was lower than its dagyalue, we applied the second step of the golbtkst, in accordance with ASC 350.

The second step of the goodwill impairment analyrsiicated that the carrying value of the goodw#kociated with the reporting L
exceeded its implied fair value resulting in a $#iion non-deductible goodwill impairment charge. Accordingliyge Company wrote off tl
entire existing goodwill balance in the second tpra2013.

Depreciation. Depreciation expense totaled $545,000 and $500{00the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2@%5Bectively. Th
depreciation variance between the two years is it@riah

Amortization of definite-lived intangible asseté\mortization expense related to definiiteed intangible assets totaled $193,000 and $2T
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 20%ctgely.

In conjunction with the Hyperspring acquisition Niovember 14, 2014, we recorded $779,000 of custosiated intangible assets whicl
being amortized on a waterfall basis over sevemnsyed@e recognized $50,000 of amortization expéosthe Hyperspring intangibles in 2014.

The balance of the intangible asset amortizatiobetember 31, 2014 related to the net Hyperspimy/ision and TAS intangible asse
Amortization is recognized on a straidinte basis over the estimated useful life of theamgible assets, except for contractual custonatioaship:
and contract backlog which are recognized in prigorto the related projected revenue streams.

Operating Loss. The Company had an operating loss of $6.9 mil{ia8.3% of revenue) in the year ended December 314,285 compar¢
with an operating loss of $10.7 million22.4% of revenue) for the year ended December@®3.2 The variances were due to the factors oul
above.

33




Interest Income, Net.The Company's interest income, net totaled $DBdhd $105,000 for the years ended December 34, 20d 201!
respectively.

At December 31, 2014, the Company had a $7.5 miltevolving line of credit with Susquehanna Bankichhexpires on March 31, 201
The credit facility was established mainly to ctdlalize letters of credit which are issued as adegpayment, bid or performance bonds. The lii
credit, which is in the principal amount of up t8.% million, bears interest at a rate equal tovradl Street Journal Prime Rate of Interest, flogutivith
a floor of 4 ¥%2%.

In 2014, Susquehanna amended the credit agreemeeqtire that all outstanding letters of credit d@sh collateralized in segrega
restricted accounts. At December 31, 2014 and ,20E3Company had approximately $4.2 million andL$illion, respectively, of cash in escr
accounts with Susquehanna that were being usedllasecal for various advance payment and perforaamonds. The Company recorded inte
income of $7,000 and $8,000 from the escrow aceoimthe years ended December 31, 2014 and 204Bectvely. The interest earned on ti
restricted funds is added to the restricted casmba.

The deferred financing costs incurred when the Seisgnna line of credit was first established in122@&re amortized over the original two-
year term of the line of credit. Amortization bega November 2011 and ended during 2013. As altteso amortization related to the defel
financing costs was recognized for the year endetkeBiber 31, 2014. Amortization of deferred finagaiosts totaling $10,000 was recognized fo
twelve months ended December 31, 2013.

On November 14, 2014, the acquisition date, HypergpLLC had a $1.0 million working capital liné oredit with IberiaBank. Interest w
payable monthly at a rate of the prime rate ofregeas published in the money rate section of\fa# Street Journal plus 2.50%. The effective &
November 14, 2014 was 5.750%. The line was sechyedll accounts and was guaranteed by the membery/merspring, LLC. The Compa
recorded interest expense of $1,000 from the Ifreradit for the year ended December 31, 2014.

On December 7, 2014, the working capital line ofdir matured while the Company was renegotiating nlew terms with IberiaBa
subsequent to the acquisition of Hyperspring. @nudry 22, 2015, a promissory note was executedeleet Hyperspring, LLC and IberiaBank
extend the $1.0 million line of credit until JuB6, 2015. Under the new terms, interest is payaigathly at a rate of the prime rate of interes
published in the money rate section of the Wakk&tdournal plus 1.00 %. The effective rate atte of the promissory note was 4.25%. The li
secured by all accounts and guaranteed by GSEystac.

The Company had $7.5 million and $9.5 million defgasin an unrestricted money market account withgsiehanna on December 31, z
and 2013, respectively. Interest income earnedhenmoney market accounts totaled $37,000 and $@3i® the years ended 2014 and 2
respectively.

Interest income on deposits held by the Comparorsign subsidiaries increased from $64,000 in tharyended December 31, 201!
$102,000 for the year ended December 31, 2014. ifidrease was primarily attributable to the higbash balances maintained by the subsidi
during 2014.
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Gain on Derivative Instruments, netThe Company periodically enters into forward fgreexchange contracts to manage market
associated with the fluctuations in foreign curseegchange rates on foreigienominated trade receivables. As of Decembe2@®14, the Compal
had foreign exchange contracts outstanding of aquptely 0.3 million Pounds Sterling, 1.4 millionui®, 0.8 million Australian Dollars, a
0.5 million Malaysian Ringgits. The contracts erpon various dates through November 2016. The gaom had not designated the contrac
hedges and has recognized a gain on the changéeinestimated fair value of the contracts of $36%,0r the twelve months end
December 31, 2014.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had foreign exgphaontracts outstanding of approximately 0.2iamllPounds Sterling, 13.3 milli
Euro, and 10.1 million Japanese Yen at fixed rai&& contracts expired on various dates through R0#y6. The Company had not designatet
contracts as hedges and had recognized a losseochtnge in the estimated fair value of the cotdra€ $489,000 for the twelve months en
December 31, 2013.

The estimated net fair values of the contracts etdinber 31, 2014 and 2013 was a net asset of $6&0d a net liability of $513,0C
respectively. The amounts were recorded on thenbal sheets as follows:

December 31

(in thousands) 2014 2013
Asset derivative
Prepaid expenses and other current a: $ 71 $ 14C
Other assets 21 2
92 147
Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (23) (637)
Other liabilities (1) (18)
(24) (655)
Net fair value $ 68 $ (513)

The foreign currency denominated trade receivaateb unbilled receivables that are related to thstanding foreign exchange contract
December 31, 2014 are remeasured at the end ofpegicid into the functional currency using the eatrexchange rate at the end of the period.
the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, th@&uonincurred a loss of $156,000 and a gain of ¥ respectively, from the remeasurer
of such trade and unbilled receivables.
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Other Income (Expense), NefThe Company recognized $1,000 of other incomeand $67,000 of other expense, net for the yeadsc
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

(o]

During 2013, the Company recognized losses of ®ID48,relating to its pro rata share of operatirguits from its equit
investment in GSE-UNIS. In 2013, the Company adjrde sell its 49% stake in GSHNIS to its partne
Beijing Unis Venture Capital Co., Ltd. and terntméhe joint venture agreement as of July 31, 2

As a 10% owner of the Emirates Simulation Acadet®BA") in the UAE, the Company was required to pdeva guarante
of 10% of ESA's credit facility. The Company prositithe guarantee by depositing cash into an iritbezring, restricte
account with the Union National Bank ("UNB"). In @@ the Company wrote off the entire balance is #count. In tt
second quarter of 2013, the Company was notifiedJBYB that the ESA line of credit had been paid lojf utilizing the
guarantees from the three owners. The balance némgain our account after the settlement of thergotee, $82,000 w
transferred to the Company and the UNB accountohesed.

On May 22, 2013, the Company and Electrobalt Hgiden Russian Federation closed j-stock company, created a 5C
joint venture called General Simulation EngineefRigS Limited Liability Company ("GSE RUS"). GSE'squity
contribution was 1.5 million Roubles ($46,000) amds paid to the joint venture in November 2013r the years end:
December 31, 2014, and 2013, the Company recogriz8i3,000 and $8,000 equity loss on its investnre@SE RUS
respectively

On November 14, 2014, in conjunction with the Hgpeing acquisition, the Company invested $250,@30f50% intere
in IntelliQlik, LLC ("IntelliQlik") and is obligatel to contribute an additional $250,000 upon thaimthent by IntelliQlik o
certain milestones. IntelliQlik is jointly owned WYSE Power and one of the former shareholders glekypring. For tt
year ended December 31, 2014, the Company recabai$é 7,000 equity loss on its investment in |i@dik.

The Company had other miscellaneous income of $86dhd $7,000 for the years ended December 31, 2642012
respectively
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Provision for Income Taxes.

The Company files tax returns in the United Stdeateral jurisdiction and in several state and fymejurisdictions. Because of the
operating loss carryforwards, the Company is sulifet).S. federal and state income tax examinatfooms years 1997 and forward and is subje
foreign tax examinations by tax authorities for nge2007 and forward. Open tax years related tte stad foreign jurisdictions remain subjec
examination but are not considered material tofioancial position, results of operations or casiwé.

An uncertain tax position taken or expected todken in a tax return is recognized in the finanstatements when it is more likely than
(i.e., a likelihood of more than fifty percent) ththe position would be sustained upon examinalipiax authorities that have full knowledge of
relevant information. A recognized tax positioriien measured at the largest amount of benefitistgeater than fifty percent likely of being rieat
upon ultimate settlement. Interest and penaltikdae to income taxes are accounted for as incamexpense.

During 2013 and 2014, the Company recorded $187ab@0$20,000 of tax liabilities for certain foreigax contingencies, respectively. -
Company made payments of $103,000 and $211,000g12€113 and 2014, respectively, related to thessdgn tax contingencies.

The Company's tax expense in 2014 was $166,000cansisted of $10,000 state income taxes, $1,008igiorincome taxes from t
Company's foreign subsidiaries, $55,000 for foreigmome tax withholding on several nbhS. contracts, $76,000 of foreign income tax lieibs, anc
a $24,000 deferred tax liability relating to thg tanortization of goodwill that cannot be offsetd®sferred tax assets because the anticipated advd
the deferred tax liability is outside of the amiied reversal of the deferred tax assets.

The Company's tax expense in 2013 was $146,00@@misted of $22,000 state income taxes, $159 ®@&dgh income tax benefits from
Company's foreign subsidiaries, $4,000 U.S. alteraaminimum tax, $83,000 for foreign income taxthtiolding on several nod-S. contract:
$245,000 of foreign income tax liabilities, and $X tax benefit resulting from OCI allocation.

The Company has a full valuation allowance on itfS.USwedish, and Chinese net deferred tax assBecamber 31, 2014.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources.

As of December 31, 2014, GSE had cash and castiadepuis of $13.6 million compared to $15.6 milli@nDecember 31, 2013.

Cash provided by (used in) operating activitieg:or the year ended December 31, 2014, net cashded by operating activities tota
$6.6 million; for the year ended December 31, 20th® Company used $3.2 million of cash in opera@mgjvities. Significant changes in
Company's assets and liabilities in the year efdizbmber 31, 2014 included:

¢

A $10.3 million decrease in the Company's contraeteivable. The Company's trade receivablesohéie allowance for doubtf
accounts, decreased from $19.0 million at Decer@beR013 to $10.8 million at December 31, 2014 roligh February 28, 2015, |
Company collected 62% of the gross trade receigablgstanding as of December 31, 2014. The Conpampilled receivabl
decreased by $0.5 million to $5.1 million at Decem®1, 2014. The decrease in the unbilled recédgab due to the timing of contrac
billing milestones of the Company's current prgjecin January and February 2015, th e Companyidad&1.3 million of the unbille
amounts; the balance of the unbilled amounts iseetgdl to be invoiced within one year. At Decenfr2014, trade receivab
outstanding for more than 90 days totaled $0.4ioniltompared to $0.6 million at December 31, 2(

A $2.2 million decrease in prepaid expenses ancerotssets. In 2013, the Company agreed to seld98& stake in GSE-
UNIS Simulation Engineering Co., Ltd to its partn@eijing Unis Venture Capital Co., Ltd. for $1.23llion and terminate the joi
venture agreement as of July 31, 2013. We recetived$1.2 million in December 2014. At DecemberZl113, the Company hac
$0.4 million receivable for Value Added Tax refuredated to our Slovakia project which was colledte@014. Our Swedish subsidi
applied $0.3 million of prepayments to pay the Seledax Agency

A $2.1 million decrease in accounts payable, actie@mpensation and accrued expenses. At Decerib8033 the Company hat
$1.1 million accounts payable due to Siemens ifjuration with its Slovak project; the payment waada in 2014. The Compar
December 31, 2014 subcontractor accrual decree®£2,(80 due to the progression of work on sevemgepts utilizing subcontract
labor and the related timing of the billing miles#s on those contrac

A $2.1 million increase in billings in excess offemue earned. The increase is due to the timingpofracted billing milestones of 1
Company's current projec!

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashimsgzrating activities totaled $3.2 million. S8ificant changes in the Company's as
and liabilities in the year ended December 31, 20tRided:

A $26,000 increase in the Company's contracts vab. The Company's trade receivables, net ofitleevance for doubtful accoun
increased from $12.4 million at December 31, 2002$19.0 million at December 31, 2013. The Compmanynbilled receivabl
decreased by $5.8 million to $5.5 million at Decem®1, 2013. The decrease in the unbilled recédgab due to the timing of contrac
billing milestones of the Company's current praggectAt December 31, 2013, trade receivables aqudgtg for more than 90 days tota
$0.6 million compared to $2.5 million at Decembér 3012.

A $1.9 million decrease in accounts payable, actraempensation and accrued expenses. The CompBegember 31, 20:
subcontractor accrual decreased $2.0 million dubdgrogression of work on several projects utiizsubcontractor labor and the relz
timing of the billing milestones on those contra
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Cash Used in Investing Activities-or the year ended December 31, 2014, net cashinsnvesting activities was $7.3 million.

The Companymade capital expenditures of $398,000 and capstlsoftware development costs of $646,000. Cast as collateral fi
standby letters of credit, bank guarantees andgdomurrency contracts increased by $3.1 million.

Effective November 14, 2014, GSE Power Systems tmenpleted the acquisition of Hyperspring, LLC yfié¢rspring”). On the closing de
we paid $3.0 million in cash to the Members of Hygpeing. GSE acquired approximately $152,000 shchrough the acquisition of Hyperspri
thus the net cash used in the acquisition was ®l®n. In addition, if Hyperspring achieves c@irt EBITDA (earnings before interest, ta
depreciation and amortization) targets for theddyear period ending November 13, 2017 and is awaadezhewal of their current contract with
Tennessee Valley Authority ("TVA") for substantiathe same scope as currently being provided doefore May 15, 2015, the Hyperspring Mem|
could receive up to an additional $8.4 million. $hhe total cash paid to the Hyperspring membesstotal $11.4 million. The estimated fair value
the purchase price recorded by the Company tog&e@i million.

In connection with the Hyperspring acquisition, Bempany also invested $250,000 in IntelliQlik, LIi€exchange for a 50% interes
IntelliQlik pursuant to the terms of the OperatiAgreement dated as of November 14, 2014. The &@es of IntelliQlik is owned by one of t
members of Hyperspring.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashimugmesting activities was $883,000.

The Companymade capital expenditures of $399,000 and cap#alizoftware development costs of $1.3 million fbe tyear ende
December 31, 2013. Cash used as collateral fodbtaletters of credit, bank guarantees and foreignency contracts decreased by $871,000 fc
year ended December 31, 2013.

On May 22, 2013, the Company and Electrobalt HgdanRussian Federation closed jatdek company, created a 50/50 joint venture ¢
General Simulation Engineering RUS Limited LialilEompany ("GSE RUS"). GSE's equity contributioaswl.5 million Roubles ($46,000) and
paid to the joint venture in November 2013.
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Cash Used in Financing ActivitiesFor the year ended December 31, 2014, net caghinginancing activities totaled $0.9 million.

Hyperspring has a working capital line of creditiwiberiaBank. The Company paid down $410,00thefdutstanding balance of the line
credit in the six weeks between the acquisitior ddtNovember 14, 2014 and December 31, 2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coynpeadle payments of $0.5 million to the former shatéers of EnVision in accordar
with the purchase agreement.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashim$i@adncing activities totaled $2.7 million. Ti@ompany repurchased 494,424 shar
the Company's common stock at an aggregate co$819,000, and received $44,000 from the issuanceonfmon stock from the exercise
employee stock options. During the year ended Dbee 31, 2013, the Company made payments totaling illion to the former EnVisic
shareholders in accordance with the purchase agrgsm

40




Credit Facilities

At December 31, 2014, the Company had a Master lamahSecurity Agreement and Revolving Credit Noith \Busquehanna Bank. 1
Company and its subsidiary, GSE Performance Saisitimc. were jointly and severally liable aslmmrowers. The Loan Agreement provide
$7.5 million revolving line of credit for the purpe of (i) issuing stanby letters of credit and (ii) providing working d&gd. Working capital advanc
bear interest at a rate equal to the Wall Streeinid Prime Rate of Interest, floating with a fladgrd ¥2%. The agreement expires on March 31, 2015.

As collateral for the Company's obligations, ther(any granted a first lien and security interestlirof the assets of the Company, inclut
but not limited to, accounts receivable, proceedk@oducts, intangibles, trademarks, patentsllécteial property, machinery and equipment.

On September 9, 2014, the Company signed a Thirdp@eshensive Amendment to the Master Loan and SgcAgreement. According
the Third Amendment, the Company is to maintaiegregated cash collateral account at Susquehamad8aal to the greater of (i) $3.0 million
(i) the aggregate principal amounts of all Loansstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility (uding any issued and outstanding letters of c)
working capital advances, and negative foreign arge positions) as security for the Company's abibgs. Under this Amendment, Susqueh:
Bank shall have complete and unconditional cordvelr the cash collateral account.

On September 30, 2014, Susquehanna Bank collaedalihe outstanding letters of credit issued unter line of credit. A
December 31, 2014, the cash collateral accourietb®4.2 million and was classified as restrictaghcon the balance sheet.

The credit agreements contain certain restrictiveenants regarding future acquisitions and incueeaf debt. In addition, the cre
agreements contain financial covenants with resjoettte Company's cash flow coverage ratio, minintangible capital base, quick ratio, and tanc
capital base ratio.

As of
Covenan December 31, 201
Cash flow coverage rat Must Exceed 1.20 : 1.C -12.11 : 1.0C
Minimum tangible capital bas Must Exceed $26.0 millio $15.4 million
Quick ratio Must Exceed 2.00 : 1.C 1.57:1.0C
Tangible capital base rat Not to Exceed .75 : 1.C 1.44:1.0C

As of December 31, 2014, the Company was not inptiamce with any of its covenants as defined abbegever, the Company has recei
a written waiver from Susquehanna Bank for noncémnpk.

On November 14, 2014, the acquisition date, HypergpLLC had a $1.0 million working capital lind oredit with IberiaBank. Interest w
payable monthly at a rate of the prime rate ofregeas published in the money rate section ofa# Street Journal plus 2.50%. The effective &
November 14, 2014 was 5.750%. The line was secimgdall accounts and was guaranteed by the membrBlyperspring, LLC. A
November 14, 2014 the outstanding balance on tieedf credit was $749,00

On December 7, 2014, the working capital line ofdir matured while the Company was renegotiating nlew terms with IberiaBa
subsequent to the acquisition of Hyperspring. @nudry 22, 2015, a promissory note was executedeleet Hyperspring, LLC and IberiaBank
extend the $1.0 million line of credit until Jun@, 2015. Under the new terms, interest is payaldethly at a rate of the prime rate of interes
published in the money rate section of the Wak&tdournal plus 1.00%. The effective rate at tite df the promissory note was 4.25%. The i
secured by all accounts and guaranteed by GSErystec. At December 31, 2014 the outstandingriwaan the line of credit was $339,000.

The Company draws on the IberiaBank line of cradineeded mainly to provide for payroll funding fyperspring. The line is replenist
through collection of receivables obtained in thkofving weeks.
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Contractual Cash Commitments

The following summarizes the Company's contraatash obligations as of December 31, 2014 and feetdhese obligations are expecte
have on its liquidity and cash flow in future petso

Payments Due by Peric
(in thousands
Contractual Cash Obligations Total Less than 1 ye 1-3 Years 4-5 Years After 5 Year:

Long Term Deb $ - 8 - % - 3 - $ =
Subcontractor and Purchase

Commitments $ 4,55 ¢ 394 $ 60 $ - $ -
Net Future Minimum Leas

Payments $ 6,10¢ $ 1,16 $ 1,72 $ 1,35¢ $ 1,867
Total $ 10,66 $ 5107 $ 2,32¢  $ 1,35¢ $ 1,867

As of December 31, 2014, the Company was contimgdiable for twelve standby letters of credit aode surety bond totaling $4.2 milli
which represented advance payment and performammston eleven contracts. The Company has degddbieefull value of eleven standby letter:
credit, $4.2 million, into money market escrow aguts which have been restricted in that the Comphrgs not have access to these funds un
related letters of credit have expired. The cashideen recorded on the Company's balance sheetahiber 31, 2014 as restricted cash and teng-
restricted cash depending on the expiration dateeofinderlying letters of credit.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company was contifgdiable for ten standby letters of credit and taarety bonds totaling $4.9 milli
which represented advance payment and performasgston eleven contracts. The Company had depasigeflill value of four standby letters
credit, $1.1 million, into money market escrow amus which had been restricted in that the Comphidynot have access to these funds unti
related letters of credit have expired. The cash maorded on the Company's balance sheet at Dec&@hp2013 as restricted cash and |tergr
restricted cash depending on the expiration datheofinderlying letters of credit. An additionat &tters of credit for $3.6 million were collatérzd
using the Company's Susquehanna Bank line of caé@iecember 31, 2013.

2015 Liquidity Outlook

At December 31, 2014, the Company had cash anderpstalents of $13.6 million and $4.2 million ektricted cash.

The Company has a Master Loan and Security AgreearehRevolving Credit Note with Susquehanna Baflke Loan Agreement provic
a $7.5 million revolving line of credit for the mose of (i) issuing stanbly letters of credit and (ii) providing working d&d. Working capite
advances bear interest at a rate equal to the Stfalét Journal Prime Rate of Interest, floatindhwaitloor of 4 %2%. The two year agreement expom
March 31, 2015.

Under the Agreement, the Company is to maintairegregated cash collateral account at Susquehannia &pal to the greater of
$3.0 million or (ii) the aggregate principal amosiof all Loans outstanding under the Revolving @rEdcility (including any issued and outstanc
letters of credit, working capital advances, andati@e foreign exchange positions) as securititferCompany's obligations. Under this Amendn
Susquehanna Bank shall have complete and uncomalittontrol over the cash collateral account. At&@mber 31, 2014 we were required to mail
cash balances of $4.2 million at Susquehanna iregated cash collateral accounts.

The Company has a $1.0 million working capita¢lof credit with IberiaBank. We draw on this liofecredit as needed mainly to provide
Hyperspring's payroll funding. The line is replér@d through collection of receivables obtainedha following weeks. On January 22, 201
promissory note was executed between HyperspriddlzariaBank, extending the line of credit untihdu30, 2015. Under the new terms, intere
payable monthly at a rate of the prime rate ofrggeas published in the money rate section offaé Street Journal plus 1.00 %. The effective &
the date of the promissory note was 4.25%. The ibngecured by all accounts and guaranteed by G&8Eei8s, Inc. At December 31, 2014
outstanding balance on the line of credit was 339,

The Company has entered into 2015 with $48.4 millid backlog; $31.6 milliorf which is expected to convert to revenue in 20The
Company anticipates that its normal operations géherate all of the funds necessary to fund itssalidated operations during the next tw
months. The Company believes that it will havdisignt liquidity and working capital without addinal financing. However, notwithstanding
foregoing, the Company may be required to lookafdditional capital to fund its operations if thenQmany is unable to operate profitably and gen
sufficient cash from operations. There can begsui@nce that the Company would be successfuisimgasuch additional funds.
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Foreign Exchange.
A portion of the Company's international sales nexehas been and may be received in a currency tithe the currency in which t

expenses relating to such revenue are paid. Aoyl the Company periodically enters into forwdateign exchange contracts to manage
market risks associated with the fluctuations iifgn currency exchange rates.

Off-balance Sheet Obligations.

The Company has no dlffalance sheet obligations as of December 31, 2X6gpt for its operating lease commitments andtandéng letter
of credit and surety bonds. See Contractual Cashriitments above.

Other Matters.

Management believes inflation has not had a matieni@act on the Company's operations.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK _ ET RISK.

The Company's market risk is principally confinedchanges in foreign currency exchange rates. Quhia year ended December 31, 2
29% of the Company's revenue was from contractsclwhiequired payments in a currency other than UD®llars, principall
British Pounds Sterling (12%), Euros (5%), Japantse(0.3%), Chinese Renminbi (7%), Canadian D¢R&) and Swedish Krona (2%). For
years ended December 31, 2013, 51% of the Compeswenue was from contracts which required payments currency other than U.S. Dolle
principally Euros, Swedish Krona, British Poundsriitg, Chinese Renminbi, Canadian Dollars and Jegpa Yen.

In addition, for both the years ended DecembefB814 and 2013, 9% of the Company's expenses wever@d in Swedish Krona. In t
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, 11% andol®& Company's expenses were incurred in Po8tetting, respectively. The Compar
exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuationsearia part from intecompany accounts in which costs incurred in onéyeate charged to oth
entities in different foreign jurisdictions. Theo@pany is also exposed to foreign exchange ratguftions as the financial results of all fore
subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars insotidation. As exchange rates vary, those resulftsn translated may vary from expectations
adversely impact overall expected profitability.

The Company utilizes forward foreign currency exaecontracts to manage market risks associatédtmetfluctuations in foreign currer
exchange rates. The principal currencies for wkiath forward exchange contracts are entered itéhar Pound Sterling, the Euro and the Japi
Yen. It is the Company's policy to use such deireafinancial instruments to protect against maukek arising in the normal course of busines
order to reduce the impact of these exposures.Cdrapany minimizes credit exposure by limiting cauparties to nationally recognized finan
institutions.

At December 31, 2013, the Company had foreign &xgh contracts outstanding of approximately 0.#gnilPounds Sterling, 13.3 millic
Euro, and 10.1 million Japanese Yen at fixed réaftes. contracts expire on various dates through RG#6.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had foreigim@xge contracts outstanding of approximately QlfBom Pounds Sterling, 1.4 millic
Euro, 0.8 million Australian Dollars, and 0.5 nmolti Malaysian Ringgits at fixed rates. The consaotpire on various dates through November 2
The Company had not designated the contracts agbhethd has recorded a gain on the change intiheag=d fair value of the contracts of $365,
for the year ended December 31, 2014. The estihfate value of the contracts was recorded as aassét totaling $68,000 at December 31, 2
The Company recognized a loss of $489,000 foryter ended December 31, 2013, on the changesrindhie of its forward currency exchai
contracts. A 10% fluctuation in the foreign cucgrexchange rates up or down as of December 34, @0@1ld have increased/decreased the char
estimated fair value of the contracts by $6,800.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
GSE Systems, Inc.
Sykesville, Maryland

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balameet of GSE Systems, Inc. and subsidiariesf &3ecember 31, 2014 and the rel:
consolidated statements of operations, comprehefsss, changes in stockholders' equity, and dewlsffor the year ended December 31, 2(
These financial statements are the responsibilitthe Company's management. Our responsibilityoiexpress an opinion on these finar
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversightd@nited States). Those standards res
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reablen assurance about whether the financial statismaee free of material misstatement.
Company is not required to have, nor were we ergjdgeperform, an audit of its internal control oviérancial reporting. Our audit includ
consideration of internal control over financiabogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances, butor
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effentiss of the Company's internal control over fifereporting. Accordingly, we express no s
opinion. An audit also includes examining, on st teasis, evidence supporting the amounts andodis@s in the financial statements, assessir
accounting principles used and significant estimateade by management, as well as evaluating thelb¥mancial statement presentation.
believe that our audit provides a reasonable asisur opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegrferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the financial position of GSE Systems
and subsidiaries at December 31, 2014, and thdtgesits operations and its cash flows for tharyended December 31, 201l conformity witt
accounting principles generally accepted in thetéthStates of America.

/s BDO USA, LLP

Bethesda, Maryland
March 19, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
GSE Systems, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheet of GSE Systems, Inc. and subsidiariesf &ecember 31, 2013, and the rele
consolidated statement of operations, compreherssg changes in stockholders' equity, and castsffor the year then ended. These consolil
financial statements are the responsibility of @@mpany's management. On@sponsibility is to express an opinion on thesesobidated financii
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversight lld@nited States). Those standards re«
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabEnassurance about whether the financial statisneea free of material misstatement. An &
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgathe amounts and disclosures in the finansiatements. An audit also includes assessir
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfisancial statement presentation. We bel
that our audit provides a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetegeferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of GSE Systeims.
and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2013 and thdtseof their operations and their cash flows floe year then ended, in conformity v
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl KPMG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 26, 2014
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PART | - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ltem 1. Financial Statements
GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data)

December 31

ASSETS 2014 2013

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 13,58 $ 15,64
Restricted cas 613 45
Contract receivables, n 15,83( 24,557
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,708 3,69¢
Total current assets 31,72¢ 43,94
Equipment, software and leasehold improvem 7,058 % 7,09C
Accumulated depreciation (5,229 (5,175
Equipment, software and leasehold improvements, net 1,82¢ 1,91¢
Software development costs, | 1,414 1,02(
Goodwill 5,612 -
Intangible assets, n 1,27¢ 70¢
Long-term restricted cas 3,591 1,021
Other assets 54¢ 21€
Total assets $ 45,99¢ $ 48,82:

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Line of credit $ 33¢ % -
Accounts payabl 2,33( 3,55¢
Accrued expense 1,55¢ 1,90¢
Accrued compensation and payroll ta 2,59t 2,497
Billings in excess of revenue earr 8,68¢ 6,54t
Accrued warrant 1,45¢ 1,851
Current contingent considerati 2,84z 49z
Other current liabilities 472 1,111
Total current liabilities 20,27: 17,95
Contingent consideratic 1,94¢ 40¢
Other liabilities 38 78
Total liabilities 22,25¢ 18,44(
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock $.01 par value, 2,000,000 shatt®azed, shares issued and outstanding nonelid 26d 201 - -
Common stock $.01 par value, 30,000,000 share®&rdl, shares issued 19,486,770 and 17,887,8%8ssha
outstanding in both 2014 and 2C 19t 19t
Additional paicin capital 72,917 72,20"
Accumulated defici (45,147 (38,400
Accumulated other comprehensive I (2,23)) (6149
Treasury stock at cost, 1,598,911 shares in 20d428h3 (2,999 (2,999
Total stockholders' equity 23,74( 30,38
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 4599¢ $ 48,827

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Contract revenu
Cost of revenu

GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Write-down of capitalized software development sost

Gross profit

Operating expenst¢

Selling, general and administrati
Goodwill impairment los:

Depreciatior

Amortization of definit-lived intangible asse

Total operating expenses
Operating los:

Interest income, ne¢

Gain on derivative instruments, r
Other income (expense) , net

Loss before income taxi
Provision for income taxe

Net loss

Basic loss per common share

Diluted loss per common share

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Years ended December 3.

2014 2013
37,93 $ 47 56
26,55 34,98

- 2,17¢
11,37¢ 10,40:
17,57( 15,83¢

- 4,46

54t 57¢
192 207
18,30¢ 21,07
(6,929) (10,66¢)
14z 10&
20¢ 26E

1 (67)
(6,576) (10,365

16€ 14€

(6,747 $ (10,517

0.39 $ (0.5¢)

039 $ (0.5€)




GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in thousands)

Years ended December 3

2014 2013
Net loss $ (6,749 $ (10,51)
Foreign currency translation adjustm (617) 82
Non-cash tax provision - (49)
Comprehensive loss $ (7,359 $ (10,479

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Balance, December 31, 20:

Stock-based compensation
expense

Net issuances of stot
pursuant to stock
compensation plar

Foreign currency translatic
adjustmen

Non-cash tax provisio

Treasury stock at co

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 20:

Stock-based compensation
expense

Foreign currency translatior
adjustmen

Net loss

Balance, December 31, 20:

GSE SYSTEMS, INC, AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(in thousands)

Common Additional Accumulated
Stock Paid-in  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Treasury Stock
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Shares Amount Total
19,43t $ 194 $ 71,35 $ (27,889 $ (647) (1,109 $ (2,180 $ 40,83(
- - 81C - - - - 81C
52 1 43 - - - - 44
- - - - 82 - - 82
- - - - (49) - - (49)
- - - - - (495) (819 (819
- - - (10,517) - - - (10,517)
19,487 $ 195 $ 72,20¢ $ (38,400 $ (614) (1,599 $ (2,999 $ 30,38}
- - 71z - - - - 71z
- - - - (617) - - (617)
- - - (6,742 - - - (6,742
19,487 $ 198 $ 72917 $ (45,147 $ (1,237) (1,599 $ (2,999 $ 23,74(

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby (used in) operating activitie

Goodwill impairment los:
Write-down of capitalized software development ct
Depreciatior
Amortization of definit-lived intangible asse
Capitalized software amortizatic
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Change in fair value of contingent considera
Stoclk-based compensation expel
Equity loss on investmen
Gain on derivative instrumen
Deferred income taxe
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Contract receivables, n
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable, accrued compensation and acexgzhse:
Billings in excess of revenue earr
Accrued warranty reservi
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activitie

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditure
Capitalized software development cc
Investment in GS-RUS LLC
Investment in IntelliQlik, LLC
Acquisition of Hyperspring, LLC, net of cash acepa
Restrictions of cash as collateral under lettersredit
Releases of cash as collateral under letters dftcre

Net cash used in investing activitie

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payments on line of crec
Proceeds from issuance of common st
Treasury stock purchas
Payments of the liabili-classified contingent consideration arrangem

Net cash used in financing activitie:

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Net decrease in cash and cash equiva

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Years ended December 3

2014 2013
$ (6,749 $ (10,519
= 4,46
- 2,17¢
54t 57C
19z 207
252 541
- 10
22¢ 254
712 81C
55 15€
(20¢) (265)
(22) (262)
10,28¢ (26)
2,24( 204
(2,136) (1,947
2,10¢ 531
(395) (256)
(467) 172
6,64¢ (3,176)
(39¢) (399)
(64¢€) (1,309)
- (46)
(250) -
(2,84%) -
(3,177) (22¢)
34 1,09¢
(7,280) (889
(410) -
- 44
- (81
(500) (1,899)
(910) (2,674
(51¢) (10)
(2,060) (6,749
15,64: 22,38t
$ 1358 $ 15,64:

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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GSE SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014, and 2013

1. Business and Basis of Presentation

GSE Systems, Inc. ("GSE Systems", "GSE" or the "@aimy") improves human performance through a sefiéschnologies and services 1
systematically helps clients with everything froetnuiting and selecting the right person for the fo training that individual throughout their ceu
from entrylevel to expert. We improve plant performance watbombination of engineering, simulation and pkenvices that help clients get tt
plants producing revenue faster, running them gafietl responsibly decommissioning them.

The Company's operations are subject to certaks asd uncertainties including, among others, régithnological changes, success o
Company's product development, marketing and Hidion strategies, the need to manage growth, #es o retain key personnel and prc
intellectual property, and the availability of afiloinal financing on terms acceptable to the Company

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statementtude the accounts of the Company and its whollyred subsidiaries. /
intercompany balances and transactions have bieeimaied.

Accounting estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptedha United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptions ffbet the reported amounts of assets and liatsliaed disclosure of contingent assets
liabilities at the date of the financial statememtsl the reported amounts of revenue and expensieg dhe reporting period. On an ongoing basie
Company evaluates the estimates used, includingdiuimited to those related to revenue recognijtibie allowance for doubtful accounts, estinm
of future warranty costs, impairments of goodwiltdeother intangible assets, valuation of intangdssets acquired and contingent consideration
paid in business acquisitions, valuation of stoakednl compensation awards, and income taxes. Aetsidts could differ from these estimates.
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Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue through (1) fixezeprontracts on the sale of uniquely designedesystcontaining hardware, software
other materials which applies only to the Perforogaimprovement Solutions segment as well as (2 &imd material contracts primarily through ¢
augmentation support and service agreements.

In accordance with U.S. generally accepted accogrgrinciples, the revenue under fixed-price cantrés accounted for on the percentage-
of-completion method. This methodology recognizeemnere and earnings as work progresses on the cbaimdcis based on an estimate of
revenue and earnings earned to date, less amaougnized in prior periods. The Company baseestsnate of the degree of completion of
contract by reviewing the relationship of costsuimed to date to the expected total costs that béllincurred on the project. Estimated con
earnings are reviewed and revised periodicalljhassork progresses, and the cumulative effect gfcliange in estimate is recognized in the peri
which the change is identified. Estimated lossescaarged against earnings in the period suchdasseidentified. The Company recognizes rev
arising from contract claims either as income oaa®ffset against a potential loss only when timewnt of the claim can be estimated reliably
realization is probable and there is a legal bafsike claim.

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pagemfeompletion method, it provides an accrual for eated future warranty co:
based on historical and projected claims experiefldee Company's long-term contracts generally ipl@dor a onerear warranty on parts, labor ¢
any bug fixes as it relates to software embeddehdrsystems.

The Company's system design contracts do not nbyrmpedvide for "post customer support service" (P@Sterms of software upgrad
software enhancements or telephone support. lerow obtain PCS, the customers must normally @geha separate contract. Such
arrangements are generally for a geewr period renewable annually and include custosnpport, unspecified software upgrades, and mzanis
releases. The Company recognizes revenue frora tlwegracts ratably over the life of the agreements

Revenue from the sale of software licenses whichataequire significant modifications or custontiaa for the Company's modeling to
are recognized when the license agreement is sighedicense fee is fixed and determinable, dejiveas occurred, and collection is consid
probable.

We evaluate our contracts for multiple deliverablesier ASC 60525 Revenue Recognition-Multiple Element Arrangemeaind whe
appropriate, separate the contracts into separat® of accounting for revenue recognitiorContracts with multiple element arrangements tylfyi
include, but are not limited to, components suchraiing, licenses, and PCS, as described aboubedded in the agreemenivhen a contra
contains multiple deliverables, the Company allesaevenue to each deliverable based on its relaglling price which is determined based o
vendor specific objective evidence ("VSOE") if dable, third party evidence ("TPE") if VSOE is rmtailable, or estimated selling price if neit
VSOE nor TPE is available.Amounts allocated to training and support servaaesbased on VSOE and revenue is deferred untehdces ha\
been performed. Amounts allocated to softwarenies are also based on VSOE. Revenue relatedtiwaseflicenses is recognized once the lic
has been delivered.

The Company recognizes revenue under time and iaateontracts primarily from staff augmentatiordasertain consulting agreemer
Revenue on time and material contracts is recogrageservices are rendered and performed. Untgical time-andmaterials billing arrangeme
customers are billed on a regularly scheduled pasish as biweekly or monthly. At the end of eachoanting period, revenue is estimated
accrued for services performed since the lashiiliycle. These unbilled amounts are billed thiefdhg month.
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Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on lahbighly liquid investments with maturities of éermonths or less at the date of purchase.

The Company had $7.5 million and $9.5 million defemsin an unrestricted money market account witegbiehanna Bank on December
2014 and 2013, respectively.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash consists of the cash collatera&izaif our outstanding letters of credit used farious advance payment, bid, surety
performance bonds, and negative foreign exchangdi@us which have been segregated into restrintedey market accounts with Susqueh:
Bank. Susguehanna has complete and unconditiongiot over the restricted money market accounts.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company hadajppately$4.2 million, and $1.1 million, respectiyeof cash in escrow accounts w
Susquehanna. The restricted cash balance hasclessified within the Consolidated Balance Sheefoflews; $613,000 of current assets,
$3.6 million of long term assets at December 31420 espectively, compared to $45,000 of curresetmsand $1.0 million of longerm assets
December 31, 2013. The Company recorded interestrie of $7,000 and $8,000 from the escrow accanrtte years ended December 31, 2014
2013, respectively. The interest earned on thesgicted funds is added to the restricted casanical We classify the restriction and release €
cash collateralization of our outstanding lettdrsredit as an investing activity within the coridated statement of cash flows, as these depasitsc
related to borrowings against our line of credit.

Contract receivables

Contract receivables include recoverable costsaaadued profit not billed which represents revere@gnized in excess of amounts bill
The liability "Billings in excess of revenue earhedpresents billings in excess of revenue recaghiz

Billed receivables are recorded at invoiced amauiitise allowance for doubtful accounts is basedistorical trends of past due accou
write-offs, and specific identification and revi@fcustomer accounts.

The activity in the allowance for doubtful accouistsis follows:

(in thousands As of and for the
Years ended December
2014 2013

Beginning balanc $ 2 % 2
Current year provisio 22 38
Acquired allowance for doubtful accour 20 -
Current year write-offs (22) (38)
Ending balance $ 22 % 2

Equipment, software and leasehold improvements, net

Equipment and purchased software are recordedsabod depreciated using the straitife- method with estimated useful lives ranging
three to ten years. Leasehold improvements aretemed over the life of the lease or the estimateeful life, whichever is shorter, using the sth&ig
line method. Upon sale or retirement, the cost r@hated depreciation are eliminated from the reype accounts and any resulting gain or lo:
included in operations. Maintenance and repairchaeged to expense as incurred.
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Software development costs

Certain computer software development costs aréatiapd in the accompanying consolidated balariveets in accordance with U
generally accepted accounting principles. Capié#ibn of computer software development costs lsegipon the establishment of technolog
feasibility. Capitalization ceases and amortizatbrcapitalized costs begins when the software ypeoés commercially available for general releas
customers. Amortization of capitalized computeftvgare development costs is included in cost oereie and is determined using the stralite-
method over the remaining estimated economic fifia® product, typically three years. On an anmaalis, and more frequently as conditions indi
the Company assesses the recovery of the unambdiziéware development costs by estimating theuneliscounted cash flows expected tc
generated by the sale of the product. If the wudisted cash flows are not sufficient to recoverthamortized software costs the Company will write
down the investment to its estimated fair valueebasn the future undiscounted cash flows. The o any unamortized computer software ¢
over the related net realizable value is writtewd@nd charged to operations.

During the second quarter of 2013, the Companyriedua charge of $2.2 million related to the wdtawn of certain capitalized softw:
development costs based on the net realizable aalalysis performed in conjunction with our goodiwipairment test.

Development expenditures

Development expenditures incurred to meet custospecifications under contracts are charged to aontcosts. Company sponsc
development expenditures are either charged taatipes as incurred and are included in sellingegainand administrative expenses or are capite
as software development costs. See No&o8ware development cost§ he amounts incurred for Company sponsored dpuant activities relatir
to the development of new products and servicesherimprovement of existing products and servicgsre approximately $3.8 million a
$2.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2abd, 2013, respectively.

Impairment of long-lived assets

Longdived assets, such as equipment, software, cagthlcomputer software costs subject to amortizatiord intangibles subject
amortization, are reviewed for impairment wheneseents or changes in circumstances indicate tleat#nrying amount of an asset may nc
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be hettl @ssed is measured by a comparison of the cargngunt of an asset to estimated undiscot
future cash flows expected to be generated bysbketa If the carrying amount of an asset excdedsstimated future cash flows, an impairment ot
is recognized at the amount by which the carryimpant of the asset exceeds the fair value of tketasAssets to be disposed of would be sepa
presented in the balance sheet and reported &ivitee of the carrying amount or fair value lesstsds sell, and would no longer be depreciated.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company's intangible assets include amountsgrézed in connection with business acquisitiomgluiding customer relationshi
contract backlog and software. Intangible assetsratially valued at fair market value using geally accepted valuation methods appropriate fe
type of intangible asset. Amortization is recoguizn a straighline basis over the estimated useful life of theamgible assets, except for cont
backlog and contractual customer relationships wisie recognized in proportion to the related mtej@ revenue streams. Intangible assets
definite lives are reviewed for impairment if indtors of impairment arise. The Company does nee fzeny intangible assets with indefinite us
lives.

We review goodwill for impairment annually as of Wanber 30 and whenever events or changes in citenees indicate the carrying va
of goodwill may not be recoverable in accordancia Wiccounting Standard s Update ("ASU") number 208Jand Accounting Standards Codifica
350, Intangibles — Goodwill and OthéASC 350).

ASU number 2011-08 outlines the qualitative assessifi.e., the "Step 0 Test") as a precursor tdrémditional twostep quantitative proce
The Step 0 Test effectively modifies Accountingrisi@rds Codification ("ASC") 350-20-35, GoodwillSubsequent Measurement. In general, the
0 Test allows an entity to first assess qualitafactors to determine whether it is more likelyrth#ot (i.e., more than 50%) that the Fair Value
reporting unit is less than its carrying value.olier to make this evaluation, the FASB outlindsvant examples and circumstances to con:
including:

General macroeconomic conditiol
Industry and market condition

Changes in cost factot

Overall financial performanc

Entity and reporting unit specific events, ¢

If the qualitative factors outlined in the Step &T indicates that the Fair Value of a reporting isngreater than its carrying value, thar
additional testing is performed. If the Step OtTiedicates the Fair Value of a reporting unitésd than its carrying value, we perform the adui
impairment test in accordance with the provisioh88C 350.

The provisions of ASC 350 require that we perfortwa-step impairment test on goodwill. In the first stegg compare the fair value of
reporting unit to its carrying value. The Compdmas two reporting units. If the fair value of tleporting unit exceeds the carrying value of tht
assets assigned to that unit, goodwill is not imggzhand we are not required to perform furtheingstIf the carrying value of the net assets assiigtc
the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of thgoréng unit, then we must perform the second stefhe impairment test in order to determine
implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwillhe implied fair value of goodwill is determinég allocating the fair value of the reporting (g
assets and liabilities in a manner similar to acpase price allocation, with any residual fair eaallocated to goodwill. If the carrying value bk
reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its implied fa@lue, then we record an impairment loss equahéodifference. Refer to Note &oodwill anc
Intangible Asset, for information on the $4.5 million goodwill impenent loss taken during 2013. No impairment Isssere recognized during 20
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Foreign currency translation
Balance sheet accounts for foreign operationsransiated at the exchange rate as of the balaeet dhte, and income statement accoun
translated at the average exchange rate for thedoeilhe resulting translation adjustments arduihed in accumulated other comprehensive |

Transaction gains and losses, resulting from chamge&xchange rates, are recorded in operatingriaca the period in which they occur. For
years ended December 31, 2014, and 2013, foreigaray transaction losses were approximately $18),8nd $111,000, respectively.

Accrued Warranty

As the Company recognizes revenue under the pagemfeompletion method, it provides an accrual for eated future warranty co:
based on historical experience and projected claims

The activity in the accrued warranty accounts ifolews:

(in thousands As of and for the
Years ended December {
2014 2013

Beginning balanc $ 1,851 $ 2,107
Current year provisio 66C 80¢
Current year claim (1,029 (1,065
Currency adjustmet (30 -
Ending balance $ 1,45¢ $ 1,851

Income taxes

Income taxes are provided under the asset anditjabiethod. Under this method, deferred incomeetaare determined based on
differences between the financial statement andé&ses of assets and liabilities using enactedati@s in effect for the year in which the differes
are expected to reverse. Valuation allowancegstablished, when necessary, to reduce deferreast®ets to the amounts expected to be realiz

provision is made for the Company's current ligépilor federal, state and foreign income taxes @redchange in the Company's deferred incom
assets and liabilities.

We establish accruals for uncertain tax positiahken or expected to be taken in a tax return whinmore likely than not (i.e., a likeliho
of more than fifty percent) that the position woblel sustained upon examination by tax authoritiestave full knowledge of all relevant informati
A recognized tax position is then measured at éngelst amount of benefit that is greater than fifeycent likely of being realized upon ultim
settlement. Favorable or unfavorable adjustmerihefaccrual for any particular issue would be recgd as an increase or decrease to incon
expense in the period of a change in facts andristances. Interest and penalties related to incares are accounted for as income tax expense.
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Stock-based compensation
Compensation expense related to share based aiwastognized on a pro rata straidine basis based on the value of share awardstk
scheduled to vest during the requisite serviceogeriDuring the twelve months ended December 3142@nd 2013 the Company recogn
$712,000, and $810,000, respectively, of pre-tacksbased compensation expense under the fair valuboohetAs of December 31, 2014,

Company had $0.7 million of unrecognized compensagixpense related to the unvested portion of andétg stock option awards expected ti
recognized through November 2016.

Loss per share

Basic loss per share is based on the weighted gevenamber of outstanding common shares for thegermiluted loss per share adjusts
weighted average shares outstanding for the patetitiition that could occur if stock options ormants were exercised.

The number of common shares and common share éepiisaised in the determination of basic and dillbss per share were as follows:

Years ended December ¢

2014 2013

Numerator:

Net loss attributed to common stockholders $ (6,742) $ (10,517
Denominator

Weightet-average shares outstanding for basic earningshpee 17,887,85 18,150,91

Effect of dilutive securities

Employee stock options and warrants - -

Adjusted weighted-average shares outstanding asuiresi conversions for diluted earnings per share 17,887,85 18,150,91

Shares related to dilutive securities excluded be@nclusion would be anti-dilutive 2,811,70! 2,919,52,

Conversion of outstanding stock options and wasrards not assumed for the years ended Decemb2034,and 2013 because the im
was anti-dilutive.
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Concentration of credit risk

The Company is subject to concentration of cradit with respect to contract receivables. Credik wn contract receivables is mitigatec
the nature of the Company's worldwide customer baskits credit policies. The Company's custoraegsnot concentrated in any specific geogre
region, but are concentrated in the energy indudthe following customers have provided more th@fb6lof the Company's consolidated coni
receivables for the indicated periods:

December 31
2014 2013

State Nuclear Power Automation System Engineeriog 10.2% 5.9%
Slovenské elektrarne, a 1.9% 35.9%

Fair values of financial instruments

The carrying amounts of current assets and culi@ritities reported in the consolidated balanceeth approximate fair value due to t
short term duration.

Contingent consideration for business acquisitions

Acquisitions may include contingent consideratiomyments based on future financial measures of aui@d company. Continge
consideration is required to be recognized at Value as of the acquisition date. We estimate #ievialue of these liabilities based on finan
projections of the acquired companies and estimptetabilities of achievement. At each reportinged@he contingent consideration obligatio
revalued to estimated fair value and changes invedue subsequent to the acquisition are refleictédcome or expense in the consolidated states
of operations, and could cause a material impacutooperating results. Changes in the fair valueomtingent consideration obligations may re
from changes in discount periods and rates, chaimgéke timing and amount of revenue and/or eamiegtimates and changes in probat
assumptions with respect to the likelihood of acinig the various earn-out criteria.

Deferred financing fees

The Company amortizes the cost incurred to obtabt énancing using the straighe method over the term of the underlying obligas.
The amortization of deferred financing costs iduded in interest expense. The Company recogr$28dd00 of expense related to the amortizatic
deferred financing costs during the year ended Dbee 31, 2013. The Company recognized no amadizatf deferred financing costs during
year ended December 31, 2014.
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Derivative instruments

The Company utilizes forward foreign currency exaecontracts to manage market risks associatédtmetfluctuations in foreign currer
exchange rates. It is the Company's policy to usd slerivative financial instruments to protectiagimarket risk arising in the normal cours:
business in order to reduce the impact of thesesxps. The Company minimizes credit exposurerhitifig counterparties to nationally recogni
financial institutions.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had foreigina@xge contracts outstanding of approximately QliBom Pounds Sterling, 1.4 millic
Euro, 0.8 million Australian Dollars, and 0.5 noli Malaysian Ringgits. At December 31, 2013, them@any had foreign exchange contr
outstanding of approximately 0.2 million Poundsri8tg, 13.3 million Euro, and 10.1 million Japaneén at fixed rates. The contracts expire
various dates through November 2016. The Compadyniot designated the foreign exchange contradtedges and had recorded the estimate
value of the contracts in the consolidated balathest as follows:

December 31

(in thousands 2014 2013
Asset derivative
Prepaid expenses and other current a: $ 71 % 14C
Other assets 21 2
92 147
Liability derivatives
Other current liabilitie: (23 (637)
Other liabilities (1) (18)
(24) (655)
Net fair value $ 68 $ (513)

The changes in the fair value of the foreign exgeacontracts are included in gain on derivativérimsents in the consolidated statemen
operations.

The foreign currency denominated trade receivahiaBilled receivables, billings in excess of revemarned and subcontractor accruals
are related to the outstanding foreign exchangdracts are remeasured at the end of each periodtlit functional currency using the cur
exchange rate at the end of the period. The galoss resulting from such remeasurement is astuded in gain on derivative instruments in
consolidated statement of operations.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, and 204 &dmpany recognized a net gain on its derivatiggriments as outlined below:

Years ended December ¢

(in thousands) 2014 2013

Foreign exchange contra- change in fair valu $ 36 $ (489

Remeasurement of related contract receivables ilimtyb in excess of revenue earned (15€) 754
$ 20¢ % 26E
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Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiedhform with the current year presentation.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not dteitéd

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards rBo@FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update (UAS2014-09, Revenue fro
Contracts with Customerswhich provides guidance for revenue recognitibine standard's core principle is that a company re@dognize revent
when it transfers promised goods or services ttoousrs in an amount that reflects the consideratiowhich the company expects to be entitle
exchange for those goods or services. In doingampanies will need to use more judgment and matee rastimates than under today's guide
These may include identifying performance obligagion the contract, estimating the amount of vadeialmnsideration to include in the transac
price and allocating the transaction price to esgarate performance obligation. This guidanceheleffective for the Company in the first quan
its fiscal year ending December 31, 2017, and imtg@reriods therein, using either of the followimgrisition methods: (i) a full retrospective appit
reflecting the application of the standard in eacior reporting period with the option to elect teém practical expedients, or (ii) a retrospec
approach with the cumulative effect of initially galing ASU 201409 recognized at the date of adoption (which inetucdditional footno
disclosures). The Company is currently in the psecef evaluating the impact of its pending adoptdrthis ASU on the Company's combi
financial statements and has not yet determinedgt@od by which it will adopt the standard in 2017
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3. Acquisitions
Hyperspring, LLC

On November 14, 2014, (the "Closing Date") the Canyp through its operating subsidiary, GSE Powest&ys, Inc. ("GSE Power'
acquired Hyperspring, LLC ("Hyperspring") pursudaata Membership Interests Purchase Agreement (WHasec Agreement") with the sellers
Hyperspring ("Sellers"). Hyperspring, headquaddreHuntsville, Alabama, specializes in trainingdadevelopment, plant operations support sen
and staff augmentation, primarily in the United t&anuclear industry. Hyperspring operates as allyowned subsidiary of GSE Power. ~
purchase price allocation included customer rafatiip intangible assets valued at $779,000 whielbaing amortized over seven years.

GSE Power paid the Sellers an aggregate of $3lmih cash at the closing datelyperspring is in the process of bidding on a resle its
current contract with the Tennessee Valley AutlyofTVA"). If Hyperspring is successful in renewgirthe TVA contract for substantially the se
scope as currently being provided and at a praditgim that is greater than 15% on or before May2085, GSE will pay the Hyperspring member
additional $1.2 million. In addition, GSE Power may be required, pursuanthéterms of the Purchase Agreement, to pay tlierSeup to a
additionalan additional $7.2 million if Hyperspring attainsrain EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes,rdefation and amortization) targets
the three-year period ending November 13, 20However, if Hyperspring is not successful in remegvihe TVA contracts, GSE may still be requ
to pay the Sellers up to an additional $8.4 millibpHyperspring attains certain EBITDA (earningddre interest, taxes, depreciation and amortizy
targets for the thregear period ending November 13, 2017. Whetheratrtine TVA contract is renewed the total cash gaidhe Hypersprin
members may total $11.4 million.

In conjunction with the Hyperspring acquisition, EBower invested $250,000 for a 50% interest ielli@lik, LLC (“IntelliQlik") and is
obligated to contribute an additional $250,000 uf@nattainment by IntelliQlik of certain milestaéntelliQlik is jointly owned by GSE Power an
former member of Hyperspring. See Note 17 in théellto Consolidated Financial Statements in Itefor 8urther discussion related to IntelliQlik.

To assist our clients in creating worthss internal training and performance improvenpeagrams, GSE is building an E2E (Entry2Exf
Performance Solution. The Performance Solutiohugfes a set of integrated and scalable productssandces that provide a structured trail
program, from employee selection and onboardingutin continuous skills improvement for experieneetployees. The Hyperspring acquisit
through its staff of instructors, engineers andciist, and the IntelliQlik training platform, oacompleted, will increase the breadth of solutithrae
GSE can offer within the E2E Performance Soluticogpam.

Hyperspring's results of operations are includetthéconsolidated financial statements for theqoebeginning November 14, 2014.
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The following table summarizes the purchase pricd purchase price allocation for the acquisitionHyfperspring, LLC, acquired
November 14, 201«

(Dollars in thousand
Hyperspring, LLC

Cash purchase pri $ 3,00(¢
Fair value of contingent consideration 3,95:¢
Total purchase price $ 6,95¢
Purchase price allocatio
Cash $ 152
Contract receivable 1,71¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 23
Property and equipment, r 12
Intangible assel 77¢
Goodwill 5,612
Total assets 8,29
Line of credit 74¢
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and othélitleh 58€
Billings in excess of revenue earr 9
Total liabilities 1,34«
Net assets acquired $ 6,95¢

Pro forma results. Our consolidated financial statements includedperating results of Hyperspring as of the dateasfuisition. For tr
twelve months ended Decemisdr, 2014 and 2013, the unaudited pro forma findmcfarmation below assumes that our material bessnacquisitic
of Hyperspring occurred on January 1, 2013.

(in thousands except per share de (unaudited)

Year ende(

December 31

Pro forma financial information including the acsjtion of Hyperspring 2014 2013
Revenue $ 53,61: $ 66,58
Operating los: (6,149 (10,539
Net loss (5,979) (2,71
Loss per common share — basic $ (0.3 $ (0.57)
Loss per common share — diluted $ (0.39) $ (0.57)
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Contingent Consideration

ASC Topic 805 requires that contingent considerabie recognized at fair value on the acquisitiote dand be reneasured each report
period with subsequent adjustments recognized enctinsolidated statement of operations. We estitthegtefair value of contingent considerai
liabilities based on financial projections of thegaired companies and estimated probabilities bfesement and discount the liabilities to pre
value using a weightedverage cost of capital. Contingent consideratiomaiued using significant inputs that are not oledgle in the market whi
are defined as Level 3 inputs pursuant to fair @aheasurement accounting. We believe our estinaag@ssumptions are reasonable, however,
is significant judgment involved. At each reportidgte, the contingent consideration obligatioreigatued to estimated fair value, and changes r
value subsequent to the acquisitions are refleictéacome or expense in the consolidated statenmmperations, and could cause a material in
to, and volatility in, our operating results. Chaadn the fair value of contingent consideratiofigattions may result from changes in discount s
changes in the timing and amount of revenue anel#onings estimates and changes in probability gssons with respect to the likelihood
achieving the various earn-out criteria.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, contingent cenatibn included in the other current liabilities the consolidated balance sheet tof
$2.8 million and $492,000, respectively. As of Beber 31, 2014 and 2013, we also had accruedngemti consideration totaling $1.9 million
$409,000, respectively, which is included in othamg-term liabilities on the consolidated balance ste@ represents the portion of conting
consideration estimated to be payable greatertthaelve months from the balance sheet date.

(in thousands
December 31

2014 2013
Hyperspring, LLC $ 2,152 $ =
IntelliQlik, LLC 21z -
EnVision Systems, Inc 477 492
Current contingent consideration 2,84z 492
Hyperspring, LLC 1,94¢ -
EnVision Systems, Inc. - 40¢
Contingent consideration $ 1,94¢ $ 40¢
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4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for ylears ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 were awfo{in thousands):

Net book value at December 31, 2( $ 4,50z
2013 Activity
Goodwill impairment los: (4,4672)
Foreign currency translation (40)
Net book value at December 31, 2( $ =
2014 Activity
Acquisition 5,612
Net book value at December 31, 2( $ 5,612

We review goodwill for impairment annually as of Wanber 30 and whenever events or changes in citenees indicate the carrying va
of an asset may not be recoverable. We test gobdivihe reporting unit level. A reporting unit @ operating segment, or one level beloy
operating segment, as defined by U.S. generallemed accounting principles. After the acquisitioin Hyperspring, LLC ("Hyperspring") ¢
November 14, 2014, our reporting units are: (i)féxenance Improvement Solutions and (ii) Staff Augmtagion. At December 31, 2014, the total ¢
million balance of goodwill was represented by Hgpeing or our Staff Augmentation segment.

Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2011-08esting Goodwill for Impairment("ASU 201108") permits an entity to first ass
qualitative factors to determine whether it is mbkely than not that the fair value of a reportingit is less than its carrying amount as a bas
determining whether it is necessary to performtivee step goodwill impairment test. Under ASU 2d18,-an entity is not required to perform step
of the goodwill impairment test for a reporting wifiit is more likely than not that its fair value greater than its carrying amount. For our at
goodwill impairment test, we performed a qualitatassessment as permitted by ASU 20&Ter the Staff Augmentation reporting unit. Bas the
reporting unit's positive revenue, order and graasgin results since the acquisition, we determited it was more likely than not that the fairuwex
of each of our reporting units exceeded their repe carrying values.

Based upon indicators of impairment in the secondrtgr of 2013, which included a substantial desgein the Company's mar
capitalization following the announcement of ther@any's first quarter 2013 earnings, and signifigdower than projected revenue and profits
result of a change in market conditions, the Compgmerformed an interim impairment test as of Jube2813.

The fair value of our reporting unit was estimateihg a combination of appropriately weighted ineoamd market approaches. The
flows employed in the income approach were baseduommost recent forecasts and business plansai®etin the second quarter of 2013, as wk
various growth rate assumptions for the years beyba current business plan period, discountedgusinestimated weighted average cost of c:
("WACC"). The WACC is comprised of (1) a risk freste of return, (2) an equity and size risk pramihat is based on the rate of return on equi
publicly traded companies with business charadiesisomparable to our reporting unit, (3) the entraftertax market rate of return on debt
companies with business characteristics similautoreporting unit, each weighted by the relativerket value percentages of our equity and debr
(4) an industry and specific company risk factor.

The results of the ASC 350 Step 1 goodwill impaimin@nalysis indicated that the estimated fair vaifieur reporting unit was less than
carrying value. The reporting unit was unfavoraibtpacted by a combination of lower current andguted cash flows. Because our reporting t
fair value estimate was lower than its carryingrealwe applied the second step of the goodwill tesiccordance with ASC 350.

The second step of the goodwill impairment analys@icated that the carrying values of the goodwaskociated with the reporting L
exceeded its implied fair value resulting in a $#ilion non-deductible goodwill impairment charge. As a resftiithe analysis, the company recor
a full impairment loss. The impairment was reash in nature and did not affect the Company'saufiquidity, and did not impact the debt covets
under the Company's existing credit facility.
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Intangible Assets Subject to Amortizat

The following table shows the gross carrying amoantl accumulated amortization of defirliteed intangibles related to continui
operations:

(in thousands) As of December 31, 201
Gross Carrying Amou Accumulated Amortizatic  Net

Amortized intangible asset

Customer relationshi $ 1,42t $ (695 % 73C
Non-contractual customer relationshi 911 (61¢) 292
Developed technolog 471 (23¢€) 23k
In process research and developn 152 (136) 16
Contract backlog 36 (36) -
Trade names and oth 29 (29) -
Foreign currency translation 7 (2) 5

Total $ 3,031 $ (1,752 $ 1,27¢

(in thousands As of December 31, 201

Gross Carrying Amou Accumulated Amortizatic  Net

Amortized intangible asset

Customer relationshig $ 64€ $ (64¢€) $ =
Non-contractual customer relationshi 911 (557) 354
Developed technolog 471 77 294
In process research and developn 152 (2279 25
Contract backloy 36 (36) -
Trade names and oth 29 (29 -
Foreign currency translation 52 (16) 36

Total $ 2,297 $ (1,589 $ 70¢

Amortization is recognized on a straidimte basis over the estimated useful life of theamgible assets, except for contractual cust
relationships and contract backlog, which is re@gphin proportion to the related projected revesmeams. The Company reviews specific definite-
lived intangibles for impairment when events octhat may impact their value in accordance with rémpective accounting guidance for |digd
assets. There were no impairment charges recéodélge years ended December 31, 2014, and 2013.

Amortization expense related to definiteed intangible assets totaled $193,000, and ¥#¥ for the years ended December 31, 2014
2013, respectively. The following table shows #stimated amortization expense of the defiliited intangible assets for the next five years
thereafter:

(in thousands
Fiscal year ending

2015 $ 494
2016 29¢€
2017 207
2018 16C
2019 74
Thereafter 48

$ 1,27¢
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5. Contract Receivable:

Contract receivables represent balances due frdrad base of both domestic and international custs. All contract receivables
considered to be collectible within twelve montRecoverable costs and accrued profit not billedesgnt costs incurred and associated profit ac
on contracts that will become billable upon futarigéestones or completion of contracts. The comptef contract receivables are as follows:

(in thousands)

Billed receivable:

Recoverable costs and accrued profit not b

Allowance for doubtful accoun
Total contract receivables, net

6. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expenses and other current assets cohtist following:

(in thousands

Prepaid expenst
Deferred income tax- current
Value added tax receivak

Receivable from sale of 49% stake in (-:UNIS

Other current assets
Total

December 31

2014 2013
$ 10,79: $ 19,04(
5,06( 5,51¢

(22) )

$ 15,83( $ 24,55!

December 31

2014 2013
$ 53¢ $ 63C
27 13
53¢ 40¢
- 1,182
604 1,464
$ 1,70: $ 3,69¢

In 2013, the Company agreed to sell its 49% stakeGISE-UNIS Simulation Technology Co., Ltd ("G&EIS") to its partne
Beijing Unis Venture Capital Co., Ltd. and termimdhe joint venture agreement as of July 31, 20h@ sales price was basically equivalent tc

Company's investment in GSE-UNIS as of the closlaig.




7. Equipment, Software and Leasehold Improvement

Equipment, software and leasehold improvementsisioofthe following:

(in thousands) December 31
2014 2013

Computer equipmer $ 3,23t % 3,30¢
Software 1,42¢ 1,34¢
Leasehold improvemen 543 44¢€
Furniture and fixtures 1,84¢ 1,992
7,05t 7,09C
Accumulated depreciation (5,229 (5,175
Equipment, software and leasehold improvements $ 1,82¢ $ 1,91¢

Depreciation expense was $545,000 and $570,000doyears ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, raspegct

8. Software Development Costs, net

Software development costs, net consist of thevotig:

(in thousands December 31

2014 2013
Beginning Balanci $ 1,02C $ 2,42¢
Additions 64€ 1,30¢
Amortization (252) (5417)
Impairments - (2,179
Ending Balance $ 1,412 $ 1,02(

Software development costs capitalized were $0léomiand $1.3 million for the years ended Decentiitr2014 and 2013, respective
Amortization of software development costs captadiwas $252,000 and $541,000 for the years endedriber 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively
was included in cost of revenue.

During the second quarter of 2013, the Companyrieduan impairment charge of $2.2 million relatedhe writedown of certain capitaliz
software development costs based on the net rbldizalue analysis.
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9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

ASC 820Fair Value Measurements and Disclosudefines fair value as the exchange price that wbeldeceived for an asset or pair
transfer a liability (an exit price) in the printgpor most advantageous market for the asset bilitiain an orderly transaction between ma
participants on the measurement date. ASC 820easlstlishes a fair value hierarchy which requiregmtity to maximize the use of observable in
and minimize the use of unobservable inputs wheasoméng fair value.

The levels of the fair value hierarchy establishgdASC 820 are:

Level 1: inputs are quoted prices, unadjustedgctive markets for identical assets or liabilitieat the reporting entity has the ability to ac
at the measurement date.

Level 2: inputs are other than quoted prices ietuwithin Level 1 that are observable for the asséability, either directly or indirectly.
Level 2 input must be observable for substantiddé/full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3: inputs are unobservable and reflect #porting entity's own assumptions about the asdonmgpthat market participants would us
pricing the asset or liability.

The Company considers the recorded value of ceofdis financial assets and liabilities, which st primarily of cash equivalents, accot
receivable and accounts payable, to approximatdainevalue of the respective assets and liabdlité December 31, 2014 and December 31,
based upon the short-term nature of the assetbadniliies.

The Company had $7.5 million and $9.5 million defms in an unrestricted money market account witlsdBehanna Bank
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company was contigéable for twelve standby letters of credit ande surety bonds totaling $4.2 mill
which represent advance payment and performancasbam eleven contracts. The Company has depdsigeflll value of eleven standby letters
credit, $4.2 million, into money market escrow agaus which have been restricted in that the Commphgs not have access to these funds un
related letters of credit have expired. The cashideen recorded on the Company's balance sheetahiber 31, 2014 as restricted cash and teng-
restricted cash depending on the expiration dateeotinderlying letters of credit.
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The following table presents assets and liabilitesasured at fair value at December 31, 2014:

Quoted Prices Significant Significant
in Active Markets Other Observab Unobservabl
for Identical Asse! Inputs Inputs
(in thousands (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Money market fund $ 11,66. $ - $ - $ 11,66
Foreign exchange contracts - 92 - 92
Total assets $ 11,66: $ 92 $ - $ 11,75
Foreign exchange contracts $ - $ (24) $ - $ (24)
Total liabilities $ - $ (24) $ - 3 (24)
The following table presents assets and liabilitesasured at fair value at December 31, 2013:
Quoted Price Significant Significant
in Active Markets Other Observab Unobservabl
for Identical Asse! Inputs Inputs
(in thousands) (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
Money market fund $ 10,55! $ - $ - 10,55:
Foreign exchange contracts - 142 - 142
Total asset: $ 10,55! $ 14z $ - $ 10,69t
Foreign exchange contra $ -3 (655) $ - 3 (655)
Total liabilities $ -3 (655) $ -3 (655)

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2018 dimpany did not have any transfers between fairevaevel 1 and Level 2.
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10. Long-Term Debt

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company hadmgpterm debt.

Line of Credit

Susquehanna Bank

At December 31, 2014, the Company had a Master Lavah Security Agreement and Revolving Credit Nofiéh vBusquehanna Ba
("Susquehanna"). The Company and its subsidiaBf B8erformance Solutions, Inc., were jointly andesally liable as cdsorrowers. The Loz
Agreement provides a $7.5 million revolving line akdit for the purpose of (i) issuing stamgldetters of credit and (ii) providing working deg.
Working capital advances bear interest at a rataleg the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate of Irderfoating with a floor of 4 1/2%. The agreen
expires on March 31, 2015.

As collateral for the Company's obligations, ther(any granted a first lien and security intereslirof the assets of the Company, incluc
but not limited to, accounts receivable, proceedb@oducts, intangibles, trademarks, patentsllécteial property, machinery and equipment.

On September 9, 2014, the Company signed a Thirdp@ehensive Amendment to the Master Loan and Sgcligreement. According
the Third Amendment, the Company is to maintaiegregated cash collateral account at Susquehanmad8aal to the greater of (i) $3.0 million
(i) the aggregate principal amounts of all Loansstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility (uding any issued and outstanding letters of c)
working capital advances, and negative foreign arge positions) as security for the Company's abibgs. Under this Amendment, Susqueh:
Bank shall have complete and unconditional cordvelr the cash collateral account.

On September 30, 2014, Susquehanna Bank collaedalthe outstanding letters of credit issued unter line of credit. A
December 31, 2014, the cash collateral accourietb®t.2 million and was classified as restrictashcon the balance sheet.

The credit agreement contains certain restrictiveenants regarding future acquisitions and incueeaf debt. In addition, the cre
agreement contains financial covenants with resjoettte Company's cash flow coverage ratio, minintangible capital base, quick ratio, and tanc
capital base ratio.

As of
Covenan December 31, 201
Cash flow coverage rat Must Exceed 1.20 : 1.C -12.11 : 1.0C
Minimum tangible capital bas Must Exceed $26.0 millio $15.4 million
Quick ratio Must Exceed 2.00 : 1.C 1.57:1.0C
Tangible capital base rat Not to Exceed .75 : 1.C 1.44:1.0C

As of December 31, 2014, the Company was not inptiamce with any of its covenants as defined abbegever, the Company has recei
a written waiver from Susquehanna Bank for noncémnpk.
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IberiaBank

On November 14, 2014, the acquisition date, HypergpLLC had a $1.0 million working capital liné oredit with IberiaBank. Interest w
payable monthly at a rate of the prime rate ofregeas published in the money rate section of\fa# Street Journal plus 2.50%. The effective &
November 14, 2014 was 5.750%. The line was secimgdall accounts and was guaranteed by the memberslyperspring, LLC. A
November 14, 2014 the outstanding balance on tieedf credit was $749,00

On December 7, 2014, the working capital line ofdir matured while the Company was renegotiating nlew terms with IberiaBa
subsequent to the acquisition of Hyperspring. @nuary 22, 2015, a promissory note was executedeleet Hyperspring, LLC and IberiaBank
extend the $1.0 million line of credit until Jun®,2015. Under the new terms, interest is payaldathly at a rate of the prime rate of interes
published in the money rate section of the Wak&tdournal plus 1.00 %. The effective rate attite of the promissory note was 4.25 %. The li
secured by all accounts and guaranteed by GSErBystec.

At December 31, 2014 the outstanding balance ofirteef credit was $339,000. Subsequent to yedr the outstanding balance on the line
of credit was repaid.

The Company draws on the IberiaBank line of cradineeded mainly to provide for payroll funding fyperspring. The line is replenist
through collection of receivables obtained in thiofving weeks.
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11. Income Taxes

The consolidated loss before income taxes, by dtierasd foreign sources, is as follows:

(in thousands Years ended December
2014 2013
Domestic $ (4,609 $ (7,799
Foreign (1,96%) (2,56%)
Total $ (6,576) $ (10,36%)

The provision for income taxes is as follows:

(in thousands) Years ended December :
2014 2013
Current:
Federal $ - $ 4
State 10 22
Foreign 17¢ 382
Subtotal 18¢€ 40¢
Deferred:
Federal 24 -
Foreign (46) (262)
Subtotal (22) (262)
Total $ 16€ $ 14€

The Company is entitled to a deduction for fedeaatl state tax purposes with respect to employdesk option activity. As ¢
December 31, 2014, the Company had $5.4 millioarwécognized excess tax deductions related to cesagien for stock option exercises which
be recognized when the net operating loss carrguaisvare fully utilized and those excess tax benedsult in a reduction to income taxes payable.

The effective income tax rate differed from thesttary federal income tax rate due to the following

Effective Tax Rate Percentage (
Years ended December {

2014 2013

Statutory federal income tax re 34.0% 34.0%
State income taxes, net of federal tax betr (0.1)% (0.1)%
Effect of foreign operation (20.2)% (6.9)%
Tax benefit resulting from OCI allocatic 0.0% 0.5%
Change in valuation allowant (22.8)% (212.1)%
Other, principally permanent differenc (3.4)% (16.8)%

Effective tax rate (2.5)% (1.4)%
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Deferred income taxes arise from temporary diffeesnbetween the tax bases of assets and liabiditidstheir reported amounts in
financial statements. A summary of the tax eftédhe significant components of the deferred inedax liabilities is as follows:

(in thousands) Years ended December
2014 2013
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 7,748 $ 5,58¢
Capital loss carryforwarc 61F 703
Accruals 48t 337
Reserve: 521 611
Alternative minimum tax credit carryforwar 16€ 16€
Other 1,484 1,701
Total deferred tax ass 11,01¢ 9,107
Valuation allowance (10,006 (7,057)
Total deferred tax asset less valuation allow: 1,01C 2,05(C

Deferred tax liabilities

Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidi (102) (1,229
Software development cos (542) (389
Other (397) (497
Total deferred tax liability (1,047 (2,107%)
Net deferred tax liabilit $ (31) $ (53)

In assessing the realizability of deferred tax @msgaanagement considers whether it is more likedy not that some or all of the deferrec
assets will not be realized. The ultimate realmatf deferred tax assets is dependent upon thergtion of future taxable income during the perim
which those temporary differences become deductiManagement considers the scheduled reversatfefréd tax liabilities and projected fut
income in making this assessment.

Management believes that the Company will achieeditable operations in future years that will eleathe Company to recover the ber
of its deferred tax assets. However, other tharafportion of the deferred tax assets that areeeteo the Company's Indian subsidiary, the Com
presently does not have sufficient objective evideto substantiate the recovery of the deferrecsaets. Accordingly, the Company has establis
full $10.0 million valuation allowance on its U.SSwedish, and Chinese deferred tax assets at Dec&hp2014. The valuation allowance
deferred tax assets increased by $2.9 million it2@nd increased by $31,000 in 2013.

The Company has recorded a deferred tax liabiitthe amount of $24,000 at December 31, 2014 ,imgléd the tax amortization of goodv
that cannot be offset by deferred tax assets bectngsanticipated reversal of the deferred taxilitglis outside of the anticipated reversal of
deferred tax assets.
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At December 31, 2014, the Company's largest defdame asset of $6.8 million primarily relates tdJ&. net operating loss carryforwarc
$19.1 million which expires in various amounts begw 2020 and 2034. The amount of U.S. loss camyf@ which can be used by the Comg
each year is limited due to changes in the Compamyhership which occurred in 2003. Thus, a portth the Company's loss carryforward r
expire unutilized.

Uncertain Tax Positions

During 2014 and 2013, the Company also recordeg0$R0and $187,000, respectively, of tax liabilities certain foreign tax contingenci
respectively. The Company made payments of $201a0@ $103,000 during 2014 and 2013, respectivelgted to these foreign tax liabilities. ~
Company recorded these uncertain tax positiongharaurrent liabilities on the consolidated baksbeet, and recorded the associated intere
penalties as a component of income tax expens2014 and 2013, the Company accrued $2,000 an@®2f0nterest and penalties, respectively.

Intraperiod tax allocation

The Company utilizes the with-and-without intraperiax allocation approach as described in ASC 2848512 which results in the use
the windfall tax benefits being utilized last.

12. Capital Stock

The Company's Board of Directors has authorize@®2000 total shares of capital stock, of which080,000 are designated as com
stock and 2,000,000 are designated as preferrell. siche Board of Directors has the authority ttakksh one or more classes of preferred stocl
to determine, within any class of preferred stabk, preferences, rights and other terms of sudscla

As of December 31, 2014, the Company has resen@sb240 shares of common stock for issuance; 273&hares upon exercise
outstanding stock options; and 1,147,967 sharefufore grants under the Company's 1995 Long-Teweritive Plan.

Share Repurchase Plan

On March 21, 2011, the Board of Directors authatitee purchase of up to $3.0 million of the Compampmmon stock in accordance v
the safe harbor provisions of Rule 10®-of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. The @Gamy completed the share repurchase program inb&
2013 and thus did not repurchase shares during.20hé Company repurchased 494,424 shares at aagagg cost of $819,000 in the year er
December 31, 2013.

Preferred Stock Righ

On March 21, 2011, the Board of Directors of tharfpany declared a dividend, payable to holders adnee as of the close of business
April 1, 2011, of one preferred stock purchasetrigh'Right") for each outstanding share of commstatk, par value $0.01 per share, of the Com
(the "Common Stock™). In addition, the Companylwdkue one Right with each new share of CommomrkSissued. In connection therewith,
March 21, 2011, the Company entered into a StoddrdProtection Rights Agreement (as amended frome to time, the Rights Agreement) v
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as RigAgent, which has a term of three years, unlessnaded by the Board of Directors
accordance with the terms of the Rights Agreeménm. March 21, 2014 , the Rights Agreement was aeeitd extend the term an additional
years. The Rights Agreement will now expire on &fea21, 2016. The Rights will initially trade wiind be inseparable from the Common Stock
will not be evidenced by separate certificates sslthey become exercisable. Each Right entitlefidtder to purchase from the Company one-
hundredth of a share of participating preferrealsteaving economic and voting terms similar to @@mmon Stock at an exercise price of $8.0(
Right, subject to adjustment in accordance withténens of the Rights Agreement, once the Right®imecexercisable. Under the Rights Agreen
the Rights become exercisable if any person ormemquires 20% or more of the Common Stock orhéndase of any person or group that ov
20% or more of the Common Stock as of March 21,12@pon the acquisition of any additional sharesbgh person or group. The Company
subsidiaries, employee benefit plans of the Compmarany of its subsidiaries and any entity hold@@mmon Stock for or pursuant to the terms of
such plan are accepted. Upon exercise of the Rigitcordance with the Rights Agreement, the hobd®uld be able to purchase a number of st
of Common Stock from the Company having an aggeegairket price (as defined in the Rights Agreemegtjal to twice the thecdrrent exercis
price for an amount in cash equal to the thement exercise price. In addition, the Comparay nin certain circumstances and pursuant to times
of the Rights Agreement, exchange the Rights far simare of Common Stock or an equivalent secusityeéich Right or, alternatively, redeem
Rights for $0.001 per Right. The Rights will neépent a takeover of our Company, but may causstantial dilution to a person that acquires 20
more of the Company's Common Stock.
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13. Stocl-Based Compensatior
Lonc-term incentive plan

During 1995, the Company established the 1995 LBergn Incentive Stock Option Plan (the "Plan"), whigermits the granting of stc
options (including incentive stock options and ngalified stock options) stock appreciation rightsstricted or unrestricted stock awards, pha
stock, performance awards or any combination afehte employees, directors or consultants. Optionsirchase shares of the Company's con
stock under the Plan expire in either seven oy&ans from the date of grant and become exercisaliteee, five, or seven installments with a de
percentage of options vesting on the first annaugref the grant date and additional options vestin each of the subsequent anniversaries of e
date, subject to acceleration under certain cirtantgs. The Plan expires on June 30, 2018; thé tatmber of shares that could be issued und
Plan is 5,500,000. As of December 31, 2014, 1/&Bshares have been issued under the Plan, 27B808@k options were outstanding undel
Plan, while 1,147,967 stock options remained tgraated under the Plan.

The Company recognizes compensation expense amratarstraight-line basis over the requisite serygieriod for stoclkased compensati
awards with both graded and cliff vesting term$ie Tompany recognizes the cumulative effect ofamngh in the number of awards expected to
in compensation expense in the period of chande Qompany has not capitalized any portion oft@sksbased compensation.

During the years ended December 31, 2014, and 20i3,Company recognized $712,000, and $810,00@ecésely, of stockease:
compensation expense under the fair value method.

Stock option activity
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Coyngeanted stock options to purchase 158,573 stidresmmon stock to GSE direct

and employees. During the year ended Decembe&t3B, the Company granted stock options to purcB88¢000 shares of common stock to ¢
directors and employers.

Information with respect to stock option activity @f and for the year ended December 31, 2014fsllas/s:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Aggregate Remaining
Number Exercise Intrinsic Contractual Lif
of Share: Price Value (in thousand (Years)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 3,035,988 $ 3.3¢
Options grante: 158,57: 2.0
Options exercise - -
Options forfeitec (486,28) 4.3F
Options outstanding at December 31, 2014 2,708,27. 312 $ - 3.5¢
Options expected to vest 681,98 22: % . 4.4€
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 _ 2,026,290 g 342 $ - 3.2%
Information with respect to stock option activity @f and for the year ended December 31, 2013fsllas/s:
Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Aggregate Remaining
Number Exercise Intrinsic Contractual Lif
of Shares Price Value (in thousand (Years)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 3,070,80: $ 3.4C
Options grante: 293,00( 1.7¢€
Options exercise (162,000) 1.62
Options forfeited (165,811 2.71
Options outstanding at December 31, 2013 3,035,98 336 $ - 4.32
Options expected to vest 1,287,80. 237 $ - 5.2¢
Options exercisable at December 31, 2013 1,748,181 ¢ 412 $ - 3.62
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A summary of the status of the Company's nonvegt¢idns as of and for the year ended December@®Y B presented below.

Number of Shar¢ Weighted Average Fair Val

Nonvested options at December 31, 2 1,287,80. $ 1.3<
Options grante: 158,57: 0.67
Options forfeitec (190,437) 1.2¢
Options vested during the period (573,959 1.2¢
Nonvested options at December 31, 2 681,98! g 1.22

A summary of the status of the Company's nonvegt¢idns as of and for the year ended December@®13 B presented below.

Number of Share Weighted Average Fair Val

Nonvested options at December 31, 2 1,750,10 $ 1.43
Options grante: 293,00( 0.9C
Options forfeitec (120,64¢) 1.1¢
Options vested during the period (634,660 1.4¢
Nonvested options at December 31, 2 1,287,80. ¢ 1.37

The fair value of the options granted in 2014 a@ii®were estimated on the date of grant using ekBszholes optiompricing model with th
following assumptions:

Years ended December ¢

2014 2013
Risk-free interest rate 1.29- 2.15% .85- 1.68%
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Expected life 3.81- 7.00 year: 5.49- 7.00 year:
Volatility 49.89- 50.34% 51.31- 56.80%
Weighted average volatilit 50.06% 52.46%

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had $0.7anillif unrecognized compensation expense relatédetanvested portion of outstand
stock options expected to be recognized on a fieosteaight line basis over a weighted average iréntaservice period of approximately 4.48 years.

No stock options were exercised during the yeaedrdecember 31, 2014. The Company received caghdaexercise price associated \
stock options exercised of $44,000 and the totainsic value realized by participants on stockiam exercised was $57,000 during the year €
December 31, 2013.
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14. Commitments and Contingencie
Leases

The Company is obligated under certain noncancelapkrating leases for office facilities and equepin Future minimum lease payme
under noncancelable operating leases as of Dece3ih@014 are as follows:

(in thousands Gross Future

Minimum Leas
Payments

2015 $ 1,162
2016 897
2017 82:
2018 74¢€
2019 612
Thereafter 1,867
Total $ 6,10¢

Total rent expense under operating leases ford¢hesyended December 31, 2014, and 2013, was ap@t@ty $1.4 million, and $1.1 millio
respectively.

Standby Letters of credit, bank guarantees, suvehds and performance bonds

As of December 31, 2014, the Company was contifgéable for twelve standby letters of credit amde surety bonds totaling $4.2 mill
which represent advance payment and performancasbom eleven contracts. The Company has depdsigeflll value of eleven standby letters
credit, $4.2 million, into money market escrow aaus which have been restricted in that the Commphes not have access to these funds un
related letters of credit have expired. The caghide®n recorded on the Company's balance sheetaniber 31, 2014 as restricted cash and teng-
restricted cash depending on the expiration dateeotinderlying letters of credit.

Contingencies

Various actions and proceedings are presently pgnth which the Company is a party. In the opin@inmanagement, the aggrec
liabilities, if any, arising from such actions aret expected to have a material adverse effedi@financial position, results of operations orcigws
of the Company.

15. Employee Benefits

The Company has a qualified defined contributioanpthat covers substantially all U.S. employeeseurkection 401(k) of the Inten
Revenue Code. Under this plan, the Company'slatgmli basic contribution matches a portion of theipipants' contributions based upon a del
schedule. The Company's contributions to the plare approximately $256,000 and $270,000 for thersyended December 31, 2014 and z
respectively.
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16. Segment Information

The Company has two reportable business segm&hesPerformance Improvement Solutions

business segment provides simulation, training emgineering products and services delivered adiesdreadth of industries we serve. Solul
include simulation for both training and enginegrepplications. Example training applications img turnkey and custom training services, v
engineering services include plant design verificatand validation. We provide these services acadsour market segments. Contracts typic
range from 10 months to three years.

The Staff Augmentation services segment provideiapeed workforce solutions primarily to the nuatendustry, working at our clien
facilities. This business is managed through owpeétispring, LLC subsidiary. The business modelnagament focus, margins and other fac
clearly separate this business line from the rete@GSE product and service portfolio. Hypensgras been providing these services since 2005.

The following table sets forth the revenue and afieg results attributable to each reportable segmed includes a reconciliation of segn
revenue to consolidated revenue and operatingtsasutonsolidated income before income tax expense

(in thousands) Years ended December 3.
2014 2013
Contract revenue
Performance Improvement Solutic $ 35,67 $ 47,56:
Staff Augmentation 2,25¢ -
$ 37,93( $ 47,56:
Operating income (loss
Performance Improvement Solutic $ (6,805 $ (10,41
Staff Augmentatior 10t -
Loss on change in fair value of contingent consitien, net (22€) (254)
Operating los: $ (6,929 $ (10,669
Interest income, ne 142 10&
Gain on derivative instruments, r 20¢ 26t
Other income (expense) , net 1 (67)
Net loss $ (6,57¢ $ (10,36%)
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Additional information relating to our business semts is as follows:

(in thousands) December 31
2014 2013
Identifiable asset:
Performance Improvement Solutic $ 38,30¢ $ 48,827
Staff Augmentatior 8,09( -
Intercompany receivable elimination (400) -
Total Assets $ 4599¢ $ 48,827

For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 850%65%, respectively, of the Company's cons@iiaévenue was from customer
the nuclear power industry. The Company designgldps and delivers business and technology solsitio the energy industry worldwide. Revel
operating income (loss) and total assets for theng2my's United States, European, and Asian subgisiaas of and for the years en
December 31, 2014 and 2013 are as follows:

(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2C
United State: Europe Asia Eliminations Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 29,03¢ $ 6,412 $ 2478 % - $ 37,93(
Transfers between geographic locations 2,17¢ 741 1,24z (4,159 -
Total contract revenu $ 31,21« $ 7,155 $ 3,72 $ (4,159 $ 37,93(
Operating loss $ (4,747 $ (2,099 $ 92 $ - $ (6,929
Total assets, at December 31 $ 116,58t $ 582t $ 469, $ (81,109 $ 45,99¢
(in thousands) Year ended December 31, 2C
United State: Europe Asia Eliminations Consolidatec
Contract revenu $ 33,41¢  $ 8,63¢ % 550¢ $ - $ 47,56:
Transfers between geographic locations 5,60z 44¢€ 63€ (6,689 -
Total contract revenu $ 39,02: $ 9,08t $ 6,14C $ (6,684 $ 47 ,56:
Operating income (loss) $ (7,767 $ (3,059 $ 152 $ - 3 (10,669
Total assets, at December 31 $ 67,25 $ 11,20¢ $ 6,50¢ $ (36,147 $ 48,82:

Approximately 52% and 67%, of the Company's 201d 20113 revenue, respectively, was derived fronrinational sales of its products ¢
services from all of its subsidiaries.
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17. Equity Method Investments

Investments in partnerships, joint ventures, arssd-tbanmajority owned subsidiaries in which the Compang ka@nificant influence a
accounted for under the equity method. As of Ddmm31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had the follgwiity investments.

IntelliQlik, LLC

In conjunction with the Hyperspring acquisitiongt@ompany invested $250,000 for a 50% intereshtalliQlik, LLC (“IntelliQlik") and is
obligated to contribute an additional $250,000 ugimn attainment by IntelliQlik of certain milestanas of September 30, 2015. IntelliQlik is joil
owned by GSE and a former member of HyperspringlliQlik will develop a software platform for omlé learning and learning management fc
energy sectors, including nuclear, thermal, oil &sgand hydr@lectric. The IntelliQlik platform will also incluel applications to support pl:
engineering, operations and maintenance, as wglf@sde a platform for Software as a Service tbvde learning materials, industry recruitm
services, and specialized simulator training progra

The Company determined that the outcome of IntéKi@aching the milestones was probable and toesetvaluated the conting
consideration liability under Accounting Standa@ixdification ("ASC") 450-20-30,.0ss Contingencies - Initial MeasuremenBased on the progre
of IntelliQlik and the timeframe to achieve the esilones, the Company estimates that there is #icign probability that IntelliQlik will reach tt
milestones by September 2015 and accordingly lawded a contingent liability of $213,000 at Decem®l, 2014 which is included in the curi
contingent consideration line of the consolidatathbce sheet. Equity gains and losses incurrelhteyliQlik are recorded within the Performa
Improvement Solutions segment according to the Gomyp 50% interest. As of December 31, 2014, ddweying value of our investment v
$440,000.

General Simulation Engineering RUS Limited Liagi@ompany

On May 22, 2013, the Company and Electrobalt HgdamRussian Federation closed jatiek company, created a 50/50 joint venture ¢
General Simulation Engineering RUS Limited LialilEompany ("GSE RUS"). GSE's equity contributiorsvtab million Roubles ($46,000) and \
paid to the joint venture in November 2013. A®etember 31, 2014 and 2013, the carrying valuaipfrvestment was $0 and $38,000, respecti

GSE-UNIS Simulation Technology Co., Ltd

In 2013, the Company agreed to sell its 49% stakB$SE-UNIS Simulation Technology Co., Ltd ("G8ENIS") to its partner, Beijing Un
Venture Capital Co., Ltd. and terminate the joiebture agreement as of July 31, 2013. The Combpadyaccounted for this joint venture as an el
method investment. The sales price was basicallyvatent to the Company's investment in GSHIS as of the closing date. In 2013, the Com|
agreed to sell its 49% stake in GBBHS Simulation Engineering Co., Ltd to its partnBeijing Unis Venture Capital Co., Ltd. for $1.2llion and
terminate the joint venture agreement as of Ju)y\2813. As of December 31, 2013 we had classifiegireceivable within Other Current Assets.
received the $1.2 million in December 2014.

Schedule of Equity Losses

We had the following net losses of our equity mdtlmvestments during the years ended Decemberd3¥ and 2013. The losses fr
equity method investments are included in Otheonne (expense), net within the Consolidated Statéwfe@perations.

(in thousands) Years ended December
2014 2013
Equity Method Investmer
IntelliQlik, LLC $ a7”n $ =
General Simulation Engineering RUS LI (38 8
GSE-UNIS Simulation Technology , Ltd. - (14¢)
Total loss from equity method investme $ (55 $ (15€)
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18. Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Informatin

(in thousands) Year ended December &
2014 2013
Cash paid
Interest $ 1 $ =
Income taxes $ 39t $ 53¢
Nonr-cash financing activities
Hyperspring, LLC (1 $ 3,95 $ =
IntelliQlik, LLC (2) 207 -
Total accrued contingent consideration $ 416C $ =

(1) Total accrued contingent consideration recomtetlovember 14, 2014, the date of the Hyperspaoyyisition.

(2) Total accrued contingent consideration recormtediovember 14, 2014, the date of the Companyé&siment in IntelliQlik.

19. Subsequent Event

During 2014, Hyperspring, LLC had a $1.0 millionnkimg capital line of credit with IberiaBank. On E8@mber 7, 2014, the working capital
line of credit matured while the bank was reneditipthe new terms with GSE Systems, Inc. and Hygrémg, LLC subsequent to the acquisition of
Hyperspring (See Note 3). On January 22, 2015pmisisory note was executed between Hyperspring, ah€IberiaBank to extend the $1.0 million
line of credit until June 30, 2015. Under the newnrts, interest is payable monthly at a rate ofpitiae rate of interest as published in the monés ra
section of the Wall Street Journal plus 1.00 %. &ffiective rate at the date of the promissory meas 4.25 %. The line is secured by all accounts and
guaranteed by GSE Systems, Inc.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

The Company maintains disclosure controls and phaes that are designed to ensure that informagqoired to be disclosed by it in
reports filed or submitted pursuant to the Seasitxchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "ExchAntf§, is recorded, processed, summarized
reported within the time periods specified in tlee&ities and Exchange Commission's rules and farmdsthat information required to be disclose
the Company in its Exchange Act reports is accutadland communicated to management, including tmpany's Chief Executive Officer ("CEC
who is its principal executive officer, and Chigh&ncial Officer ("CFQO"), who is its principal finaial officer, to allow timely decisions regard
required disclosure. At the end of the period cedéy this report, an evaluation was performeceutige supervision and with the participation of
management including our CEO and our CFO, of tliecgfeness of the design and operation of ourlassce controls and procedures pursua
Rule 1315(e) of the Exchange Act. Based on the evaluaifoour disclosure controls and procedures as afebBer 31, 2014, our Chief Execu
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded thas, of such date, our disclosure controls and piwwes were effective.

(b) Management's Annual Report on Internal Controlover Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over financigdaing as defined in Rule 13#(f)
under the Exchange Act. Internal control over ficiahreporting is a process designed to providesaeable assurance regarding the reliabilit
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsitatements for external purposes in accordante WiS. generally accepted accounting princi|
The effectiveness of any system of internal contngér financial reporting is subject to inherembitations, including the exercise of judgmen
designing, implementing, operating and evaluatimg ¢ontrols and procedures. Because of these mhkmgtations, internal control over financ
reporting cannot provide absolute assurance ragattie reliability of financial reporting and theeparation of financial statements in accordandh
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles aag not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, ptigies of any evaluation of effectiveness to fu
periods are subject to the risk that internal clatmay become inadequate because of changesditioos, or that the degree of compliance witr
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

A "material weakness" as defined by Public Comp&ogounting Oversight Board ("PCAOB") Auditing Stard No. 5,"An Audit of Interne
Control over Financial Reporting That is Integratedth an Audit of Financial Statements" ("Auditi®andard No. 5")is "a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal controleovfinancial reporting, such that there is a reabtenpossibility that a material misstatement @
annual or interim financial statements will notfgrevented or detected on a timely basis." A "deficy" in internal control over financial reportiag
defined by Auditing Standard No. 5 "exists whendesign or operation of a control does not allowagement or employees, in the normal cour
performing their assigned functions, to prevendetect misstatements on a timely basis."

Under the supervision and with the participatiomanagement, including our CEO and CFO, we conduaeevaluation of internal cont
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014sed on the "Internal Control—Integrated Framework (1992)issued by th
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread®@ommission (COSQ)Based upon our evaluation, we concluded that dernal control ove
financial reporting was effective as of DecemberZ114.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reprting

The Company has made no changes in its internatatsrover financial reporting (as defined in Exeba Act Rule 13d5) during the yei
ended December 31, 2014 that have materially &ffect are reasonably likely to materially affect mternal control over financial reporting.

(d) Limitation of Effectiveness of Controls

Internal control over financial reporting has ingrar limitations. Internal control over financiaporting is a process that involves hui
diligence and compliance and is subject to lapsgadgment and breakdowns resulting from humamfed. Internal control over financial report
also can be circumvented by collusion or impropanagement override. Because of such limitatidrexetis a risk that material misstatements
not be prevented or detected on a timely basisitgyrial control over financial reporting. Howeviirese inherent limitations are known featurese
financial reporting process. Therefore, it is flolgsto design into the process safeguards to esdhough not eliminate this risk.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE.

The information required by this item, includingrits 401, 405, 406 and 407 of RegulatioK,Ss incorporated by reference to the sec
captioned "Directors and Executive Officers" in ttHefinitive Proxy Statement for the Company's 20%inual Meeting of Shareholders ¢
incorporated herein by reference or will be prodidlean amendment to this Annual Report on ForniK10-

The Company has adopted a Conduct of BusinessyRbld applies to its directors, officers and empkes, including its principal execut
officer, and principal financial officer. The Camt of Business Policy is available on the Compamebsite at www.gses.com. In addition,
Company has adopted a Code of Ethics for its gral@xecutive officer and senior financial officersich is also available on the Company's web
The Company will post on its website informatioroabany amendment to, or waiver from, any provisibrihe Code of Ethics that applies tc
principal executive officer, principal financialfafer, or principal accounting officer.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item will eithee ket forth under th#Executive Compensatiosection in the definitive Proxy Statement
the 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and inc@ga herein by reference or will be provided inreamendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The information required by this item will be eitheet forth under the sections captiori¥oting Securities and Principal Holders There
and"Executive Compensationifi the definitive Proxy Statement for the 2015 AahlMeeting of Shareholders and incorporated hdvgireference «
will be provided in an amendment to this Annual &¢pn Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item will be eitrset forth under théDirectors and Executive Officersection in the definitive Proxy Statement
the 2015 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and incated herein by reference or will be provided inaamendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-
K.
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required by this item will be eithget forth under théAudit Committee Pre-Approval of Audit and NAuodit Services
section in the definitive Proxy Statement for tfid2 Annual Meeting of Shareholders and incorpor&ieein by reference or will be provided in
amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) (1) List of Financial Statements
The following financial statements are includedtém 8:
GSE Systems, Inc. and Subsidiarie

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEingn - BDO USA, LLP

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfingn - KPMG LLP

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31,&01201:

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeraded December 31, 2014 and 2

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loshiéoyears ended December 31, 2014 and !
Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholBersty for the years ended December 31, 2014 818
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraled December 31, 2014 and 2

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

(a) (2) List of Schedules

All other schedules to the consolidated financtatesnents are omitted as the required informasoeither inapplicable or presented in
consolidated financial statements or related notes.

(a) (3) List of Exhibits

The Exhibits which are filed with this report or ieh are incorporated by reference are set forthénExhibit Index hereto.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredolp authorized.

GSE Systems, In

By: /s/ James A. Eberl
James A. Eberl
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities #his, report has been signed by the following pessim the capacities and on the d
indicated.

Date: March 19, 2015 /s/ JAMES A. EBERLE

James A. Eberle, Chief Executive Offic
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 19, 2015 / s/ JEFFERY G. HOUGFH
Jeffery G. Hough, Senior Vice Presid
and Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 19, 2015 (Jerome I. Feldman, Chairofan)  By: /s/ JEFFERY G. HOUGH
the Boarc
(Dr. Sheldon L. Glashow, Direct ) Jeffery G. Hougt

(Jane Bryant Quinn, Direct

(Dr. Roger Hagengruber, Direct
(Joseph W. Lewis, Directc
(Christopher Sorrells, Directt

Attorney-in-Fact

— N

A Power of Attorney, dated March 4, 2015 authozileffery G. Hough to sign this Annual Report omnrd. 0K for the fiscal year end:
December 31, 2014 on behalf of certain of the timscof the Registrant is filed as Exhibit 24.1thts Annual Report.

48




Exhibit Description of Exhibits
2. Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement,itjuidation, or successior

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of Januaryll, &0ong GSE Systems, Inc., Toshi Shinohara, Sadtzshi, Hideo Shinoha
and EnVision Systems, Inc., previously filed witarfa 8K as filed with the Securities and Exchange Comimis®n January 1
2011 and incorporated herein by reference.

2.2 Membership Interests Purchase Agreement, dated fadlovember 14, 2014, by and between Dale Jenniimil Abboti
Shawn McKeever and Mickey Ellis and GSE Performa®akitions, Inc. Incorporated herein by referenoce Bxhibit 2.1 o
GSE Systems, Inc. Form 8-K filed with the Secusitad Exchange Commission on November 17, 2014.

2.3 IntelliQlik, LLC Operating Agreement, dated as ofowember 14, 2014. Incorporated herein by referetwceExhibit 2.2 o
GSE Systems, Inc. Form 8-K filed with the Secusitd Exchange Commission on November 17, 2014.
3. Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws
3(i) Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incafion of the Company. Previously filed in connectivith the GSE Systen
Inc. Form DEF 14A as filed with the Securities afxdchange Commission on November 20, 2007 and iocatpd herein t
reference.
3(ii) Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Compalmgorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 9% IG8E Systems, Inc. Form 8-

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissior-ebruary 4, 2015.
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10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

Material Contracts

Agreement among ManTech International Corporatiatjonal Patent Development Corporation, GPS Teldgies, Inc., Gener
Physics Corporation, Vattenfall Engineering AB &8E Systems, Inc. (dated as of April 13, 1994)viBtesly filed in connectio
with the GSE Systems, Inc. FormlSRegistration Statement as filed with the Se@sitand Exchange Commission on April
1995 and incorporated herein by reference.

GSE Systems, Inc. 1995 Lc-Term Incentive Plan, amended and restated as ofiM&r2014. Incorporated herein by referenc
Exhibit A of GSE Systems, Inc. Form DEF 14A fileitwthe Securities and Exchange Commission on A2%l2014. *

Form of Option Agreement Under the GSE Systdnt. 1995 Longrerm Incentive Plan. Previously filed in connentiwith the
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Exhibit 10.8
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

AGREEMENT, dated as of January 1, 2015, betwe8k Gystems, Inc. a Delaware corporation with ppalcexecutive offices at 13
Londontown Blvd., Sykesville, MD 21784 (the "Comgd), and Jerome |. Feldman residing at 145 WestrReRoad, Bedford Hills, NY 105(C
("Employee").

WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, Employee is currently employed by the Campand the Company desires to enter into an emmay agreement (t
"Agreement") with the Employee in order to continaied secure the employment of Employee with the @omwy, on the terms and conditi
contained in this Agreement with the understandhmgy Employee is being offered secure terms of eympémt in this Agreement in exchange
Employee's agreement to the restrictive covenantgamed in this Agreement, including a non-compete non-solicit, among other things.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premiske,mutual promises, covenants, and conditions meagitained and for other good
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieatyhich are hereby acknowledged, the partiestbentending to be legally bound hereby agre
follows:

Section 1. Employment.

The Company hereby agrees to continue to employl&@mae, and Employee hereby agrees to continuert@ $he Company, all upon 1
terms and subject to the conditions set forth is Agreement.

Section 2. Capacity and Duties.

Employee shall be employed in the capacity of EXeeuChairman of the Board of Directors of the Camyp and shall have the duti
responsibilities, and authorities normally perfodnigy the Executive Chairman of the Board of Diregtof a company and such other du
responsibilities, and authorities as are assigoelirh by the Board of Directors of the Company (tB®ard") so long as such additional dut
responsibilities, and authorities are consisteti Employee's position and level of authority asaecutive Chairman of the Board of Directors &
Company. The Employee shall devote substantiallgfdiis business time and attention to the perforae of his duties hereunder and will not en
in any other business, profession or occupatiortdonpensation or otherwise which would materiatimftict or interfere with the performance of s
duties either directly or indirectly. The Employe#l be permitted to act or serve as a directarstee, or committee member of any type of civ
charitable organization as long as such activiiesrot materially interfere with the performancetiovd Employee's duties and responsibilities tc
Company as provided hereunder.




Section 3. Term of Employment.

The term of employment of Employee by the Companysyant to this Agreement shall be for the peritiet ("Employment Period
commencing on the date hereof and ending two ystesthe date hereof.

Section 4. Compensation.

During the Employment Period, subject to all theneand conditions of this Agreement and as congiemsfor all services to be renderec
Employee under this Agreement, the Company shgltpar provide Employee with the following:

(a Base Salary. The Company shall pay to Employeasa annual salary (the "Base Salary") at the rfialevo Hundre(
Six Thousand Dollars ($206,000). The Employee'seBaalary shall be reviewed at least annually byGbmpensation Committee
the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Compéns Committee") and the Compensation Committes, rbat shall not kt
required to, increase (but not decrease) the BalsgySduring the Employment Period. The Base $aldlt be payable at such interv
as salaries are paid generally to other execuffigecs of the Company

(b) Bonus. For each calendar year of the Employmerio®ehe Employee shall be eligible to earn anuahivonus awa
(the "Bonus") of up to 25% of Base Salary, baseonughe achievement of annual performance goalbledtad by the Compensati
Committee. The amount of Bonus to be paid to Eyg#dor any year of this Agreement shall be (i)rated for the number of mon
which Employee was employed by the Company durirtdy year and (ii) paid on or prior to March 15 toé following year

(c) Vacation. Employee shall be entitled to vacatioaécordance with the Company's policy for its seakecutives

(d) Medical and Dental Insurance. The Company shallgraployee's monthly Medical and Dental Insuranespums it
association with Company provided health insurgiass.

(e) Benefit Plans. Employee shall be entitled to paotite in all employee benefit plans maintainedh®yCompany for it
senior executives or employees, including withauithtion the Company's medical and 401(k) plameyjuled, however, that during 1
Employment Period, Employee shall not be entitiedeiceive equity awards from the Company's 1995gL6erm Incentive Plan,
otherwise




Section 5. Expenses.

The Company shall reimburse Employee for all reabtnexpenses (including, but not limited to, cowitig education, business travel,
customer entertainment expenses) incurred by hiooimection with his employment hereunder in acaoce with the written policy and guidelit
established by the Company for executive officers.

Section 6. Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation, Noisparagement.

(&) _NonrCompetition. Because of the Company's legitimate businessestt@s described herein and the good and valeablsideratio
offered to the Employee, during the Employment &ednd for the 12ronth period beginning on the last day of the Eipgpdds employment with t
Company, the Employee agrees and covenants nagtage in Prohibited Activity within the United Stat

For purposes of this Section 6Pfohibited Activity " is activity in which the Employee contributes kisowledge, directly or indirectly, in whole or
part, as an employee, employer, owner, operatonager, advisor, consultant, agent, employee, pardirector, stockholder, officer, volunteer, im
or any other similar capacity to an entity engaigetthe same or similar business as the Company.

Nothing herein shall prohibit the Employee from ghasing or owning less than five percent (5%) &f plublicly traded securities of &
corporation, provided that such ownership represargassive investment and that the Employee ia oontrolling person of, or a member of a gl
that controls, such corporation.

(b) Nonsolicitation of Employees The Employee agrees and covenants not to directigdirectly solicit, hire, recruit, attempt tard or
recruit, or induce the termination of employmentasfy employee of the Company during the term o thgreement and the If8enth perio
beginning on the last day of the Employee's empkayrwith the Company.

(c) Nonsolicitation of Customers The Employee understands and acknowledges tlatube of the Employee's experience with
relationship to the Company, he will have accesan learn about much or all of the Company's eastanformation. "Customer Information "
includes, but is not limited to, names, phone numbaddresses, reail addresses, order history, order preferenceaincof command, pricir
information and other information identifying fa@sd circumstances specific to the customer.

The Employee understands and acknowledges thadidks customer relationship and/or goodwill vaduse significant and irreparable h
to the Company.

The Employee agrees and covenants, during thedéthis Agreement and the IRenth period beginning on the last day of the Erypdéd
employment with the Company, not to directly oriiedtly solicit, contact (including but not limitetd e-mail, regular mail, express mail, telephc
fax, and instant message), attempt to contact at méh the Company's current customers for purpaxfeoffering or accepting goods or serv
similar to or competitive with those offered by tG@®mpany or for purposes of inducing any such enstoto terminate its relationship with
Company.

(d) Nondisparagement The Employee agrees and covenants that he wilahany time make, publish or communicate to aess@n o
entity or in any public forum any defamatory orpiisaging remarks, comments or statements concetinn@ompany or its businesses, or any (
employees, officers and directors.




Section 7. Patents.

Any interest in patents, patent applications, ifiveTs, copyrights, developments, and processe<fi'Swentions") which Employee now
hereafter during the period he is employed by tben@any under this Agreement may own or develogirg) to the fields in which the Company
any of its subsidiaries may then be engaged sk&dhig to the Company; and forthwith upon requeshefCompany, Employee shall execute all -
assignments and other documents and take all gheh action as the Company may reasonably reqoester to vest in the Company all his ril
title, and interest in and to Such Inventions fred clear of all liens, charges, and encumbrances.

Section 8. Confidential Information.

All Confidential Information which Employee may ngwessess, may obtain during the Employment Pedinthay create prior to the end
the period he is employed by the Company underAgigement relating to the business of the Commanyf any of its customers or suppliers s
not be published, disclosed, or made accessiblérbyto any other person, firm, or corporation eittering or after the termination of his employn
or used by him except during the Employment Peindtithe business and for the benefit of the Compangach case without prior written permis:
of the Company. Employee shall return all tangiégdence of any Confidential Information to the Qamy prior to or at the termination of
employment. For purposes of this Agreement, "Canfichl Information" means any and all informaticglated to the Company or any of
subsidiaries that is not generally known by ottt whom they compete or do business.

Section 9. Termination.
Except as provided in Section 13, Employee's enmpént hereunder may be terminated under the folipwircumstances:
(a) Death. Employee's employment hereunder shralin@te upon his death.
(b) Disability. If, as a result of Employee's inegjty due to physical or mental illness, Employkallshave been absent from his duties
hereunder on a full-time basis for the entire piod three (3) consecutive months, and within 3@sdafter a Notice of Termination (as defined in

Section 9(e)) is given shall not have returnechtogerformance of his duties hereunder on a fulktbasis, the Company may terminate Employee's
employment hereunder.




(c) Cause. The Company may terminate Employee'sogmgnt hereunder for Cause. For purposes of thigément, the Company shall
have "Cause" to terminate Employee's employmerdgumgler upon the occurrence of any of the followii)ghe willful and continued failure by
Employee to substantially perform his duties origdtions hereunder (other than any such failureltieg from Employee's incapacity due to
physical or mental iliness), after written demand $ubstantial performance is delivered by the Camypthat specifically identifies the manner in
which the Company believes Employee has not sutisligrperformed his duties or obligations, (iiethvillful engaging by Employee in misconduct
which, in the reasonable opinion of the Board &f @ompany, will have a material adverse effecthenreputation, operations, prospects or business
relations of the Company, (iii) the conviction afimBloyee of any felony or the entry by Employee 0§ @lea of nolo contendere in response to an
indictment for a crime involving moral turpitudéy) Employee abuses alcohol, illegal drugs or ottwntrolled substances which impact Employee's
performance of his duties or (v) the material bhelag Employee of a material term or condition aé tAgreement. For purposes of this paragraph, no
act, or failure to act, on Employee's part shallcbasidered "willful* unless done, or omitted to thene, by him not in good faith and without
reasonable belief that his action or omission waheé best interest of the Company. Notwithstandiregforegoing, Employee shall not be deemed to
have been terminated for Cause without the follgwifi) reasonable notice to Employee setting fahté reasons for the Company's intention to
terminate for Cause, (ii) an opportunity for Empey together with his counsel, to be heard befoeeBoard, and (iii) delivery to Employee of a
Notice of Termination in accordance with Sectioa)9(

(d) Termination Without Cause. The Employmenti®Reand the Employee's employment hereunder mateimeinated by either the
Company or the Employee at any time and for angaeaprovided that, unless otherwise provided hemsbther party shall be required to give the
other party at least 30 days advance written natigay termination of the Employee's employment.

(e) Notice of Termination. Any termination of Empe®e's employment (other than termination pursuanBéction 9(a)) shall be
communicated by a Notice of Termination given bg thrminating party to the other party hereto. porposes of this Agreement, a "Notice of
Termination" shall mean a written notice which slivadlicate the specific termination provision iristAgreement relied upon and shall set forth in
reasonable detail the facts and circumstances ethimprovide a basis for termination of Employe@sloyment under the provision so indicated.

(f) Date of Termination. "Date of Termination" dhean (i) if Employee's employment is terminatgdhis death, the date of his death,
(ii) if Employee's employment is terminated purdu@nSection 9(b), 30 days after Notice of Termimatis given (provided that Employee shall not
have returned to the performance of his duties fulldime basis during such 30-day period), arnii {i Employee's employment is terminated for
any other reason, the date specified in the Naticeermination, which shall not be earlier than tleée on which the Notice of Termination is given.




Section 10. Compensation upon Termination or Dubigability.

(a) During any period that Employee fails to pemiohis duties hereunder as a result of incapaciwy tuphysical or mental illness
("disability period"), Employee shall continue teceive his full salary at the rate then in effamt $uch period until his employment is terminated
pursuant to Section 9(b), provided that paymentsiade to Employee during the disability period khalreduced by the sum of the amounts, if any,
payable to Employee at or prior to the time of anogh payment under disability benefit plans of @lmenpany and which were not previously applied
to reduce any such payment.

(b) If Employee's employment shall be terminated @ause, the Company shall pay Employee his fulrgathrough the Date of
Termination at the rate in effect at the time Netit Termination is given.

(c) If Employee's employment shall be terminatgdthie Company for a reason other than (i) DeathDisability or (iii) Cause, upon
Employee's execution of a release of claims infafahe Company, its affiliates and their respexifficers and directors in a form provided by the
Company (the "Release") and such Release becorffiectiee within 21 days following the Terminational, the Employee shall be entitled to
receive his full salary and to continue participgtin all medical, dental and life insurance beasdfiBenefits") for a period of 12 months. Salamals
be paid at such intervals as salaries are paidrginéo other executive officers of the ComparBeceipt of Benefits will be in the form of payment
by the Company of Employee's medical, dental aiedifisurance premiums on the same terms as inteffébe time of termination of employment,
and allowing the Employee to continue to participiat the Company sponsored 401(k), including thenany match. In addition, Employee shall
also be entitled to receive a payment equal tgptbduct of (I) the Bonus, if any, that the Employesuld have earned for the calendar year in which
the Date of Termination occurs had he been emplageaf the last day of such year, based on the @oy'pactual results of operations for such year
and (1) a fraction, the numerator of which is thember of days the Employee was employed by thepaomnduring the year of termination and the
denominator of which is the number of days in syehlr. This amount shall be paid on the date thati@nbonuses are paid to similarly situated
employees, but in no event later than two-and-&{2al/2) months following the end of the calenglear in which the Date of Termination occurs.
Finally, all options to purchase the Company's cemrstock granted to Employee under the Companyisroplan or otherwise shall immediately
become fully vested and shall terminate on sucé datthey would have terminated if Employee's eympént by the Company had not terminated.




Section 11. Accelerated Vesting of Options Uponr@jgeof Control.

After the date of this Agreement, in the event @reange of Control (as defined below) of the Comyp#ime options granted to Employ
under the Company's option plan or otherwise dtetlome fully vested on the day immediately priothte date such Change of Control shal
deemed to have occurred, and any conditions t&Ethployee's entitlement to such options under the@my's option plan or otherwise shall
deemed to have been satisfied.

For purposes of this Agreement, a "Change in Ctntfdhe Company shall be deemed to have occuaeedf the first day that any one
more of the following conditions shall have beetis§iad:

(a) Any person (other than a person in control of tleenPany as of the date of this Agreement, or othan ta trustee or other fiducie
holding securities under an employee benefit pfath® Company, or a company owned directly or iaclily by the stockholders of the Compan
substantially the same proportions as their owngrehvoting securities of the Company) becomes libaeficial owner, directly or indirectly,
securities of the Company representing a majofith® combined voting power of the Company's thetstanding securities; or

(b) The stockholders of the Company approve: (x) a miicomplete liquidation of the Company (which imbés a termination al
liquidation of all Employee's rights under any agament governed by Section 409A of the InternaleRae Code of 1986, as amended ("Code'
(y) an agreement for the sale or disposition ofoalsubstantially all the Company's assets; ora(merger, consolidation, or reorganization of
Company with or involving any other corporatiorh@t than a merger, consolidation, or reorganizatiah would result in the voting securities of
Company outstanding immediately prior thereto aaritig to represent (either by remaining outstandinigy being converted into voting securitie:
the surviving entity) at least a majority of themdmined voting power of the voting securities of empany (or such surviving entity) outstanc
immediately after such merger, consolidation, organization.

For purposes of this definition of Change in CohttBerson" shall have the meaning ascribed to seich in Section 3(a)(9) of the Securi
Act of 1934, as amended (the "1934 Act"), and useBection 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, including aotg" as defined in Section 13(d) thereof,
"Beneficial Owner" shall have the meaning ascritzeguch term in Rule 13d-3 of the General Rulesragdlations under the 1934 Act.




Section 12. Successors; Binding Agreement.

This Agreement is personal to the Employee and sbabe assigned by the Employee. Any purporteibasent by the Employee shall be
null and void from the initial date of the purpattassignment. The Company may assign this Agreetaenty successor or assign (whether direct or
indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation orentlise) to all or substantially all of the businessassets of the Company. The Company will
require any successor (whether direct or indifegtpurchase, merger, consolidation or otherwisejlt@r substantially all of the business and/or
assets of the Company, by agreement in form andtaute reasonably satisfactory to Employee, toesgly assume and agree to perform this
Agreement in the same manner and to the same dktanthe Company would be required to perfornfi iitd such succession had taken place. This
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the Compamg permitted successors and assigns.

Section 13. Severance upon Change of Control.

In the event of a Change of Control, Employee nessninate this Agreement within one year of suchrigeain Control for Good Reason
defined herein). Upon termination for Good Reademployee shall, for a period of 12 months from tla¢e of his termination, continue to rece
salary and all Benefits that Employee is receidasgf the date the Change of Control occurs. hSatary and Benefits shall be paid at such inte
as salaries are paid generally to other executifieecs of the Company. In addition, the Employémalsalso be entitled to receive on the Dat
Termination an amount, payable in one lump sunyaktp the average of the Bonus amounts paid tol&raep for the two years prior to the yea
which the Change of Control takes place.

"Good Reason" shall mean that any of the followhms occurred: (a) without Employee's prior writteonsent, Employee's duti
responsibilities or authority become materiallgueed as compared to those of Employee's curresitiqgrg (b) Employee's annual base salary (a
same may be increased at any time hereafter) amashmrograms are reduced; (c) Employee's Benafiseither discontinued or materially redus
(d) Employee's primary office or location is mowadre than fifty (50) miles from Employee's curreffice or location; or (e) either the Compan
any successor company materially breaches thisekgeat. In the event of Employee's decision to iteste employment for Good Reason, Emplc
must give notice to Company of the existence ofdbieditions giving rising to the termination for @bReason within ninety (90) days of the in
existence of the conditions. Upon such notice, gamy shall have a period of thirty (30) days dunmigich it may remedy the conditions ("C
Period"). If the Company fails to cure the coralig constituting the Good Reason during the Curéoddéo Employee's reasonable satisfac
Employee's termination of employment must occuhirita period of ninety (90) days following the engtion of the Cure Period in order for
termination to constitute a termination pursuanGtmd Reason for purposes of this Agreement.




Section 14. No Third Party Beneficiaries.

This Agreement does not create, and shall not hetaged as creating, any rights enforceable bypengon not a party to this Agreem
(except as provided in Section 12).

Section 15. Fees and Expenses.

The Company shall pay all reasonable legal feesralated expenses (including the costs of expevisience, and reasonable attorn
fees) incurred by Employee as a result of a comtedtspute relating to this Agreement if such eshor dispute is settled or adjudicated on tefrat
are substantially in favor of Employee. In addititime Company shall pay Employee interest, at tieegiling prime rate, on any amounts that
determined to be payable to Employee hereundeateatot paid when due.

Section 16. Representations and Warranties of Byaplo

Employee represents and warrants to the Companyadh&mployee is under no contractual or othetrict®n or obligation which i
inconsistent with the execution of this Agreemehg performance of his duties hereunder, or theratights of the Company hereunder and
Employee is under no physical or mental disabithigt would hinder his performance of duties unties Agreement.

Section 17. Life Insurance.

If requested by the Company, Employee shall sultonguch physical examinations and otherwise takd sictions and execute ¢
deliver such documents as may be reasonably negdesanable the Company, at its expense and saniin benefit, to obtain life insurance on
life of Employee. Employee has no reason to beltbaghis life is not insurable with a reputablsurance company at rates now prevailing in the
of Baltimore for healthy men of his age.

Section 18. Modification.

This Agreement sets forth the entire understandihghe parties with respect to the subject matteredf, supersedes all exist
agreements between them concerning such subjetdrreaid may be modified only by a written instruninéuly executed by each party.




Section 19. Notices.

Any notice or other communication required or pétaad to be given hereunder shall be in writing ahdll be mailed by certified me
return receipt requested, or delivered againstipete the party to whom it is to be given at tlteleess of such party set forth in the preambléis
Agreement (or to such other address as the paaty/t&hve furnished in writing in accordance witle frovisions of this Section 19).

Section 20. Governing Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by and constmeat¢ordance with the laws of the State of Marylavithout giving effect to confli
of laws. Any action or proceeding by either of hegties to enforce this Agreement shall be browgiy in a state or federal court located in threge
of Maryland. The parties hereby irrevocably subtoithe exclusive jurisdiction of such courts andiwe the defense of inconvenient forum to
maintenance of any such action or proceeding ih seaue.

Section 21. 409A of the Code.

This Agreement is intended to comply with the regonents of Section 409A of the Code or any exemgtiom Section 409A of the Coc
and shall in all respects be administered in aaiwd with and interpreted to ensure compliance Bietion 409A of the Code. Employe
termination of employment under this Agreement Idb@linterpreted in a manner consistent with thEaestion from service rules under Section 4
of the Code. For purposes of Section 409A of tbde; each payment made under this Agreement shalehted as a separate payment and the
to a series of payments under this Agreement bledlieat as a right to a series of separate pagmémino event shall Employee, directly or indihg
designate the calendar year of the payment. Funtbre, if, at the time of termination of employmevith the Company, Company has stock whic
publicly traded on an established securities maaketEmployee is a "specified employee" (as defineglection 409A of the Code) and it is neces
to postpone the commencement of any payments oefiterotherwise payable pursuant to this Agreemsnta result of such termination
employment to prevent any accelerated or addititevalunder Section 409A of the Code, then Compdm@a}l postpone the commencement of
payment of such payment or benefits hereunder @uithny reduction in such payments or benefitgnaitely paid or provided to Employee) that
not otherwise paid within the shateferral exception under Section 409A of the Caule @e in excess of the lessor of two (2) timeE(i)ployee’
then annual compensation or (i) the limit on comgagion then set forth in Section 401(a)(17) of@rwele, until the first payroll date that occursee
the date that is six months following Employee'sasation from service with the Company (within theaning of Section 409A of the Code). -
accumulated postponed amount shall be paid in g kum payment within ten days after the end oktkenonth period.




Section 22. Survival

Upon the expiration or other termination of thisr@gment, the respective rights and obligationshef parties hereto shall survive s
expiration or other termination to the extent nsaegto carry out the intentions of the partiesarrttlis Agreement.

Section 23. Acknowledgment of Fulidérstanding.

THE EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT HE HAS RILY READ, UNDERSTANDS AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERS
INTO THIS AGREEMENT. THE EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES ANDAGREES THAT HE HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO AS
QUESTIONS AND CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY OF HIS CHOEBEFORE SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly execukésl Agreement as of the date first above written.

GSE SYSTEMS, INC.

By: /s/ Lawrence M. Gordon March 18, 2015
Lawrence M. Gordon Date
Senior Vice President and General
Counsel

[s/_Jerome |. Feldman March 18, 2015
Jerome |. Feldman Date




Exhibit 10.9

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
AGREEMENT, dated as of (the "Effective Dateiptween GSE Systems, Inc. a Delaware corporatitmprincipal executive offices
1332 Londontown Blvd., Sykesville, MD 21784 (t@ompany"), and "Employee").
WITNESSETH

WHEREAS, Employee was employed by the Company pumsto a twoyear Employment Agreement that expired on Decer8her2014
The Company desires to enter into a new employmagrgement (the "Agreement") with the Employee ofeotto continue and secure the employr
of Employee with the Company, on the terms and itiem3 contained in this Agreement with the undamging the Employee is being offered se
terms of employment in this Agreement in exchargeBmployee's agreement to the restrictive coveneontained in this Agreement, includin
non-compete and non-solicit, among other things.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premiske,mutual promises, covenants, and conditions meagitained and for other good
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieatyhich are hereby acknowledged, the partiestbentending to be legally bound hereby agre
follows:

Section 1. Employment.

The Company hereby agrees to continue to employl&mee, and Employee hereby agrees to continuerhjgoyment with the Compar
upon the terms and subject to the conditions s#t fo this Agreement.

Section 2. Capacity and Duties.

Employee shall be employed in the capacity of of the Company and shall have the duisponsibilities, and authorit
normally performed by a of a compary such other duties, responsibilities, and autiesrias are assigned to him by the Boal
Directors of the Company (the "Board") so long ashsadditional duties, responsibilities, and autles are consistent with Employee's position
level of authority as of tben@any of the Company. The Employee shall devobestaatially all of his business time ¢
attention to the performance of his duties hereuadd will not engage in any other business, psifesor occupation for compensation or other
which would materially conflict or interfere witthe performance of such duties either directly dirgctly. The Employee will be permitted to ac
serve as a director, trustee, or committee mentfo@nyotype of civic or charitable organization asd as such activities do not materially interferit
the performance of the Employee's duties and ressiitities to the Company as provided hereunder.




Section 3. Term of Employment.

The term of this Agreement shall commence erBfiective Date and continue for a period of tveans (the "Term"). On each anniversary of
the Effective Date, the Term shall be automatyceltended, upon the same terms and conditiongrf@additional, consecutive one year period, ul
either party provides written notice to the othkit®intention not to extend the Term at leasda@s' prior to the end of the then current Term.

Section 4. Compensation.

During the Term, subject to all the terms and ctho$ of this Agreement and as compensation foseices to be rendered by Empilc
under this Agreement, the Company shall pay taravide Employee with the following:

(a Base Salary. The Company shall pay to Employee se bennual salary (the "Base Salary") at the ra
. The Employee's Balsey shall be reviewed at least annually by then@ensation Committee
the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Compéns Committee") and the Compensation Committes, rbat shall not kt
required to, increase (but not decrease) the BalseySduring the Term. The Base Salary will begidg at such intervals as salaries
paid generally to other executive officers of trar@any.

(b) Bonus. For each calendar year of the Term, thel&rap shall be eligible to earn an annual bonug@fthe "Bonus’
of up to 25% of Base Salary, based upon the acimemeof annual performance goals established b tmpensation Committee. 1
amount of Bonus to be paid to Employee for any yédhis Agreement shall be (i) prorated for themner of months which Employ
was employed by the Company during such year anplaiid on or prior to March 15 of the following ae

(c) Vacation. Employee shall be entitled to vacatioaécordance with the Company's policy for its seakecutives

(d) Automobile. The Company shall pay the maintenages, and insurance expenses in connection with @&raet
automobile.

(e) Medical and Dental Insurance. The Company shallgraployee's monthly Medical and Dental Insuran@poms it

association with Company provided health insurgiass.

4] Benefit Plans. Employee shall be entitled to pgdte in all employee benefit plans maintained iy Company for i
senior executives or employees, including withguaithtion the Company's medical and 401(k) ple




Section 5. Expenses.

The Company shall reimburse Employee for all reabtnexpenses (including, but not limited to, cowitig education, business travel,
customer entertainment expenses) incurred by hiooimection with his employment hereunder in acaoce with the written policy and guidelit
established by the Company for executive officers.

Section 6. Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation, Noisparagement.

(&) _NonrCompetition. Because of the Company's legitimate businessestt@s described herein and the good and valeablsideratio
offered to the Employee, during the Term and fer 12 month period beginning on the last day of the Epgdts employment with the Company,
Employee agrees and covenants not to engage ifbReahActivity within the United States.

For purposes of this Section 6, "Prohibited AcyiViis activity in which the Employee contributes tkinowledge, directly or indirectly, in whole ol
part, as an employee, employer, owner, operatonager, advisor, consultant, agent, employee, pardirector, stockholder, officer, volunteer, im
or any other similar capacity to an entity engaigetthe same or similar business as the Company.

Nothing herein shall prohibit the Employee from ghasing or owning less than five percent (5%) &f plublicly traded securities of &
corporation, provided that such ownership represargassive investment and that the Employee ia oontrolling person of, or a member of a gl
that controls, such corporation.

(b) Nonsolicitation of Employees The Employee agrees and covenants not to directigdirectly solicit, hire, recruit, attempt tard or
recruit, or induce the termination of employmentaf employee of the Company during the Term aedL2month period beginning on the last
of the Employee's employment with the Company.

(c) Nonsolicitation of Customers The Employee understands and acknowledges tletube of the Employee's experience with
relationship to the Company, he will have accesard learn about much or all of the Company's eastoinformation. "Customer Informatic
includes, but is not limited to, names, phone numbaddresses, reail addresses, order history, order preferenceaincof command, pricir
information and other information identifying fa@sd circumstances specific to the customer.

The Employee understands and acknowledges thadidks customer relationship and/or goodwill vaduse significant and irreparable h
to the Company.

The Employee agrees and covenants, during the Bafor the 12nonth period following the effective date of thenténation of thi:
Agreement for any reason, not to directly or indiesolicit, contact (including but not limited tsmail, regular mail, express mail, telephone, fard
instant message), attempt to contact or meet WwahCtompany's current customers for purposes ofinffer accepting goods or services similar t
competitive with those offered by the Company ardorposes of inducing any such customer to tertaiita relationship with the Company.

(d) Nondisparagement The Employee agrees and covenants that he wilahany time make, publish or communicate to asss@n o
entity or in any public forum any defamatory orpiisaging remarks, comments or statements concetinn@ompany or its businesses, or any (
employees, officers and directors.




Section 7. Patents.

Any interest in patents, patent applications, ifiveTs, copyrights, developments, and processe<fi'Swentions") which Employee now
hereafter during the period he is employed by tben@any under this Agreement may own or develogingldo the fields in which the Company
any of its subsidiaries may then be engaged sk&dhig to the Company; and forthwith upon requeshefCompany, Employee shall execute all -
assignments and other documents and take all gheh action as the Company may reasonably reqoester to vest in the Company all his ril
title, and interest in and to Such Inventions fred clear of all liens, charges, and encumbrances.

Section 8. Confidential Information.

All Confidential Information which Employee may ngwossess, may obtain during the Term, or may cnedbe to the end of the Ter
relating to the business of the Company or of dnysccustomers or suppliers shall not be publishiistiosed, or made accessible by him to any
person, firm, or corporation either during or afiee termination of his employment or used by hioept during the Term in the business and fo
benefit of the Company, in each case without priotten permission of the Company. Employee stetlim all tangible evidence of any Confider
Information to the Company prior to or at the teration of his employment. For purposes of this &gnent, "Confidential Information” means
and all information related to the Company or ahifsosubsidiaries that is not generally known liyess with whom they compete or do business.




Section 9. Termination.

Except as provided in Section 13, Employee's emmpéyt hereunder may be terminated prior to the atipin of the Term under the followi
circumstances:

(a) Death. Employee's employment hereunder shrafin@te upon his death.

(b) Disability. If, as a result of Employee's ineafly due to physical or mental illness, Employkallshave been absent from his duties
hereunder on a full-time basis for the entire piod three (3) consecutive months, and within 3@sdafter a Notice of Termination (as defined in
Section 9(e)) is given shall not have returnechtogerformance of his duties hereunder on a fulktbasis, the Company may terminate Employee's
employment hereunder.

(c) Cause. The Company may terminate Employee'sogmmgnt hereunder for Cause. For purposes of thigément, the Company shall
have "Cause" to terminate Employee's employmergumeler upon the occurrence of any of the followi)ghe willful and continued failure by
Employee to substantially perform his duties origdtions hereunder (other than any such failureltieg from Employee's incapacity due to
physical or mental iliness), after written demand $ubstantial performance is delivered by the Camypthat specifically identifies the manner in
which the Company believes Employee has not sutisligrperformed his duties or obligations, (iiethvillful engaging by Employee in misconduct
which, in the reasonable opinion of the Board ef @ompany, will have a material adverse effecthenreputation, operations, prospects or business
relations of the Company, (iii) the conviction omiloyee of any felony or the entry by Employee 0§ plea of nolo contendere in response to an
indictment for a crime involving moral turpitudéy) Employee abuses alcohol, illegal drugs or ottwntrolled substances which impact Employee's
performance of his duties or (v) the material bhelag Employee of a material term or condition aétAgreement. For purposes of this paragraph, no
act, or failure to act, on Employee's part shallcbasidered "willful" if it was done, or omitted tee done, by him in good faith and with the
reasonable belief that his action or omission waheé best interest of the Company. Notwithstandiregforegoing, Employee shall not be deemed to
have been terminated for Cause without the follgwifi) reasonable notice to Employee setting fahté reasons for the Company's intention to
terminate for Cause, (ii) an opportunity for Empey together with his counsel, to be heard befoeeBoard, and (iii) delivery to Employee of a
Notice of Termination in accordance with Sectioa)9(

(d) Termination Without Cause. The Employee's emplent hereunder may be terminated without causeithgr the Company or the
Employee at any time and for any reason; provithet, tinless otherwise provided herein, either pstigll be required to give the other party at least
30 days advance written notice of any terminatibthe Employee's employment. The giving by the Canypof notice of its intent not to extend the
Term pursuant to Section 3 shall be deemed, aboften of the Employee, to be a termination of émployment without cause ("Deemed
Termination"). Employee may exercise that optiorghing written notice thereof to the Company wittd0 days of his receipt of the notice of non-
renewal.

(e) Notice of Termination. Any termination of Empé®e's employment (other than termination pursuanBéction 9(a)) shall be
communicated by a Notice of Termination given bg terminating party to the other party hereto. parposes of this Agreement, a "Notice of
Termination" shall mean a written notice which slivadlicate the specific termination provision irisgtAgreement relied upon and shall set forth in
reasonable detail the facts and circumstances ethimprovide a basis for termination of Employe@®sloyment under the provision so indicated.

(f) Date of Termination. "Date of Termination" dhaean (i) if Employee's employment is terminatgdhis death, the date of his death,
(ii) if Employee's employment is terminated purdu@nSection 9(b), 30 days after Notice of Termimatis given (provided that Employee shall not
have returned to the performance of his duties énldime basis during such 30-day period), (ifija Deemed Termination event occurs, upon the
date of Employee's notice to the Company of exeroishis option to treat such event as a terminatigthout Cause, and (iv) if Employee's
employment is terminated for any other reasondéte specified in the Notice of Termination, whattall not be earlier than the date on which the
Notice of Termination is given.




Section 10. Compensation upon Termination or Dubigability.

(a) During any period that Employee fails to pemiohis duties hereunder as a result of incapaciwy tuphysical or mental illness
("disability period"), Employee shall continue teceive his full salary at the rate then in effamt $uch period until his employment is terminated
pursuant to Section 9(b), provided that paymentsiade to Employee during the disability period khalreduced by the sum of the amounts, if any,
payable to Employee at or prior to the time of anogh payment under disability benefit plans of @lmenpany and which were not previously applied
to reduce any such payment.

(b) If Employee's employment shall be terminated @ause, the Company shall pay Employee his fulrgathrough the Date of
Termination at the rate in effect at the time Netit Termination is given.

(c) If Employee's employment shall be terminatgdthie Company for a reason other than (i) DeathDisability or (iii) Cause, upon
Employee's execution of a release of claims infafahe Company, its affiliates and their respexifficers and directors in a form provided by the
Company (the "Release") and such Release becorffiectiee within 21 days following the Terminational, the Employee shall be entitled to
receive his full salary and to continue participgtin all medical, dental and life insurance beasdfiBenefits") for a period of 12 months. Salamals
be paid at such intervals as salaries are paidrginéo other executive officers of the ComparBeceipt of Benefits will be in the form of payment
by the Company of Employee's medical, dental aiedifisurance premiums on the same terms as inteffébe time of termination of employment,
and allowing the Employee to continue to participiat the Company sponsored 401(k), including thenany match. In addition, Employee shall
also be entitled to receive a payment equal tgptbduct of (I) the Bonus, if any, that the Employesuld have earned for the calendar year in which
the Date of Termination occurs had he been emplageaf the last day of such year, based on the @oy'pactual results of operations for such year
and (1) a fraction, the numerator of which is thember of days the Employee was employed by thepaomnduring the year of termination and the
denominator of which is the number of days in syehlr. This amount shall be paid on the date thati@nbonuses are paid to similarly situated
employees, but in no event later than two-and-&{2al/2) months following the end of the calenglaar in which the Date of Termination occurs.
Finally, all options to purchase the Company's cemrstock granted to Employee under the Companyisroplan or otherwise shall immediately
become fully vested and shall terminate on sucé datthey would have terminated if Employee's eympént by the Company had not terminated.




Section 11. Accelerated Vesting of Options Uponr@jgeof Control.

After the date of this Agreement, in the event @reange of Control (as defined below) of the Comyp#ime options granted to Employ
under the Company's option plan or otherwise dtetlome fully vested on the day immediately priothte date such Change of Control shal
deemed to have occurred, and any conditions t&Ethployee's entitlement to such options under the@my's option plan or otherwise shall
deemed to have been satisfied.

For purposes of this Agreement, a "Change in Ctntfdhe Company shall be deemed to have occuaeedf the first day that any one
more of the following conditions shall have beetis§iad:

(a) Any person (other than a person in control of tleenPany as of the date of this Agreement, or othan ta trustee or other fiducie
holding securities under an employee benefit pfath® Company, or a company owned directly or iaclily by the stockholders of the Compan
substantially the same proportions as their owngrehvoting securities of the Company) becomes libaeficial owner, directly or indirectly,
securities of the Company representing a majofith® combined voting power of the Company's thetstanding securities; or

(b) The stockholders of the Company approve: (x) a miicomplete liquidation of the Company (which imbés a termination al
liquidation of all Employee's rights under any agament governed by Section 409A of the InternaleRae Code of 1986, as amended ("Code'
(y) an agreement for the sale or disposition ofoalsubstantially all the Company's assets; ora(merger, consolidation, or reorganization of
Company with or involving any other corporatiorh@t than a merger, consolidation, or reorganizatiah would result in the voting securities of
Company outstanding immediately prior thereto aaritig to represent (either by remaining outstandinigy being converted into voting securitie:
the surviving entity) at least a majority of themdmined voting power of the voting securities of empany (or such surviving entity) outstanc
immediately after such merger, consolidation, organization.

For purposes of this definition of Change in CohttBerson" shall have the meaning ascribed to seich in Section 3(a)(9) of the Securi
Act of 1934, as amended (the "1934 Act"), and useBection 13(d) and 14(d) thereof, including aotg" as defined in Section 13(d) thereof,
"Beneficial Owner" shall have the meaning ascritzeguch term in Rule 13d-3 of the General Rulesragdlations under the 1934 Act.




Section 12. Successors; Binding Agreement.

This Agreement is personal to the Employee and sbabe assigned by the Employee. Any purporteibasent by the Employee shall be
null and void from the initial date of the purpattassignment. The Company may assign this Agreetaenty successor or assign (whether direct or
indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation orentlise) to all or substantially all of the businessassets of the Company. The Company will
require any successor (whether direct or indifegtpurchase, merger, consolidation or otherwisejlt@r substantially all of the business and/or
assets of the Company, by agreement in form andtaute reasonably satisfactory to Employee, toesgly assume and agree to perform this
Agreement in the same manner and to the same dktanthe Company would be required to perfornfi iitd such succession had taken place. This
Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the Compamg permitted successors and assigns.

Section 13. Severance upon Change of Control.

In the event of a Change of Control, Employee nessninate this Agreement within one year of suchrigeain Control for Good Reason
defined herein). Upon termination for Good Reagmployee shall, for a period of 12 months from dlage of his termination, continue to receive
salary and Benefits that Employee is receivingfat® date the Change of Control occurs. Sutdrysand Benefits shall be paid at such interva
salaries are paid generally to other executivecef§ of the Company. In addition, the Employeelshlab be entitled to receive on the Date
Termination an amount, payable in one lump sunyaktp the average of the Bonus amounts paid tol&raep for the two years prior to the yea
which the Change of Control takes place.

"Good Reason" shall mean that any of the followhms occurred: (a) without Employee's prior writteonsent, Employee's duti
responsibilities or authority become materiallyueeld as compared to those of Employee's curreiitigpugb) Employee's annual base salary (a
same may be increased at any time hereafter) amsshgrograms are reduced; (c) Employee's Beneétsither discontinued or materially reduced
Employee's primary office or location is moved mtren fifty (50) miles from Employee's current offior location; or (e) either the Company or
successor company materially breaches this Agreermethe event of Employee's decision to termiratgloyment for Good Reason, Employee 1
give notice to Company of the existence of the @@wbs giving rising to the termination for Good &®n within ninety (90) days of the ini
existence of the conditions. Upon such notice, Caamgpshall have a period of thirty (30) days durimgich it may remedy the conditions ("C
Period"). If the Company fails to cure the condisoconstituting the Good Reason during the Curéo&do Employee's reasonable satisfac
Employee's termination of employment must occuhirita period of ninety (90) days following the engtion of the Cure Period in order for
termination to constitute a termination pursuanGtmd Reason for purposes of this Agreement.




Section 14. No Third Party Beneficiaries.

This Agreement does not create, and shall not hetaged as creating, any rights enforceable bypengon not a party to this Agreem
(except as provided in Section 12).

Section 15. Fees and Expenses.

The Company shall pay all reasonable legal feesralated expenses (including the costs of expevisience, and reasonable attorn
fees) incurred by Employee as a result of a comtedispute relating to this Agreement if such eshor dispute is settled or adjudicated on telrat
are substantially in favor of Employee. In addititime Company shall pay Employee interest, at tleegiling prime rate, on any amounts that
determined to be payable to Employee hereundeatieatot paid when due.

Section 16. Representations and Warranties of Byeplo

Employee represents and warrants to the Companyadh&mployee is under no contractual or othetrict®n or obligation which i
inconsistent with the execution of this Agreemehg performance of his duties hereunder, or therotights of the Company hereunder and
Employee is under no physical or mental disabithigt would hinder his performance of duties unties Agreement.

Section 17. Life Insurance.

If requested by the Company, Employee shall sultonguch physical examinations and otherwise takd sictions and execute ¢
deliver such documents as may be reasonably negdesanable the Company, at its expense and $aniin benefit, to obtain life insurance on
life of Employee. Employee has no reason to beltbaghis life is not insurable with a reputablsurance company at rates now prevailing in the
of Baltimore for healthy men of his age.

Section 18. Modification.

This Agreement sets forth the entire understandfrthe parties with respect to the subject matezedf, supersedes all existing agreem
between them concerning such subject matter, arycbmanodified only by a written instrument duly exged by each party.




Section 19. Notices.

Any notice or other communication required or pétadi to be given hereunder shall be in writing ahdll be mailed by certified me
return receipt requested, or delivered againstipete the party to whom it is to be given at tlteleess of such party set forth in the preambléis
Agreement (or to such other address as the paaty/t&hve furnished in writing in accordance witle frovisions of this Section 19).

Section 20. Governing Law.

This Agreement shall be governed by and constmeddordance with the laws of the State of Mary]avithout giving effect to conflict ¢
laws. Any action or proceeding by either of thetipa to enforce this Agreement shall be brougly ona state or federal court located in the std
Maryland. The parties hereby irrevocably submithe exclusive jurisdiction of such courts and veathe defense of inconvenient forum to
maintenance of any such action or proceeding ih seaue.

Section 21. 409A of the Code.

This Agreement is intended to comply with the regonents of Section 409A of the Code or any exemgtiom Section 409A of the Coc
and shall in all respects be administered in aaiwd with and interpreted to ensure compliance Bigetion 409A of the Code. Employe
termination of employment under this Agreement Idb@linterpreted in a manner consistent with thEaestion from service rules under Section 4
of the Code. For purposes of Section 409A of thdeCeach payment made under this Agreement shakkéted as a separate payment and the ri
a series of payments under this Agreement shaildag as a right to a series of separate payments event shall Employee, directly or indirec
designate the calendar year of the payment. Fumibrey, if, at the time of termination of employmevrith the Company, Company has stock whic
publicly traded on an established securities maaketEmployee is a "specified employee" (as defineglection 409A of the Code) and it is neces
to postpone the commencement of any payments oefiterotherwise payable pursuant to this Agreemsnta result of such termination
employment to prevent any accelerated or addititevalunder Section 409A of the Code, then Compdm@a}l postpone the commencement of
payment of such payment or benefits hereunder @uithny reduction in such payments or benefitgnaitely paid or provided to Employee) that
not otherwise paid within the shateferral exception under Section 409A of the Caule @e in excess of the lessor of two (2) timeE(i)ployee’
then annual compensation or (i) the limit on comgagion then set forth in Section 401(a)(17) of@rwele, until the first payroll date that occursee
the date that is six months following Employee'gsasation from service with the Company (within thheaning of Section 409A of the Code). -
accumulated postponed amount shall be paid in g kum payment within ten days after the end oktkenonth period.




Section 22. Survival

Upon the expiration or other termination of thisr@gment, the respective rights and obligationshef parties hereto shall survive s
expiration or other termination to the extent nsaegto carry out the intentions of the partiesarrttlis Agreement.

Section 23. Acknowledgment of Full Understanding.

THE EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT HE HAS RILY READ, UNDERSTANDS AND VOLUNTARILY ENTERS
INTO THIS AGREEMENT. THE EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGES ANDAGREES THAT HE HAS HAD AN OPPORTUNITY TO AS
QUESTIONS AND CONSULT WITH AN ATTORNEY OF HIS CHOEBEFORE SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly exectitésl Agreement as of the date first above written.

GSE SYSTEMS, INC.

By:

Date

Employee Date



Exhibit 10.11

COMPREHENSIVE AMENDMENT TO FINANCING DOCUMENTS

THIS COMPREHENSIVE AMENDMENT TO FINANCING DOCUMENTS (this "Amendment") is dated March 31, 2012, by anmbn(
GSE SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation ("GSE'GSE POWER SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation ("GSE Power Systems")
GSE ENVISION LLC , a New Jersey limited liability company, succegspmerger toGSE ENVISION INC. , a New Jersey corporation ("G
EnVision" and with GSE and GSE Power Systems, @atBo-Borrower" and collectively, the "Co-Borrow8rand SUSQUEHANNA BANK , &
Pennsylvania state chartered commercial bankingoecation (the "Bank"); witnesseth:

RECITALS

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Master Loan and SecurityeAgrent dated November 23, 2011 by and among GSE ,Ré#er Systems and G
EnVision Inc. (collectively, the "Original Borrowg!) and the Bank (the "Loan Agreement"), the Barierded a revolving credit facility to t
Original Borrowers in the principal amount of Sewdillion Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($7,500,0@f)e "Credit Facility"), as evidenced b
Revolving Credit Note given by the Original Borrawen favor of the Bank dated November 22, 2011he face amount of $7,500,000 (
"Revolving Credit Note"); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to Articles of Merger filed on idla 30, 2012 among the corporate records of the Bensey Secretary of State, C
EnVision Inc. merged into GSE EnVision; and

WHEREAS, the Bank and the @mrrowers have determined to modify certain pravisiof the Financing Documents (as defined in thar
Agreement) to reflect the merger and to substiG8E EnVision as a CBerrower, and to clarify certain terms regarding thsuance of letters
credit under the Credit Facility, all in accordangéh the provisions of this Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premised ather good and valuable consideration, the réaig sufficiency of which a
hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, the Badkhe Co-Borrowers agree as follows:




1. Recitals. The Bank and the Co-Borrowers acknowledge timtbove Recitals to this Amendment are true améctp and agree that
the same are incorporated by reference into thg bbthis Amendment. Unless otherwise specificdifined herein, all capitalized terms used in this
Amendment shall have the same meanings ascribadttoterms in the Loan Agreement.

2. Amendments to Financing Documents

(@) The first paragraph of the Loan Agreement is hedddgted in its entirety and the following is inserin lieu thereof:

"THIS MASTER LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this "Agrement") is made this 22nd day of November, 20¢
and amondGSE SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporatioiSE POWER SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation, af@&iSE
ENVISION LLC , a New Jersey limited liability company, succedspimerger toGSE ENVISION INC. , a New Jerse
corporation (each a "Borrower" and collectivelye tBorrowers") anUSQUEHANNA BANK (the "Bank")."

(b) All references in the Financing Documents to "GS&i8ion Inc. shall be changed to read "GSE EnVidibg".

(c) The Co-Borrowers and the Bank agree and acknowldddeas used in the Loan Agreement and the &ilh@ncing
Documents, the term "Letter of Credit" shall berded to include both letters of credit issued dlyelsy the Bank as well as any letter of credit,
guaranty or financial accommodation issued or distaxl by another bank or financial institutiorttze request of, or at the direction of, the Band an
for which the Bank faces credit exposure, liabibityobligations (any such letter of credit or fiog& accommodation is hereafter referred to ashartfl
Party Letter of Credit"). Any Third Party Letter 6fedit shall reduce the availability of the RevotyCredit Amount as though the Bank issued the
Letter of Credit directly for so long as such Thidrty Letter of Credit remains outstanding. TheBoorowers' joint and several obligations to repay
any liabilities incurred by the Bank under any Thirarty Letter of Credit shall be evidenced byAhgended and Restated Revolving Credit Note ¢
of even date herewith from the Co-Borrowers in fanithe Bank.

(d) The Loan Agreement and the other Financing Docusnem hereby amended such that any reference tditte" shall
hereafter be deemed to refer to that certain Ametiatiel Restated Revolving Credit Note dated of elsa herewith from the Co-Borrowers in favor
of the Bank.

3. Grants of Liens and Security InterestEach Co-Borrower each hereby grants, re-grardanfirms the grant of all liens and security
interest in and to all collateral described in Biwancing Documents as collateral for the Creddilffg as amended by this Amendment on the ternh
forth in the Financing Documents.

4, Fees, Costs, and Expensethe Co-Borrowers shall pay to the Bank on demahdosts and expenses both now and hereafter
reasonably paid or incurred with respect to the@g@ration, negotiation, execution, administratiod anforcement of this Amendment and all
documents related thereto, including, without latidn, attorneys' fees and expenses, recording,aestordation and other taxes, appraisal feets cos
of record searches, title company premiums andctests and expenses for environmental audits @mwes costs.




5. Representations and Warrantiel order to induce the Bank to enter into thimedment, the Co-Borrowers each represent and
warrant to the Bank that as of the date hereofi¢altvent of Default exists under the provisionsugy of the Financing Documents, (b) no event exists
which, with the giving of notice or lapse of tim@, both, could or would constitute an Event of Détffander the provisions of any of the Financing
Documents, (c) all of the representations and witiga of the Cd3orrowers in the Financing Documents, are true@mdect in all material respects
the date hereof as if the same were made on teehdatof, (d) all collateral for the Credit Fagilits amended by this Amendment is free and clear of
all assignments, security interests, liens andraheumbrances of any kind and nature whatsoewwpefor those granted or permitted under the
provisions of the Financing Documents, (e) no maltedverse change has occurred in the businessdial condition, prospects or operations of any
Co-Borrower since the date of the financial stateisienost recently furnished to the Bank in accocdamith the provisions of the Financing
Documents, and (f) the Financing Documents (as detkby this Amendment) constitute the legal, valid binding obligations of the Co-Borrowers
enforceable in accordance with their terms exce@rdorceability may be limited by bankruptcy, ilvemcy or similar laws affecting the enforcement
of creditors' rights generally. If any of the fgoéng representations and warranties shall proveetfalse, incorrect or misleading in any material
respect, the Bank may, in its absolute and solaetion, declare that an Event of Default has aecliand exists under the provisions of each of the
Financing Documents.

6. Applicable Law, Etc. This Amendment shall be governed by the law$efState of Maryland and may be executed in anybeuof
duplicate originals or counterparts, each of sugblidate originals or counterparts shall be deetodzk an original and all taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

7. Binding Effect. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inarthe benefit of the Bank and each Co-Borrowertaed respective
heirs, successors and assigns.

This Amendment is an amendment and modificatiooesfain provisions of the Financing Documents. dflthe provisions of the Financi
Documents are incorporated herein by referenceshiatl remain and continue in full force and effastamended by this Amendment. Each Co-
Borrower hereby ratifies and confirms all of itspective obligations, liabilities and indebtednesder the provisions of the Financing Documen
amended by this Amendment. The Bank and eacB&wmwer agree it is their intention that nothirgréin shall be construed to extinguish, relea
discharge or constitute, create or effect a nowatif) or an agreement to extinguish, any of thegalibns, indebtedness and liabilities of any Co-
Borrower or any other party under the provisionsghef Financing Documents, or any assignment orgeléd the Bank of, or any security interes
lien granted to the Bank in or on, any collaterad aecurity for such obligations, indebtednesslafdities.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each CBerrower and the Bank have executed this Amendmnedér their respective seals, the day and yea
written above.
WITNESS/ATTEST : CO-BORROWERS:

GSE SYSTEMS, INC

By: /s/ Jeffery G. Hough (SEAL)
Jeffrey G. Hough
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

GSE POWER SYSTEMS, INC.

By: /s/ Jeffery G. Hough (SEAL)
Jeffrey G. Hough
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

GSE ENVISION LLC

By: GSE Power Systems, Inc.,
its sole member

By: /s/ Jeffery G. Hough (SEAL)
Jeffrey G. Hough
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

SUSQUEHANNA BANK

By: /s/ Rober P. Whelen, Jr. (SEAL)
Robert P. Whelen, Jr.,
Senior Vice President




Exhibit 10.14

FOURTH COMPREHENSIVE AMENDMENT TO FINANCING DOCUMEN TS

THIS FOURTH COMPREHENSIVE AMENDMENT TO FINANCING DO CUMENTS (this "Amendment") is dated effective as
December 31, 2014, by and amdB&E SYSTEMS, INC., a Delaware corporation ("GSE") a@BE PERFORMANCE SOLUTIONS, INC. , &
Delaware corporation and successor by merger to B8ision LLC, a New Jersey limited liability compaand also formerly known as GSE Po
Systems, Inc. ("GSE Performance Solutions"), (GB&E @SE Performance Solutions, each a "Co-Borrowed' collectively, the "C&orrowers") an
SUSQUEHANNA BANK , a Pennsylvania state chartered commercial barddrgpration (the "Bank"); witnesseth:

RECITALS

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Master Loan and SecurityeAgrent dated November 22, 2011 by and among GSE ,Ré®er Systems, Inc. &
GSE EnVision Inc. (collectively, the "Original Bofwvers") and the Bank (the "Original Agreement"),aasended by that certain Comprehen
Amendment to Financing Documents dated March 3122¢he "First Amendment"), and that certain Lefdgreement dated July 29, 2013 from
Bank (the "Letter Agreement"), as amended by tlestan Second Comprehensive Amendment to Finandomments dated April 8, 2014 (
"Second Amendment"), as amended by that certairdT®@omprehensive Amendment to Financing DocumeatsddSeptember 9, 2014 (the "TI
Amendment") (the Original Agreement, the First Amerent, the Letter Agreement, the Second Amendmedt tae Third Amendment &
collectively, the "Loan Agreement"), the Bank exted a revolving credit facility to the Original Bowers in the principal amount of Seven Mill
Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($7,500,000) (theetiirFacility"), as evidenced by a Revolving Credidte given by the Original Borrowers in fa
of the Bank dated November 22, 2011 in the faceuarnof $7,500,000, which note was amended andtegsta its entirety by that certain Amen
and Restated Revolving Credit Note from the Co-Bwars in favor of the Bank dated March 31, 2012t an

WHEREAS, pursuant to Articles of Merger filed witie New Jersey Secretary of State on March 30,,2B8E EnVision, Inc. merged ir
GSE Envision LLC, a New Jersey limited liabilityrapany (“"Envision"), as documented in the First Adraent;

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Articles of Merger fileittwthe Delaware Secretary of State on DecembeR@24, Envision merged into G
Power Systems, Inc.; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Certificate of Amendmergdilwvith the Delaware Secretary of State on Decer@beP014, GSE Power Syste
Inc. changed its name to GSE Performance Solutlons,and

WHEREAS, the Bank and the @mrrowers have determined to modify certain pravisiof the Financing Documents (as defined in thar
Agreement), all in accordance with the provisiohthts Amendment.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premised ather good and valuable consideration, the réaig sufficiency of which a
hereby acknowledged by the parties hereto, the Badkhe Co-Borrowers agree as follows:




1. Recitals. The Bank and the Co-Borrowers acknowledge timtbove Recitals to this Amendment are true améctp and agree that
the same are incorporated by reference into thg bbthis Amendment. Unless otherwise specificdifined herein, all capitalized terms used in this
Amendment shall have the same meanings ascribagttoterms in the Loan Agreement.

2. Amendments to Financing Documents

a. The CoBorrowers hereby request and the Bank consentswaiger of a provision set forth in Section 5.12¢d)the Loal
Agreement to allow for the merger of GSE EnvisibbhC into GSE Power Systems, Inc., and a changhémame of GSE Performance Solutions.
references in the Financing Documents to "GSE Emvi€LC" or "GSE Power Systems, Inc." are herebyeaded to read "GSE Performa
Solutions, Inc.". The C&orrowers hereby certify that (i) GSE Performancduons continues to be a corporation organizedeurthe laws of tt
State of Delaware; (ii) that there have been nagha to the respective principal place of busiéssther of the Cdorrowers, or to the location
their respective assets; and (iii) there have lb@echanges to the ownership of either of the Ca-®wers.

b. The Loan Agreement is hereby amended by deletiotjd®e4.15 in its entirety and inserting the foliog new Section 4.15 in li¢
thereof:

"4.15 Operating and Deposit Accounts; Cash Colditéccount. Maintain their primary operating and depositacgount
at the Bank. In addition, the oerrowers shall maintain one or more segregatetl callateral account(s) at the Bank equal tc
greater of (i) $3,000,000 or (ii) the aggregatengipal amounts of all Loans outstanding under thevdRing Credit Facilit
(including all exposure and obligations of the Bamider any issued and outstanding Letters of Greditking capital advance
negative foreign exchange positions, and underRorgign Currency Accounts and Foreign Exchange i@onestablished by t
Bank on behalf of, or for the benefit of, any oé tGoBorrowers from time to time, and including any duigial letters of credit «
other financial accommodations made available lgyBank to or on behalf of the Borrower in the fejuas security for the Co-
Borrowers' obligations hereunder and under therdtimancing Documents (collectively, the "Cash @tal Account”). The initi
account numbers for the Cash Collateral Account &ecount No. 10014201254 (relating to Revolvingdit Advances and gene
Letters of Credit), Account No. 10010483625, 108813 and 10010488368 (relating to Chinese LetieGredit) and Accoul
No. 990220000007 (relating to the Euro Foreign €uey Account), and the parties anticipate thattafdil account numbers may
added from time to time to the extent that theBoorowers' request additional financial accommaretifrom the Bank under t
Revolving Credit Facility. Each CBerrower hereby pledges to the Bank and grantgarisg interest to the Bank as collateral fol
of Co-Borrowers' obligations under the Financingchments, in the Cash Collateral Account, andBoorowers agree and confi
that the Bank shall have complete and unconditiaoaltrol over the Cash Collateral Account. ThelC@sllateral Account sh:
remain in place until all amounts under the RevavCredit Facility have been repaid or retired I(iding but not limited to tF
expiration or release of all Letters of Credit, &ign Exchange Contracts and Foreign Currency Adsoand other financi
accommodations made available by the Bank for #reefit of the CdBorrowers under the Revolving Credit Facility), ubat th
Bank has no further exposure or obligation thereufid




c. The Bank agrees to waive compliance by theBGoowers of the financial covenants set forth éct®ns 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.4
the Loan Agreement for the testing measurementafaddecember 31, 2014 (the "Waiver"). Each of ¢hésancial covenants remain in full force .
effect for the quarter ending March 31, 2015 ande€fach quarter thereafter. The Borrowers jointly and severally agree to pay to Benk ¢
covenants waiver fee of Fifteen Thousand Dollads($00) upon the execution of this Agreement fer Bank's agreement to waive said coven:
The Bank's agreement to waive the said financieépants is a one-time waiver only of the compliabgéhe CoBorrowers of the financial covena
in Sections 5.1, 5.2, 5.3 and 5.4 of the Loan Agrest for the testing date of December 31, 2014,rendther consent or waiver is hereby grantec
should any other consent or waiver be implied.

The Waiver described herein is limited preciselyaiten and shall not be deemed to (i) be a conear a waiver of ar
other term or condition of the Loan Agreement oy ahthe other Financing Documents, or (ii) pregedany right or rights which the Bank may r
have or may have in the future under or in conoeatiith the Loan Agreement or any of the other Raiag Documents.

Except for the granting of the Waiver describedelrerno delay by the Bank in the pursuit of the IBamights and remedi
shall, and none of the foregoing is intended (amzbikl not be deemed or construed) to, constitutaisier of any other rights and/or remedies E
may have under the Loan Agreement and/or any obtier Financing Documents or otherwise availablBank at law or in equity, or a waiver of i
other known or any unknown default or event of difevhich exists on the date hereof, or a courseoniduct or course of dealing on the part o
Bank. Except for the granting of the Waiver, tremB reserves any and all rights and remedies &laita it under the Loan Agreement and/or ar
the other Financing Documents, or otherwise avklabit at law or in equity, all of which remain full force and effect.




3. Grants of Liens and Security Interests; Reaffiroratif Debt Each Co-Borrower each hereby grants, re-grardsanfirms the grant
of all liens and security interest in and to allat@ral described in the Financing Documents dlatepal for the Credit Facility as amended by this
Amendment on the terms set forth in the Financiogunents. Each Co-Borrower also hereby reaffitsieeispective joint and several obligations to
repay the Credit Facility, all in accordance witle terms of the Financing Documents.

4, Fees, Costs, and Expense$he Co-Borrowers shall pay to the Bank on denahdosts and expenses both now and hereafter
reasonably paid or incurred with respect to th@gration, negotiation, execution, administratiod anforcement of this Amendment and all
documents related thereto, including, without latidin, attorneys' fees and expenses, recording,aestordation and other taxes, appraisal feets cos
of record searches, title company premiums andsctests and expenses for environmental audits amwe\s costs.

5. Representations and WarrantieB order to induce the Bank to enter into thime@ndment, the Co-Borrowers each represent and
warrant to the Bank that as of the date hereoéXagpt as otherwise disclosed in writing to thelBao Event of Default exists under the provisions
any of the Financing Documents, (b) no event exi$tieh, with the giving of notice or lapse of tim@, both, could or would constitute an Event of
Default under the provisions of any of the Finagddocuments, (c) all of the representations andamgies of the Co-Borrowers in the Financing
Documents, are true and correct in all materigteets on the date hereof as if the same were matteealate hereof, (d) all collateral for the Credi
Facility as amended by this Amendment is free dedrof all assignments, security interests, li@md other encumbrances of any kind and nature
whatsoever except for those granted or permittetbuthe provisions of the Financing Documentsnp@enaterial adverse change has occurred in the
business, financial condition, prospects or openatiof any Co-Borrower since the date of the fimgrstatements most recently furnished to the Bank
in accordance with the provisions of the Finandaguments, and (f) the Financing Documents (as dettby this Amendment) constitute the legal,
valid and binding obligations of the Co-Borrowerdaceable in accordance with their terms excegrdisrceability may be limited by bankruptcy,
insolvency or similar laws affecting the enforcemefcreditors' rights generally. If any of thedégoing representations and warranties shall ptmve
be false, incorrect or misleading in any matesbpect, the Bank may, in its absolute and soleetisa, declare that an Event of Default has oezurr
and exists under the provisions of each of therigimg Documents.




6. Applicable Law, Etc. This Amendment shall be governed by the law$iefState of Maryland and may be executed in anybeurof
duplicate originals or counterparts, each of sugblidate originals or counterparts shall be deetodzk an original and all taken together shall
constitute one and the same instrument.

7. Binding Effect. This Amendment shall be binding upon and inarthe benefit of the Bank and each Co-Borrowertaed respective
heirs, successors and assigns.

8. Amendment Only This Amendment is an amendment and modificatforertain provisions of the Financing Documendl. of the
provisions of the Financing Documents are incorfgarderein by reference and shall remain and coatim full force and effect as amended by this
Amendment. Each Co-Borrower hereby ratifies antfioms all of its respective obligations, liabiés and indebtedness under the provisions of the
Financing Documents as amended by this AmendniEmt. Bank and each GBerrower agree it is their intention that nothirgréin shall be constru
to extinguish, release or discharge or constittrigate or effect a novation of, or an agreemesktimguish, any of the obligations, indebtedness an
liabilities of any Co-Borrower or any other partyder the provisions of the Financing Documentsryr assignment or pledge to the Bank of, or any
security interest or lien granted to the Bank iy any collateral and security for such obligasiondebtedness and liabilities.

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each CBerrower and the Bank have executed this Amendmeder their respective seals, the day and yed
written above.

WITNESS/ATTEST : CO-BORROWERS:

GSE SYSTEMS, INC.

By: /s/ Jeffery G. Hough (SEAL)
Jeffery G. Hough
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

GSE PERFORMANCE SOLUTIONS, INC.

By: /s/ Jeffery G. Hough (SEAL)
Jeffery G. Hough
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

SUSQUEHANNA BANK

By: /s/ Robert P. Whelen, Jr. SEAL)
Robert P. Whelen, Jr.,
Senior Vice Presidel




Exhibit 10.20

AMENDMENT OF LEASE

THIS AMENDMENT OF LEASE (this "Amendment") is made this #8lay of May, 2008, by and betweet332 LONDONTOWN
ROAD, LLC, having an addrTE of 1300 York Road , Suite 300th erville, Maryland 21093 ("La ndlord ") a®&SE SYSTEMS, INC.,
having a n address of 7133 Rutherford Road, Balbiie, Maryland, 21244 (hereinafter "Tenant").

WHEREAS, pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated February B, 20 and between Landlord and Tenant (the "Leakedhdlo r d leased
to Tenant approximately 31,583 square feet of syjtme "Origina | Premise s") on the first and setdioors of the building located at 1332
Londont ow n Road, Eldersburg , Maryland ( the 'l8iaig ") in the business park known as th e Londam Business Center; and

WHEREAS , Land lord and Tenant desire to amend certain tamdsprovisions of the Lea se.

NOW, THEREFORE, WITNESSETH in consideration of the mutual premises and covenaontained herein, and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and adequagyhath are hereby acknowledged, the parties he agbge as follows:

1. Landlord and Tenant have agreed to increase theo$ithe Original Premises by the addition of agpnately 4,135 square feet of space on
the first floor of the Building (the "Additional $ge"), described as the "First Expansion Premised"shown in further detail as a cross-hatched
area on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a paeolfi The Additional Space, together with the @agPremises, shall be deemed to be the
Premises under the Lease as of the date that Lrandiédivers the Additional Space to Tenant with Bremises (the "New Space Delivery Date").
The Termination Date of the Lease for the OrigiP@mises and the Additional Space shall be the sanset forth in the Leas

2. The Base Rent for the Additional Space for the fiesase Year shall be Forty-Two Thousand Three IHeoh&ighty-Three and 75/100
Dollars ($42,383.75), payable in twelve (12) equadnthly installments of Three Thousand Five HuddFairty-One and 97/100 Dollars
($3,531.97) each, effective on the Rent Commenceete. With the addition of the Additional Spatieg Base Rent for the Premises shall
increase to Three Hundred Sixty-Six Thousand Oneded Nine and 50/100 Dollars ($366,109.50) forfitet Lease Year, payable in twelve
(12) equal, monthly installments of Thirty Thousdfide Hundred Nine and 12/100 Dollars ($30,509€#)h. The Base Rent for the Premises
shall increase on each anniversary of the Rent Gamoement Date by three percent (3%) over the pus\iease Year's amount of Base Rent.
Upon execution of this Amendment, Tenant shallipaadvance the Base Rent for the Additional Spameah August 1, 200!

3. Tenant shall accept the Premises in their "asdsdition on the New Space Delivery Date, with éixeeption of the work to be performed
by Landlord therein prior to such date, as desdribethis Section 3 and shown on the attached 'tixHB" (collectively, "Landlord's Work").
Landlord's Work for the Additional Space shall beited to demising the Premises, installing newvt drbors to the corridor and from the
Additional Space to the outside on the left sidéhef Additional Space, as well as refinishing tbetipn of the Additional Space that is currently
part of the entry corridor to the Building by intiteg new flooring, paint, and ceiling in such foemcorridor area (with input from Tenant on
selections so as to compliment Tenant's remairéfgcgons in the Additional Space). The flooringim, ceiling, lighting, etc. to be installed
within the area which is currently part of the grdorridor to the Building shall be consistent watther class A office buildings in the suburban
metropolitan area. In addition, Landlord shall iresthat the Additional Space is served by a powpply of 200 Amps, 3phase, 4 wire service,
120/208V. A copy of the le-out plan for the Additional Space is attached teast Exhibit B and made a part here

4, Landlord shall provide Tenant with a tenant alloe&(the 'Tenant Allowance") up to Forty-One Thowus@hree Hundred Fifty Dollars
($41,350) towards Tenant's costs of preparing teenBBes for its occupancy. Landlord shall pay teadnt Allowance or such portions thereof as
are invoiced by Tenant for work performed on beb&lfenant or materials purchased by Tenant, wiilftieen (15) days after receipt of Tenant's
written request. Upon written request from Tenaatydlord shall perform any and all improvementsuesied by Tenant, including any required
plans, permits, engineering, and approvals, praviyment therefore is made pursuant to the pravisof this paragraph. Landlord may charge
market reasonable rates which Tenant shall havegheto approve prior to Landlord commencing aoynstruction. If Landlord does perform
any construction --as -c5utlined -herein-, Landigtahll deduct the cost of such construction fromTiéeant Allowance. Any remaining allowar
after construction is completed shall be credite@ignant, and any amounts due to Landlord in exaiesge Tenant Allowance shall be paid by
Tenant to Landlord within thirty (30) days of irige from Landlord

5. Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Property Utilities, @fieg Costs, and Real Estate Taxes shall increas@é point ninety-two percent (9.92%)
and Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Building Utilitiealkincrease to seventy-one point forty-four paetq@1.44%), effective on the New Space
Delivery Date and throughout the Term of the Le

6. Except as set forth in this Amendment, the prowisiof the Lease shall remain unmodified and infauite and effect




WITNESS the hand and seal of Landlord, and the twdifficznant, and their respective corporate seakthaffixed the day and
year first above written.

WITNESS: 1332 LONDONTOWN ROAD, LLC

By: /sl David Lipson

David Lipson
Authorized Signatory

WITNESS/ATTEST: GSE SYSTEMS, INC.
GSE SYSTEMS, INC.

By: /sl Jeffery G. Hough  (SEAL)

Jeffery G. Hough
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 10.21

SECOND AMENDMENT OF LEASE

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT OF LEASE (this "Amendment"s imade this_22" day of July, 2010, by and between 1:¢
LONDONTOWN ROAD, LLC, having an address of 1300 Kd&oad, Suite 300, Lutherville, Maryland 21093 gtidlord") and GSE SYSTEM
INC., having an address of 1332 Londontown Bouley8ykesville. MD 21784 (hereinafter "Tenant").

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant have previously executed ad @ageement dated February 27, 2008 (the "Oridirase"), and an
Amendment to Lease dated May 28, 2008 ("Amendmendfectively known as the "Lease" for approxinhat85,718 square feet of space (the
"Original Premises") on the first and second floafsthe building located at 1332 Londontown Ro&lllersburg, Maryland (the "Building") in the
business park known as the Londontown Businesse€eand

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend certain temdeovisions of the Lease.

NOW, THEREFORE, WITNESSETH in consideration of thatual premises and covenants contained hereingtned good and valuable
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of whiethareby acknowledged, the parties hereby agreslaws:

1. Landlord and Tenant have agreed to increase theo$ithe Original Premises by the addition of agpnately 4,384 square feet of space on the
first floor of the Building (the "Additional Spacg'described as the "Second Expansion PremisesStaswn in further detail as a crdsatched area ¢
Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part herduwd. Additional Space, together with the OriginalrRises, shall be deemed to be the Premises under
the Lease as of August 1, 2010. The Terminatiore D&the Lease for the Original Premises and thdithwhal Space shall be the same as set forth in
the Lease.

2. Landlord shall have the option at its sole disorefind at anytime during the Term of the Leaselucate the Second Expansion Premises with
the exception of the "Vault Space" as further dediin Exhibit B attached hereto and made part liegoecomparable space in the Building. In order to
exercise this option, Landlord must provide Tenaitit at least ninety (90) days written notice angstrconstruct the new space at Landlord's sole cos
and expense in a similar fashion to the Second isipa Premises.

3. The Base Rent for the Additional Space for the fiease Year shall be Forty-Three Thousand Eighitdded and Forty Dollars ($43,840.00),
payable in twelve (12) equal, monthly installmenit3 hree Thousand Six Hundred Fifty-Three and 33/D0llars ($3,653.33) each, effective on
November 1, 201(

4. Tenant shall accept the Additional Premises inrttes is" condition as of August 1, 2010 except ttendlord shall provide Tenant with a

tenant allowance (the "Tenant Allowance") up to TityeOne Thousand Nine Hundred Twenty Dollars ($2@)3owards Tenant's costs of preparing
the Premises for its occupancy, upon presentatidamdlord of invoices from third party vendors arwhtractors for improvements to the Premises.
Landlord shall pay the Tenant Allowance or suchtipos thereof as are invoiced by Tenant, withiryfdive (45) days after receipt of Tenant's

invoices from third party contractors.

5. Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs, R&ate Taxes and Water and Sewer Charges shadlase to eleven point fourteen percent
(11.14°/o) and Tenant's Pro Raia Share of Buildilegting Fuel Charges shall increase to fourteentgorty three percent (14.43%), effective on
August 1, 2010 and throughout the Term of the Le@srant's Pro Ra a Share of Building Electricadi@ks shall not be increased.

6. Except as set forth in this Second Amendmeetptiovisions of the Lease shall remain unmodified ia full force and effect.

WITNESS the hand and seal of Landlord, and the hand of iteaad their respective corporate seals hereixedfthe day and year first
above written.

WITNESS:1332 LONDONTOWN ROAD, LLC

By: /sl David Lipson (SEAL)
David Lipson
Authorized Signatory

WITNESS/ATTEST:

GSE SYSTEMS, INC.

[s/ Pamela G. Schlachter By: __/s/ Jeffery G. Hough  (SEAL)
Notary PublicJeffery G. Hough

Chief Financial Officer

2
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THIRD AMENDMENT OF LEASE

THIS THIRD AMENDMENT OF LEASE (this "Amendment") is made this 15 _day of May, 2012 , by and betwedr832
LONDONTOWN ROAD , LLC, hav i ng an address of 222 Courthouse Court , $0i®¢ Towson , Maryland 21204 ("Landlord " ) aB&E
SYSTEMS, INC. ,having at 1332 Lo ndontown Boulevard , Eldersbigryland 21784 (here inafter "Tenant").

WHEREAS , Landlord and Tenant have previously executed ad éggeement dated February 27, 2008 (the " Oridieake "}, and an
Amendment to Lease dated May 28, 2008 ("Amendmeati) a Second Amendment to Lease dated July @P2, &llectively known as the "Lea
e " for approximately 40 , 102 square feet of ep@de " Original Premises" ) on the first and setdloors of the building located at 1332
Londontown Boulevard , Eldersburg , Maryland (tBaiilding") i n the business park known as the Lamdan Business Center ; and

WHEREAS , Landlord and Tenant desir e to amend certain tseam d provisions of the Lease .

NOW, THEREFORE, WITNESSETH in considerat io n of t h e mu t ua | prem i sed eovenants contained herein, and other good and
valuable considerat i on , the receipt and adeqoéwshich are hereby acknowledged, the partieshiyeagree as follows :

1. Landlord and Tenant have agreed to increase ttgnatiPremises by the addition of approximately6d4 square feet of space on
first floor of the Building (t he "A dditional Spat) , described as the ' Third Expansion Premiaad'shown in further detail as a cro$stche:
area on E x hibit A attached hereto and made ahmagof . The Termination Date of the Lease for@ugina | Premises and thdditional
Space shabe the sameas seforth intheLease.

2. . Land lord and Tenant have agreed to d ecreasetia p of th e Second Expansion Premises by 3s8@éire feet of space on tHirst
floor of the Building (the " Terminated Space 'ajd shown in further detail as a cross-hatched @ndéxhibitB Attached hereto and made
he reof . The Third Expans i on Space , togethén thie Original Premises , and less the Teminapt& shalbe deemed to be the Prem
under theLeaseas ofMay 15, 2012.

3. The Base Rent for the Premisshall be:

June 1, 2012 - July 31, 2012
August 1, 2012 - April 30, 2013
May 1, 2013 - July 31, 2013
August 1, 2013 - July 31, 2014
August 1, 2014 - July 31, 2015
August 1, 2015 - July 31, 2016
August 1, 2016 - July 31, 2017
August 1, 2017 - June 30, 2018

$38 ,875 . 75 per month
$40,079 . 14 permont h
$41,329 .14 permonth
$42,569 . 01 per month
$43,846 . 09 per month
$45 , 161.47 per mon th
$46,516.31 per month
$47 ,911 . 80 per mon th




4.

5.

Tenantshall accepthe Third ExpansiorPremis esin their" asis" condition as oMay 15,2012.

Tenant's Pro Rata Share of Operating Costs , BEstate Taxes and Water and Sewer Charges shadbseito eleven point ninetyix
percent (11.96%) and Tenant's Pro Rata Shareuhjlﬁg Heating Fuel Charges shall in ¢ reasextesn po i nt eighty seven percent (16.87%)
effectiveon June 1, 2012andthroughout the Term ofthe Lease

Except as set forth in this Third Amendm, t h e provisions ofthe Lease shall remaiunmodified ancn full force and effeci




WITNESS the hand and seal of Landlord, and the hand ofdrd, and their respective corporate seals haféiteed the day
and yea r fi r st above written.

WITNESS: 1332 LONDONTOWN ROAD, LLC

By: /s/ David Lipson (SEAL)

David Lipson
Authorized Signatory

WITNESS/ATTEST:

GSE SYSTEMS, INC.

[s/ Pamela G. Schlachter By: __/s/ Jeffery G. Hough  (SEAL)
Notary PublicJeffery G. Hough

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT AT DECEMBER 31, 2014

The companies listed below are directly or indiseotvned 100% by GSE Systems, Inc. and are inclidéd consolidated financial statements.

. GSE Systems Engineering (Beijing) Company Ltd., &8lver Systems AB, GSE Process Solutions, Inc., &8FEices Company LLC
and GSE Systems Ltd., are wholly owned subsidiari€aSE Systems, In

. Hyperspring, LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of &Berformance Solutions, Inc. which is a wholly edrsubsidiary o

GSE Systems, In

. IntelliQlik, LLC is a 50% owned subsidiary of GSErfrmance Solutions, In

. General Simulation Engineering RUS Limited LialilEompany is a 50% owned subsidiary of GSE Systéms

. EnVision Systems (India) Pvt. Ltd. is a owned 9943SE Performance Solutions, Inc. and 1% by GSEefs Inc.

Name

Place of Incorporation or Organizati

GSE Systems Engineering (Beijing) Company,
GSE Power Systems A

GSE Process Solutions, Ir

GSE Services Company L.L.

GSE Systems Ltc

GSE Performance Solutions, It

EnVision Systems (India) Pvt. Lt

Hyperspring, LLC

IntelliQlik, LLC

General Simulation Engineering RUS Limited Lialyil
Company

Peoples Republic of Chir
Sweder

State of Delawar

State of Delawar

United Kingdom

State of Delawar

India

State of Delawar

State of Delawar
Russian Federatic







Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

GSE Systems, Inc.
Sykesville, Maryland

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referéendbe Registration Statements on Form S3 (No-B8%37 and No. 333-126472) and Forgh S
(No. 333-183427, No. 333-150249 and No. 338702) of GSE Systems, Inc. of our report datedcid9, 2015, relating to the consolidated finak
statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

/sl BDO USA, LLP

Bethesda, Maryland
March 19, 2015







Exhibit 23.2
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
GSE Systems, Inc:

We consent to the use of our report dated Marct2@84, with respect to the consolidated balancetstfeGSE Systems, Inc. as of December 31, :
and the related consolidated statements of opemtammprehensive loss, changes in stockholdentyegnd cash flows included herein.

/sl KPMG LLP

Baltimore, Maryland
March 19, 2015







Exhibit 24.1
POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each personos# signature appears below constitutes and appdames A. Eberle a
Jeffery G. Hough, and each of them, with full powé&substitution and reconstitution and each with fower to act for him and without the other
his true and lawful attorney-ifact and agent, for him and in his name, placesiedd, in any and all capacities, to sign anyahdmendments
this Annual Report on Form 10; and to file the same, with all exhibits theretod all documents in connection therewith, with Seeurities ar
Exchange Commission or any state, granting unib a&#drneys-irfact and agents, and each of them, full power anicgity to do and perform ea
and every act and thing requisite and necessarg ttone in and about the premises, as fully tmeghts and purposes as he or she might or couid
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all thaidsattorneys-irfact and agents, or any of them, or their, his er $ubstitutes or substitute, n
lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Security Exgbaikct of 1934, this Annual Report on FormK®as been signed by the following pers
in the capacities and on the date indicated.

Date: March 04, 2015 /s/ James A. Eberl
James A. Eberl
Chief Executive Officer and Directi
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: March 04, 201 /sl Jeffery G. Houg
Jeffery G. Hougt
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

Date: March 04, 2015 /s/ Jerome |. Feldme
Jerome |. Feldma
Chairman of the Boar

Date: March 04, 201 /s/ Dr. Sheldon L. Glasho

Dr. Sheldon L. Glashoy
Director

Date: March 04, 2015 /s/ Dr. Roger Hagengrub

Dr. Roger Hagengrub
Director

Date: March 04, 201 /s/ Joseph W. Lewi

Joseph W. Lewi
Director

Date: March 04, 2015 /s/ Jane Bryant Quin

Jane Bryant Quin
Director

Date: March 04, 2015 /s/ Christopher Sorrell

Christopher Sorrell
Director




Exhibit 31.1
Certification of the Chief Executive Officer

I, James A. Eberle, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of GSE Systems, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omittde a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstances unihich such statements were made, not misleaditig re@spect to the period covered by
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, gther financial information included in this amhweport, fairly present in all matel
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant, as of, amdthe periods presented in this rep

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disete controls and procedures (as define
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurbs ttesigned under our supervisior
ensure that material information relating to thgisgrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissmade known to us by others within th
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepare

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahoigporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtte reliability of financial reporting and thgeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slasire controls and procedures and presentedisnréiport our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmédnternal control over financial reporting tloatturred during the registrant's fourth que
that has materially affected or is reasonably {ikelmaterially affect, the registrant's internahtrol over financial reporting; ar

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | badisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatigamterial control over financial reporting, to
registrant's auditors and the audit committee gisteant's board of director

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contraéofmancial reporting which are reason:
likely to adversely affect the registrant's abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finamntiefmation; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant's internal con
over financial reporting

Date: March 19, 201 /sl James A. Eber
James A. Eberl
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer







Exhibit 31.2
Certification of the Chief Financial Officer

I, Jeffery G. Hough, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of GSE Systems, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omittde a material fact necessary to mak
statements made, in light of the circumstances unihich such statements were made, not misleaditig re@spect to the period covered by
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements,adiner financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects
financial condition, results of operations and cielvs of the registrant, as of, and for, the pasipresented in this repo

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disete controls and procedures (as define
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15
(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurbs ttesigned under our supervisior
ensure that material information relating to thgisgrant, including its consolidated subsidiarissmade known to us by others within th
entities, particularly during the period in whidtig report is being prepare

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahoigporting to be designed under
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggtte reliability of financial reporting and thgeparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principle

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant'slasire controls and procedures and presentedisnréiport our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prores] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmanternal control over financial reporting theetcurred during the registrant's most re
fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal damrin the case of an annual report) that has mad{eaffected or is reasonably likely
materially affect, the registrant's internal cohtreer financial reporting; an

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and | balisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiamexhal control over financial reporting, to
registrant's auditors and the audit committee gisteant's board of director

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal contraéofmancial reporting which are reason:
likely to adversely affect the registrant's abilityrecord, process, summarize and report finamtiafmation; anc

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a signifiodmin the registrant's internal con
over financial reporting

Date: March 19, 201 /sl Jeffery G. Houg
Jeffery G. Houg!
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office







Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on FormK®&f GSE Systems, Inc. (the "Company") for the yeaded December 31, 2014 as filed with
Securities and Exchange Commission on the dateoh@he "Report"), I, James A. Eberle, Chief ExéoritOfficer of the Company, and |, Jeffery
Hough, Senior Vice President and Chief Financidid®f, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13&6,adopted pursuant to Section 906 o
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that,

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2. To my knowledge, the information contained in thepBrt fairly presents, in all material respectg, fimancial condition and results
operations of the Compan

Date: March 19, 2015 /sl James A. Eberl /sl Jeffery G. Houg!
James A. Eberl Jeffery G. Houg!
Chief Executive Office Senior Vice President and Ch

Financial Officer



